
If you would like help to understand this document, or would like it in 
another format or language, please call Paul James, Democratic Services 
Officer on 01432 260460 or e-mail pjames@herefordshire.gov.uk in 
advance of the meeting. 

 

 

 
 
AGENDA 
 
Children's Services Scrutiny 
Committee 
 

 

Date: Friday 10 December 2010 

Time: 10.00 am 

Place: The Council Chamber, Brockington, 35 Hafod Road, 
Hereford 

Notes: Please note the time, date and venue of the meeting. 

For any further information please contact: 

Paul James, Democratic Services Officer 
Tel: 01432 260460 
Email: pjames@herefordshire.gov.uk 

 
 

 
 



 

GUIDANCE ON DECLARING PERSONAL AND PREJUDICIAL INTERESTS AT MEETINGS 
 

The Council’s Members’ Code of Conduct requires Councillors to declare against an Agenda item(s) 
the nature of an interest and whether the interest is personal or prejudicial.  Councillors have to decide 
first whether or not they have a personal interest in the matter under discussion.  They will then have to 
decide whether that personal interest is also prejudicial. 

  
A personal interest is an interest that affects the Councillor more than most other people in the area.  
People in the area include those who live, work or have property in the area of the Council.  Councillors 
will also have a personal interest if their partner, relative or a close friend, or an organisation that they 
or the member works for, is affected more than other people in the area.  If they do have a personal 
interest, they must declare it but can stay and take part and vote in the meeting.   

 

Whether an interest is prejudicial is a matter of judgement for each Councillor.  What Councillors have 
to do is ask themselves whether a member of the public – if he or she knew all the facts – would think 
that the Councillor’s interest was so important that their decision would be affected by it.  If a Councillor 
has a prejudicial interest then they must declare what that interest is.  A Councillor who has declared a 
prejudicial interest at a meeting may nevertheless be able to address that meeting, but only in 
circumstances where an ordinary member of the public would be also allowed to speak.  In such 
circumstances, the Councillor concerned will have the same opportunity to address the meeting and on 
the same terms.  However, a Councillor exercising their ability to speak in these circumstances must 
leave the meeting immediately after they have spoken. 
 

 

Agenda for the Meeting of the Children's Services 
Scrutiny Committee 
  
Membership  
  

Chairman Councillor WLS Bowen 
Vice-Chairman Councillor ME Cooper 
  

Councillor AW Johnson  
Councillor Brig P Jones CBE  
Councillor JJD Lavender  
Councillor G Lucas  
Councillor JE Pemberton  
Councillor SJ Robertson  
Councillor RV Stockton  
Councillor AM Toon  
Councillor WJ Walling  
Mr PF Burbidge Roman Catholic Church 
Mr P Sell Church of England 
Mrs E Lowenstein Secondary School Governors 
Mr T Plumer Primary School Parent Governors 
  

 
Mrs S Catlow-Hawkins Secondary School Headteachers 
Mrs OR Evans Special School Headteachers 
Mr P Hayden The Alliance 
Mr M Harrisson Teacher Representative 
Mr C Mutton Primary School Headteachers 

 
 

  Non Voting 



 
HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL  10 DECEMBER 2010 

 

 

AGENDA 
 Pages 
  
   
1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE     
   
 To receive apologies for absence.  
   
2. NAMED SUBSTITUTES     
   
 To receive details of Members nominated to attend the meeting in place of a 

Member of the Committee. 
 

   
3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST     
   
 To receive any declarations of interest by Members in respect of items on 

the Agenda. 
 

 

   
4. MINUTES   1 - 12  
   
 To approve and sign the Minutes of the meetings held on 1 October and 22 

October 2010. 
 

   
5. SUGGESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC ON ISSUES FOR 

FUTURE SCRUTINY   
  

   
 To consider suggestions from members of the public on issues the 

Committee could scrutinise in the future. 
 

   
6. CALL-IN OF CABINET'S DECISION THAT DILWYN CHURCH OF 

ENGLAND PRIMARY SCHOOL BE DISCONTINUED ON 31 AUGUST 2011   
13 - 90  

   
 To review Cabinet’s decision that Dilwyn Church of England Primary School 

be discontinued on 31 August 2011, which has been called in by three 
Members of the Committee. 
 

 

   
7. PERFORMANCE DIGEST - QUARTER 2   2010-1011   91 - 96  
   
 To present the Performance Digest for Children’s Services for Quarter 2 of 

2010-2011 and to highlight key performance issues. 
 

 

   
8. CONSULTATION ON PRIORITIES FOR THE CHILDREN AND YOUNG 

PEOPLE'S PLAN 2011-2014   
97 - 112  

   
 To provide the Committee with the opportunity to consider and influence the 

partnership priorities for the next children and young people’s plan, covering 
the period 2011-2014. 
 

 

   
9. OFSTED INSPECTIONS OF SAFEGUARDING AND LOOKED AFTER 

CHILDREN IN HEREFORDSHIRE - JUNE AND SEPTEMBER 2010: 
OUTCOMES AND ACTION PLAN   

113 - 142  

   
 To inform Committee of outcomes of the first unannounced and announced 

Ofsted inspections. 
 

 

   
10. ATTAINMENT AND ACHIEVEMENT IN THE SECONDARY PHASE   143 - 178  
   
 To provide the Committee with an overview of attainment and progress in 

the secondary phase of maintained schools in Herefordshire 2010. 
 

   



 

 

11. REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING REPORT 2010/11   179 - 192  
   
 To report on the monitoring of the Children’s Services revenue budget for 

2010/11 at the end of quarter one.  To provide comparisons to 2009/10 
budget and outturn so that Scrutiny Committee can assess and comment 
upon the budget management of Children’s Services. 
 

 

   
12. MOBILE WORKING FOR SOCIAL WORKERS WITHIN SAFEGUARDING 

AND VULNERABLE CHILDREN SERVICE   
193 - 198  

   
 To inform the Committee of the current position in respect of mobile working 

for children, social workers and support workers within Herefordshire. 
 

 

   
13. COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME   199 - 206  
   
 To consider the Committee work programme.  
   



PUBLIC INFORMATION 

HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL'S SCRUTINY COMMITTEES 

The Council has established Scrutiny Committees for Adult Social Care 
and Strategic Housing, Children’s Services, Community Services, 
Environment, and Health.  An Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
scrutinises corporate matters and co-ordinates the work of these 
Committees. 

The purpose of the Committees is to ensure the accountability and 
transparency of the Council's decision making process. 

The principal roles of Scrutiny Committees are to 
 
•  Help in developing Council policy 
 
• Probe, investigate, test the options and ask the difficult questions 

before and after decisions are taken 
 
• Look in more detail at areas of concern which may have been raised 

by the Cabinet itself, by other Councillors or by members of the public 
 
• "call in" decisions  - this is a statutory power which gives Scrutiny 

Committees the right to place a decision on hold pending further 
scrutiny. 

 
• Review performance of the Council 
 
• Conduct Best Value reviews  
 
• Undertake external scrutiny work engaging partners and the public  
 
Formal meetings of the Committees are held in public and information 
on your rights to attend meetings and access to information are set out 
overleaf 
 



PUBLIC INFORMATION 

Public Involvement at Scrutiny Committee Meetings 

You can contact Councillors and Officers at any time about Scrutiny 
Committee matters and issues which you would like the Scrutiny 
Committees to investigate.  

There are also two other ways in which you can directly contribute at 
Herefordshire Council’s Scrutiny Committee meetings. 

1. Identifying Areas for Scrutiny 

At the meeting the Chairman will ask the members of the public present if 
they have any issues which they would like the Scrutiny Committee to 
investigate, however, there will be no discussion of the issue at the time 
when the matter is raised.  Councillors will research the issue and consider 
whether it should form part of the Committee’s work programme when 
compared with other competing priorities. 

Please note that the Committees can only scrutinise items which fall within 
their specific remit (see below).  If a matter is raised which falls within the 
remit of another Scrutiny Committee then it will be noted and passed on to 
the relevant Chairman for their consideration.   

2. Questions from Members of the Public for Consideration at 
Scrutiny Committee Meetings and Participation at Meetings 

You can submit a question for consideration at a Scrutiny Committee 
meeting so long as the question you are asking is directly related to an item 
listed on the agenda.  If you have a question you would like to ask then 
please submit it no later than two working days before the meeting to 
the Committee Officer.  This will help to ensure that an answer can be 
provided at the meeting.  Contact details for the Committee Officer can be 
found on the front page of this agenda.   

Generally, members of the public will also be able to contribute to the 
discussion at the meeting.  This will be at the Chairman’s discretion.   

(Please note that the Scrutiny Committees are not able to discuss 
questions relating to personal or confidential issues.) 



 
Remits of Herefordshire Council’s Scrutiny Committees 
 
Adult Social Care and Strategic Housing 
 
Statutory functions for adult social services and Strategic Housing. 
 
Children’s Services 
 
Provision of services relating to the well-being of children including 
education, health and social care, and youth services. 
 
Community Services Scrutiny Committee 
 
Cultural Services, Community Safety (including Crime and Disorder), 
Economic Development and Youth Services. 
 
Health 
 
Scrutiny of the planning, provision and operation of health services 
affecting the area. 
 
Environment 
 
Environmental Issues 
Highways and Transportation 
 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
Corporate Strategy and Finance 
Resources  
Corporate and Customer Services 
Human Resources 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



The Public’s Rights to Information and Attendance at 
Meetings  
 
YOU HAVE A RIGHT TO: - 
 
 
• Attend all Council, Cabinet, Committee and Sub-Committee meetings unless the 

business to be transacted would disclose ‘confidential’ or ‘exempt’ information. 

• Inspect agenda and public reports at least five clear days before the date of the 
meeting. 

• Inspect minutes of the Council and all Committees and Sub-Committees and written 
statements of decisions taken by the Cabinet or individual Cabinet Members for up to 
six years following a meeting. 

• Inspect background papers used in the preparation of public reports for a period of up 
to four years from the date of the meeting.  (A list of the background papers to a 
report is given at the end of each report).  A background paper is a document on 
which the officer has relied in writing the report and which otherwise is not available 
to the public. 

• Access to a public Register stating the names, addresses and wards of all 
Councillors with details of the membership of Cabinet and of all Committees and 
Sub-Committees. 

• Have a reasonable number of copies of agenda and reports (relating to items to be 
considered in public) made available to the public attending meetings of the Council, 
Cabinet, Committees and Sub-Committees. 

• Have access to a list specifying those powers on which the Council have delegated 
decision making to their officers identifying the officers concerned by title. 

• Copy any of the documents mentioned above to which you have a right of access, 
subject to a reasonable charge (20p per sheet subject to a maximum of £5.00 per 
agenda plus a nominal fee of £1.50 for postage). 

• Access to this summary of your rights as members of the public to attend meetings of 
the Council, Cabinet, Committees and Sub-Committees and to inspect and copy 
documents. 

 

 

 



 

Please Note: 

Agenda and individual reports can be made available in large 
print.  Please contact the officer named on the front cover of this 
agenda in advance of the meeting who will be pleased to deal 
with your request. 

The Council Chamber where the meeting will be held is accessible for 
visitors in wheelchairs, for whom toilets are also available. 

A public telephone is available in the reception area. 
 
Public Transport Links 
 
 
• Public transport access can be gained to Brockington via the service runs 

approximately every half hour from the ‘Hopper’ bus station at the Tesco store in 
Bewell Street (next to the roundabout junction of Blueschool Street / Victoria Street / 
Edgar Street). 

• The nearest bus stop to Brockington is located in Old Eign Hill near to its junction 
with Hafod Road.  The return journey can be made from the same bus stop. 

 
 
 
 
 
If you have any questions about this agenda, how the Council works or would like more 
information or wish to exercise your rights to access the information described above, 
you may do so either by telephoning the officer named on the front cover of this agenda 
or by visiting in person during office hours (8.45 a.m. - 5.00 p.m. Monday - Thursday 
and 8.45 a.m. - 4.45 p.m. Friday) at the Council Offices, Brockington, 35 Hafod Road, 
Hereford. 

 

 

 

 

 
Where possible this agenda is printed on paper made from 100% Post-Consumer waste. De-
inked without bleaching and free from optical brightening agents (OBA). Awarded the 
Nordic Swan for low emissions during production and the Blue Angel environmental label. 

 



 

HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL 
 
 

BROCKINGTON, 35 HAFOD ROAD, HEREFORD. 
 
 
 

FIRE AND EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE 
 
 

 

In the event of a fire or emergency the alarm bell will ring 
continuously. 

You should vacate the building in an orderly manner through the 
nearest available fire exit. 

You should then proceed to Assembly Point J which is located at 
the southern entrance to the car park.  A check will be undertaken 
to ensure that those recorded as present have vacated the 
building following which further instructions will be given. 

Please do not allow any items of clothing, etc. to obstruct any of 
the exits. 

Do not delay your vacation of the building by stopping or returning 
to collect coats or other personal belongings. 
 



AGENDA ITEM 4

1



2



3



4



5



6



7



8



9



10



11



12



 

 
Further information on the subject of this report is available from  

David Sanders, Interim Director of Children’s Services  on Tel: (01432) 260039 

 
  

$bwjjruxq.doc 22/02/10 

MEETING: CHILDREN’S SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

DATE: 10 DECEMBER 2010 

TITLE OF REPORT: CALL-IN OF CABINET’S DECISION THAT 
DILWYN CHURCH OF ENGLAND PRIMARY 
SCHOOL BE DISCONTINUED ON 31 AUGUST 
2011 

REPORT BY:  DEMOCRATIC SERVICES 

CLASSIFICATION: Open  

Wards Affected 
Golden Cross with Weobley 

Purpose 

To review Cabinet’s decision that Dilwyn Church of England Primary School be discontinued on 31 
August 2011, which has been called in by three Members of the Committee: Councillors JJD 
Lavender, SJ Robertson and AM Toon. 

Recommendation(s) 

 THAT: the Committee reviews Cabinet’s decision and decides  

(i) whether it accepts that decision with no further comment, or  

(ii) whether it wishes to accept the grounds on which the decision of the Cabinet 
has been called-in and refer the decision back to the decision maker for 
reconsideration and, if so, what recommendations to Cabinet it wishes to make. 

Key Points Summary 

• Call-in is a statutory right for Members of the Council to review a decision of the Executive taken 
by Cabinet or an individual Cabinet Member after it is made but before it is implemented.  

•  A decision can not take effect pending consideration of the call-in by the Scrutiny Committee.   

• After consideration by the Scrutiny Committee the decision maker may implement the original 
decision or reconsider it in the light of the Scrutiny Committee’s comments. 

• The Committee has no power to overturn a decision of the Executive.  It can only request the 
Executive to reconsider its decision. 

AGENDA ITEM 6

13



• The Constitution (4.5.16.5) provides that call-in should only be used in exceptional 
circumstances including but not limited to; 

a where there is evidence which suggests that issues have not been handled in 
accordance with the decision-making principles set out in this Constitution  

b where a key decision has been taken which was neither published in accordance with 
the requirements for the Forward Plan, and is not subject to the urgency procedures 
set out in this Constitution; or 

c where a decision is outside the Budget and Policy Framework 

• The Committee is not therefore reconsidering the decision but testing the merits of that decision. 

• The stated reasons for the call in of Cabinet’s decision in relation to Dilwyn Church of England 
Primary School indicate the basis for this call-in is that there is evidence which suggests that 
issues have not been handled in accordance with the decision making principles set out in the 
Constitution. 

• The Committee can either accept the Cabinet’s decision with no further comment or accept the 
grounds on which the decision of the Cabinet has been called-in and refer the decision back to 
the decision maker for reconsideration. 

Reasons for Call-in  

2. In accordance with the Scrutiny Procedure Rules set out at Part 4 Section 5 of the 
Constitution, Cabinet’s decision on 25 November 2012 that Dilwyn Church of England Primary 
School be discontinued on 31 August 2011 has been called in for consideration by this 
Committee. 

3. The stated reasons for the call-in are: 

• Hope under Dinmore school and Brilley School went through the scrutiny process the 
same should be afforded to Dilwyn. 

• Little weight in the report has been given to the impact the closure will have on the 
Community. 

• The report does not take into account the change of Government and their new policy of 
maintaining small rural schools stating that every assistance and support should be given 
to keep them open to help the viability of rural villages (Dilwyn School has the support of 
the MP).  

• Federating with St Mary’s has been the main option, the report does not look at other 
federations such as Lord Scudamore, or other primary schools outside of the cluster. 

• A number of other schools have been in similar circumstances and problems have been 
overcome with the support of the Local Authority ie Canon Pyon and Eardisley. 

• Numbers are increasing, (33 now on roll) 3 from the trigger point of 36.  There is evidence 
that 13 would have gone to Dilwyn. 

4. The call-in is therefore made on the basis that there is evidence which suggests that issues 
have not been made in accordance with the decision making principles set out in the 
Constitution. 

14



5. The draft decision notice (Ref No. Ref   2010 Cab 033), together with the report by the Director 
of Children’s Services to Cabinet in relation to Dilwyn School on 25 November , the report to 
Cabinet on 12 July 2010 and relevant Minute are appended to the report, the relevant draft 
Minute of the meeting of Cabinet on 25 November will be circulated separately. A joint 
statement circulated at Cabinet on 25 November on behalf of Herefordshire Local Authority; 
the Bishop of Hereford , the Board of Education, Hereford Diocese; the Archdiocese of Cardiff 
Commission for Schools and Colleges; and St Mary’s Roman Catholic High School. 

 

Appendices 

• Draft Decision Notice of Cabinet on 25 November 2010 Ref   2010 Cab 033 

• Report to Cabinet 25 November 2010 – Dilwyn Church of England Primary School – 
Determination of Proposal to Continue (Extract of Minutes of Cabinet 25 November 2010– To 
follow) 

• A joint statement circulated at Cabinet on 25 November on behalf of Herefordshire Local 
Authority; the Bishop of Hereford , the Board of Education, Hereford Diocese; the Archdiocese of 
Cardiff Commission for Schools and Colleges; and St Mary’s Roman Catholic High School. 

• Report to Cabinet 12 July 2010 and extract of relevant Minute – The Future of Dilwyn Church of 
England Primary School 

Background Papers 

• Responses to the Statutory Notice 

15



16



 
HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL   Reference No: 2010.CAB.033 KEY 

 

WRITTEN STATEMENT OF A KEY DECISION 

CABINET 
 

 

 

ITEM: DILWYN CHURCH OF ENGLAND PRIMARY SCHOOL: 
DETERMINATION OF PROPOSAL TO DISCONTINUE 

Members Present: Councillors: RJ Phillips (Leader), LO Barnett, AJM Blackshaw,  
JP French (Deputy Leader),  JA Hyde, JG Jarvis,  PD Price,  DB 
Wilcox. 

Date of Decision: 25 November 2010 

Exempt: No -  

Confidential No 

This is a key decision because 

It is likely to be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area comprising 
one or more wards in the County. 

The item was included in the Forward Plan. 

Urgency/Special Urgency: 

(As defined in Constitution) 

No 

Purpose: To consider a report on responses to the statutory notice to 
discontinue Dilwyn Church of England Primary School (Dilwyn 
School) and to determine if the school should close with effect 
from 31 August 2011.   

Decision: THAT Dilwyn Church of England Primary School be 
discontinued on 31 August 2011. 

Reasons for the Decision: The recommendation to discontinue Dilwyn School is made in 
the educational interests of the pupils of Dilwyn now and in the 
future, for the effective use of public funds, and in accordance 
with council policies. 

Options Considered: The following alternative options have been considered and 
rejected for the reasons given: 

That Dilwyn School continues as a standalone entity. 
Although there has been much support for this option from 
members of the Dilwyn community, no new evidence was 
forthcoming from the responses to the statutory notice to alter 
the view of the Local Authority and the Hereford Diocese 
Director of Education that the school is not sustainable as a 
standalone entity.  

That Dilwyn School should amalgamate with another 
school. Neither the Local Authority, nor the Hereford Diocese 
Director of Education believe there to be advantages to 
amalgamation over closure. There was very little support for this 
option during the initial consultation over the future of the school 
and no new evidence was forthcoming in the responses to the 

17



 
HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL   Reference No: 2010.CAB.033 KEY 

statutory notice to alter the view of the Local Authority and the 
Hereford Diocese Director of Education. 

That Dilwyn School should federate with another school, or 
schools. During the representation period, the Local Authority 
received from the governing body of Dilwyn School a revised 
proposal for federation produced in conjunction with St Mary’s 
School, Lugwardine. For reasons described later in this report, 
the Local Authority and the Archdiocese of Cardiff have not been 
convinced that the revised proposal for a federation between St 
Mary’s School and Dilwyn School addresses adequately the 
educational and financial concerns highlighted through the 
review of Dilwyn School.  The Diocese of Hereford does believe 
that the partnership approach should be supported. 

 

Declaration of Interest: Councillor RJ Phillips – personal interest as Governor of a local 
school in the cluster. 

Councillor AJM Blackshaw – personal interest as Governor of a 
local school in the cluster. 

Date the key decision is due to take 
effect: 

2 December 2010 

 

 

COUNCILLOR RJ PHILLIPS …… …………………………………...……Date: 25 November 2010 
LEADER OF THE COUNCIL 

 

 

18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



 

 
Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
Hilary Hall, Head of Quality and Improvement on (01432) 260801 

  

$bpsfawwe.doc 26Nov08 

MEETING: CHILDREN’S SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

DATE: 10 DECEMBER 2010 

TITLE OF REPORT: PERFORMANCE DIGEST – QUARTER 2 2010-2011 

REPORT BY:  HEAD OF QUALITY AND IMPROVEMENT 

CLASSIFICATION: Open  

Wards Affected 

County-wide 

Purpose 

To present the Performance Digest for Children’s Services for Quarter 2 of 2010-2011 and to 
highlight key performance issues. 

Recommendation 

 THAT Scrutiny Committee assesses and considers the levels of performance achieved 
in Quarter 2 of 2010-2011 and considers if further reports and/or action are 
judged to be necessary. 

Key Points Summary 

• The percentage of initial assessments completed within 7 working days has fallen during 
Quarter 2 as a result of issues highlighted as a result of the unannounced and announced 
inspections by Ofsted during the summer.  As a result, the focus has been on improving the 
quality of assessments and ensuring that children are seen in a timely way.  Robust 
management action has evidenced clear improvements as a result and these were recognised 
in the feedback from the Ofsted inspection.  In addition, targets for improvement to the end of 
the financial year have now been set and agreed by the Service Improvement Group 
established to support and monitor improvements to the service.  Alongside this, there has 
been a significant increase in the number of referrals to children’s social care – 318 referrals 
per 10,000 population, compared with 261 per 10,000 population in Quarter1.  Evidence 
suggests this is due to increased awareness in partner agencies arising from the serious case 
reviews published earlier in the year. 

• Outcomes for children in care continue to show good performance, in relation to placement 
stability and timeliness of reviews.  This is against a backdrop of a significant increase in the 
number of children coming into care – 205 as at 30 September 2010, compared with 179 at 30 
June 2010.  In addition, the number of children subject to a child protection plan has continued 
to rise and as at 30 September 2010, stood at 200. 

• Unvalidated examination results show that, compared to our national and statistical neighbours, 
overall Herefordshire continues to improve although not achieving the aspirational targets set 

AGENDA ITEM 7

91



by the Department for Education.  There are some areas that require specific improvement in 
relation to achievement in the early years and primary phases.  The percentage of pupils 
achieving Level 4+ at Key Stage 2 in both English and Maths increased slightly to 71.4% from 
70.8% in 2009.  Two levels progression in English between Key Stages 1 and 2 decreased, but 
improved for Maths.  At secondary phase, the percentage of pupils achieving 5 or more GCSEs 
at A*-C including English and Maths increased to 54.9% from 52.2% in 2009.  In addition, the 
achievement of 2 or more GCSEs A*-C in Science continues to improve, 70.3% in 2010 
compared with 68% in 2009. 

Alternative Options 

1 There are no Alternative Options. 

Reasons for Recommendations 

2 To ensure that progress against the indicators, for which the Children and Young People’s 
Directorate is responsible, is understood and to ensure that the reasons for actual or potential 
under-performance are understood and recommendations made for remedial action. 

Introduction and Background 

3 The Performance Digest is produced quarterly and is the mechanism for monitoring key 
performance indicators, covering service delivery captured in the Local Area Agreement, the 
Children and Young People’s Directorate and the Children and Young People’s Plan. 

Key Considerations 

4 The Performance Digest has been circulated to Committee members as a separate document 
with the agenda and is available on request from the report author.  Key areas in each of the 
Every Child Matters outcome areas, to which the Committee’s attention should be drawn, are 
set out below: 

Be Healthy 

A significant number of the indicators in this outcome area are subject to annual reporting in 
March 2011. In addition, many of the indicators rely on data from the bi-annual Every Child 
Matters survey. Subject to funding being available, the next survey is due to be undertaken in 
March 2011 with the results anticipated to be available in September 2011.  Furthermore, data 
for some national indicators was collected via the annual TellUs Survey. This survey has, 
however, been discontinued by the new government and it is unclear how, and in what form, 
these indicators will continue. 

There have been 60 diagnosed cases of Chlamydia in the resident 15 – 24 year old 
population and 41 of these cases are now receiving treatment.  Ensuring that young people 
receive screening for Chlamydia remains a challenge, with the target for the year being set at 
6,930 young people to be screened.  To date, 1565 screens have taken place. 

131 assessments under the common assessment framework (CAF) were undertaken during 
the second quarter, slightly below the outturn for Quarter 1 which was 178.  The slightly lower 
outturn is attributed to the school summer holidays given that the majority of CAFs are 
undertaken in schools.  However, it is anticipated that the target of 500 CAFs in the financial 
year will be achieved. 

 

92



Stay Safe 

The number of referrals to children’s social care has increased significantly during Quarter 2.  
For the rolling year to 30 September 2010, there were 318 referrals per 10,000 population, 
compared with 261 per 10,000 population to 30 June 2010.  Evidence suggests this is due to 
increased awareness in partner agencies as a result of the publication of the serious case 
reviews earlier in the year.  However, the percentage of repeat referrals remains low at 16% 
which is well below statistical neighbours and England averages. 

54% of initial assessments were recorded as completed in 7 working days (NI 59) in the year 
to date.  Performance in terms of timeliness has slipped during Quarter 2 as a result of the 
management action taken in respect of improving quality of assessments and ensuring that 
children are seen in a timely way.  Clear targets for improvement have been set and there is 
evidence of improvement into Quarter 3.  The percentage of core assessments completed in 
35 working days has also fallen slightly to 55%.  Again, clear management action is in place to 
address this and improvements have been evidenced into Quarter 3. 

All child protection and looked after children (LAC) Reviews were completed in the rolling year 
to 30 September 2010 although some were slightly outside of the timescale.  As these 
reviews cover the rolling year, some reviews were delayed due to the adverse weather earlier 
in the year.  There has been a significant increase in the number of children subject to a child 
protection plan; from 175 at 30 June 2010 to 201 at 30 September 2010.  Similarly, the 
number of children coming into the Council’s care has also significantly increased – from 179 
at 30 June 2010 to 205 at 30 September 2010.  Performance in relation to the stability of 
placements for LAC (NI 62 & 63) in terms of the number of moves and length of placement 
continues to be very strong and is recognised both regionally and nationally. 

Enjoy and Achieve 

The percentage of statements of special educational needs (SEN) completed by the authority 
in accordance with the statutory process within 26 weeks remains at 100% which is excellent 
performance and well ahead of statistical neighbours. 

Performance in relation to examination results was considered in some depth at the last 
meeting of the Scrutiny Committee, particularly in relation to the early years and primary 
phases.  In relation to early years, over 95% of the children have access to pre-school 
provision and 83% of provision is either good or outstanding.  The fall in standards at Early 
Years Foundation Stage is being addressed through intensive training programmes and the 
introduction of a new software programme, eprofile, to improve the accuracy of data 
submission.  Results in relation to Key Stage 2, Level 4 at English and Maths, improved in 
2010, compared with 2009, but did not achieve target.  Progression between Key Stages 1 
and 2 was better in Maths than English. 

As reported in October 2010, many schools improved on their record GCSE results of a year 
ago, particularly in the relatively new benchmark measure of five or more GCSEs at grade A* 
to C including English and mathematics.  A particularly high standard in this measure was 
achieved by Fairfield High School (71 percent), John Masefield High School (64 percent), St 
Mary’s RC High School (72 percent), Wigmore High School (66 percent), Bishop of Hereford’s 
Bluecoat school (60 percent) and John Kyrle High School and Sixth Form Centre (59 percent).  
All high schools in Herefordshire performed either at or above the previous national average 
for students achieving five or more GCSE grades at A*-C, and some schools made significant 
increases on last year’s record high results.   

Absence in secondary schools in the last academic year improved slightly over 2009 to 7%.  
This figure was inflated by the unexpectedly high number of school days lost where travelling 

93



was difficult due to snow and the ash cloud.  Conversely, absence in primary schools rose for 
the third successive year and is above national averages for the first time in 3 years.  As a 
result, this is an area for focus in the current academic year. 

Make a Positive Contribution 

For the rolling year to 30 September 2010, 93% of LAC participated in all of their reviews. 
Encouraging participation of children and young people in their reviews remains a high priority 
with specific training being run for young people to enable them to chair their own reviews.   

In terms of re-offending by young offenders, 10 in the cohort of 69 re-offended which is well 
below the target for the year.  For the year to date, there were 48 first time entrants to the 
Youth Justice System aged 10-17.  Assuming a consistent profile for the rest of the year, this 
would give a projected outturn of 96 which is well below the outturn for 2009/2010 of 152.  
The percentage of young people receiving a conviction in court who are sentenced to custody 
remains very low – out of 50 court disposals, just one was a custodial outcome. 

The remaining indicators in this outcome area rely on data either from the TellUs survey or the 
bi-annual local survey.  As indicated above, the future for both surveys is unclear at this stage. 

Achieve Economic Wellbeing 

Out of 33 young offenders in the cohort, 20 are in suitable education, employment or training 
(EET).  This is currently slightly below the outturn for 2009/2010.  In terms of accommodation 
for offenders, 30 out of the cohort are deemed to be in suitable accommodation. 

Data for the achievement of Level 2 and Level 3 qualifications is due for publication in 
March/April 2011.  Prior attainment data would suggest that there will continue to be 
improvement in the achievement of these qualifications when the data is officially published. 

In terms of increasing the percentage of year 11s moving into learning destinations, including 
vulnerable young people (such as those with learning disability and difficulties and teenage 
mothers), tracking is continuing.  However, it is widely anticipated that the economic climate 
will cause a rise in the number of young people not in education, employment or training 
(NEET).  A new NEET Strategy has been drafted taking account of the current economic 
situation and is the subject of consultation partners.  In terms of teenage mothers, the Young 
Mums To Be programme is operating well and was positively endorsed by the recent Ofsted 
inspection.  

Community Impact 

5 None. 

Financial Implications 

6 Remedial action in respect of the directorate’s performance may require reallocation of 
resources within existing budgets.  This is being addressed by the Directorate Leadership 
Team. 

Legal Implications 

7 None.  

94



Risk Management 

8 The risks to achievement of the indicators, for which the directorate is responsible, are 
identified by officers as part of the service planning process.  Any significant risks are 
escalated to the directorate risk register, and corporate risk register, as appropriate.  Day to 
day management of risk is undertaken by responsible officers, in conjunction with their 
Assistant Directors.  There is a particular focus on the management of risks associated with 
the achievement of the Local Area Agreement indicators. 

Consultees 

9 None. 

Appendices 

10 Appendix 1:  Performance Digest (circulated with the agenda as a separate document) 

Background Papers 

• None identified. 

 

95



96



 

 
Further information on the subject of this report is available from 

Philippa Granthier, Head of Children’s Trust Development on Tel (01432) 260226  

$pqdscjxn.doc 22/02/10 

MEETING: CHILDREN’S SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

DATE: 10 DECEMBER 2010 

TITLE OF REPORT: CONSULTATION ON PRIORITIES FOR THE 
CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE’S PLAN 2011-
2014 

REPORT BY:  HEAD OF CHILDREN’S TRUST DEVELOPMENT 

CLASSIFICATION: Open 

Wards Affected 

County-wide  

Purpose 

The purpose of this report is to provide the committee with the opportunity to consider and influence 
the partnership priorities for the next children and young people’s plan, covering the period 2011-
2014. 

Recommendation 

 THAT Scrutiny Committee consider and provide feedback on the draft priorities as 
presented; 

Key Points Summary 

• This new plan will benefit families, children and young people and has been drafted for 
consultation 

• The priorities in the plan are those that can only be achieved by partners working together 
across the Children’s Trust alongside families and their children 

• The final plan will be published in April 2011 

Alternative Options 

1 This plan focuses on the top priorities that partners in the Children’s Trust will deliver that will 
make lives better for families and their children in Herefordshire. Despite the statutory 
requirement for a plan being removed, partners believe there needs to be a plan to give clarity 
over what we are working together to achieve for children, young people and their families. 

Reasons for Recommendations 

2 It is important that this plan represents the needs of Herefordshire’s children, young people 
and families so consultation from a wide cross-section of the population is invited. 

AGENDA ITEM 8

97



Introduction and Background 

3  Herefordshire is entering a new, exciting era in partnership working. The new government is 
freeing up local areas to decide for themselves what the important issues are that need 
addressing and how agencies can work together to tackle those issues. Much more emphasis 
is being placed on individuals and communities taking responsibility and helping themselves 
with the public sector taking a role in leadership, empowerment and protecting the more 
vulnerable. Delivery of services will fundamentally change over the next few years. 

4  Partnership working for children, young people and families is developing this approach. The 
Children’s Trust Board is the statutory body currently in place which governs partnership 
working around children’s services. Whilst the Department for Education has indicated that it 
intends to remove the requirement for local areas to have a Children’s Trust Board it is 
unlikely that this will happen before May 2012.  The existing “duty to co-operate” amongst the 
partners listed below will remain in place, although schools and colleges will be removed, 
subject to parliamentary approval, in the Education Bill due shortly. 

• District councils 
• Strategic health authorities 
• Primary care trusts 
• Youth offending teams 
• Police 
• Probation services 
• Persons providing Connexions services 
• Jobcentre plus 
• Schools and colleges 

 

5  The current Children and Young People’s Plan ends in March 2011 and sets out the priorities 
of the Children’s Trust. Until the 31 October 2010 the production of the plan was a statutory 
responsibility of the Children’s Trust Board. The Department for Education (DfE) has now 
removed the requirement to have a plan of this nature. However in Herefordshire there is a 
real commitment for partnership working to continue and a plan is needed to focus and direct 
the work of the partners for the benefit of children, young people and families. The new plan is 
a joint plan in that it details the added value of working in partnership and what more can be 
achieved only by working together. 

Key Considerations 

6 The proposed priorities of the new plan are attached at appendix 1.  

7  The new plan has been drafted based on a wide variety of data and information including: 

• “Have your say” events in September and October 2010 which allowed children, young 
people and parents / carers the opportunity to describe what is important to them. Children 
from nurseries, primary and secondary schools and young people from college and 
various youth groups were involved. Parents also gave their views. 

• Children’s Trust events with professionals who deliver and manage services for children, 
young people and their families 

• Data and information from surveys and performance indicators 
• Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) 
• Inspections and audits from national agencies like Ofsted. 

8  There is a 12 week consultation process running until February 2011 to ensure as many 

98



people as possible can submit their views. The final plan will also take into account the 
consultation feedback that is received. The detailed actions to achieve the priorities will also 
be fully mapped out along with the total resources available across the county for children and 
young people.  

9  The final plan will need to be agreed by individual partner organisations in terms of agreeing 
priorities and actions and committing resources to achieve the priorities. The plan will then be 
published in April 2011. 

Community Impact 

10  The plan includes priorities which will focus service delivery around two locality teams which 
map to the nine locality areas identified by Herefordshire Public Services. Partners have 
already committed to working in this way and working more closely with the communities they 
serve. In this way the needs of these communities can be mapped and a more targeted 
approach to providing services can be applied. This information will be used to inform the 
annual refresh of the plan and its supporting action plans and therefore more effective 
commissioning intentions in future. The voice of the children, young people and their families 
will be a key component in this commissioning cycle. 

Financial Implications 

11 The plan will be used as the basis for commissioning services for children and young people 
in Herefordshire, alongside commissioning arrangements under Herefordshire Public 
Services.  It will also be used to make the most of existing resources across partners targeted 
towards children and young people. 

Legal Implications 

12 The plan is no longer a statutory requirement but is a partnership commitment to collaborative 
working.  

Risk Management 

13  The plan is draft and currently out for consultation. Therefore at this stage there are no risks 
relating to this report. 

Consultees 

14 To inform the draft priorities a wide range of people have already been consulted. Partner 
staff attended an initial event to discuss the issues facing children and young people in 
Herefordshire. This event included members of the Children’s Trust Shadow Board, a 
consultative group of young people aged 11-19 years from across secondary schools and 
colleges in Herefordshire.  

15  The “Have Your Say” campaign was held specifically to capture the important things for 
children and young people. This included three main elements: 

• A “Have Your Say” day where around 100 primary and secondary school pupils 
attended two events with activities to aid thinking around the things that are important 
to them 

•  A poster which allowed either written words or pictures to depict children’s views. This 
was sent to all nurseries, childminders, schools and colleges allowing a much wider 

99



range of views to be gathered, including parents / carers 

• Specific sessions in schools and groups of young people facilitated by the youth 
service and HCVYS. This included particular vulnerable groups including looked after 
children, teenage parents and travellers. 

16  The draft plan will be widely circulated as part of a 12 week consultation. This will include all 
the partners of the Children’s Trust including schools and colleges. Councillors, third sector 
organisations, independent schools will all be invited to comment including any specific 
groups and forums that meet around children and young people’s services.  

Appendices 

17 Appendix 1 Draft priorities  

Background Papers 

• None identified. 

100



Consultation on the draft 
 

Children and Young People’s Plan for Herefordshire 2011-2014 
 
Thank you for reading this third Children and Young People’s Plan for 
Herefordshire. Your views and comments are welcomed to help inform the 
final plan which will be published in April 2011. 
 
This plan is different to the previous two plans in that it no longer has to follow 
government guidance. It has been deliberately written in a way to make it 
understandable to anyone who reads it – whether that’s the public; staff 
across public, private and third sectors or professionals within children’s 
services. 
 
The aim is for the final plan to look and feel very different from the previous 
two. What is presented here is just the main narrative so that a consensus can 
be agreed on the main priorities. It is important to remember that the priorities 
in this plan can only be achieved by partners working together; it is intended 
to capture the added value of partnership. This plan does not list all the 
services that all partners currently provide. 
 
Your feedback is really important on these four main questions: 
 

1. Are these the right priorities for children, young people and families and 
carers in Herefordshire? 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2. Are there any priorities that are missing? 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

101



3. What are the key actions that will be needed to ensure the plan’s aims 
are delivered and what organisations need to be involved?  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4. Please add any other comments you would like to make 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
It would be helpful if you could add your details so we know how widely the 
draft plan has been discussed but this is not compulsory. 
 
 
Name_________________________________________________________ 
 
 
Organisation____________________________________________________ 
 
 

Thank you for taking the time to complete these questions. 
 
 
Now email your answers by the 11 February 2011 to : 
 
HerefordshireChildrensTrust@herefordshire.gov.uk 
 
Or post to  
Herefordshire Children’s Trust 
Blackfriars 
Children and Young People’s Directorate 
Herefordshire Council 
Blackfriars Street 
Hereford 
HR4 9ZR 

102



Consultation Copy 
 
Introduction  
 
This plan represents a new, exciting era for partnership working in 
Herefordshire. The changes in national government mean that local areas, 
like Herefordshire, now have much more freedom and ability to decide how 
local organisations can work together and what the important issues are that 
need to be addressed for the people of Herefordshire. We can set our own 
destiny without the direction being set for us. 
 
In Herefordshire we are ahead of much of the country because our council 
and health services are already working very closely together as 
Herefordshire Public Services. We have a strategic Herefordshire Partnership 
which includes partners from other public sector organisations (such as the 
police), the private sector (such as local businesses) and the third sector 
(including voluntary and community groups).  
 
This new plan has been written to show what we will do to improve the lives of 
families and their children and young people in Herefordshire.  Across 
children’s services and the wider Herefordshire Partnership we are organising 
services on a locality basis. For families it means that services will be more 
responsive and accessible in their local area and not be primarily based 
around Hereford City.  
  
This plan covers the period April 2011 to March 2014; it is a strategic plan so 
much of the detail of the actions and how we know it is working will be in an 
annual delivery plan. Three years can be a long time and this plan will develop 
as events happen both locally and nationally. We will undertake an annual 
review of this strategic plan and make any necessary changes in the annual 
delivery plan.  
 
 
Vision 
 
Our vision in Herefordshire is for children and young people to grow up 
healthy, happy and safe, with supportive families and carers, and make 
sure they have the best education and opportunities locally to achieve 
what they want. 
 
For many children this can be fairly easy, but for some it is more difficult. 
Some may have health problems, some don’t have families that can look after 
them as well as they want, and some have difficulty with learning. Sometimes 
children need help just for a short time, perhaps settling into a new school.  
 
As partners our aim is to provide support where it is needed so that children 
and families can take responsibility for their own health and well-being. Our 
approach is not just to help children and young people but their families and 
carers as they bring up their children and have the greatest influence on them. 
Across Herefordshire Partnership there is a new energy to enable 

103



communities to work together and support individuals and families within it.  A 
community means a grouping of people with a common interest whether that’s 
the neighbourhood where you live, work, go to school or a club you belong to.   
 

“It takes a village to raise a child” 
         African proverb 
 
Sometimes our support will need to be more targeted and specialist to help 
those families who are finding situations much more difficult, particularly 
where children are not developing as they should or are at risk of harm. These 
children have the right to the same chances and opportunities as the vast 
majority of children in Herefordshire and we will work together to ensure the 
needs of these children are met. 
 
 
Who are we? 
We are a children and young people’s partnership (Children’s Trust) which is 
a partnership of different organisations that work together to make things 
better for children and young people. We are: 
 
Herefordshire Council, including schools 
Herefordshire Primary Care Trust, including GPs 
West Midlands Strategic Health Authority 
Hereford Hospitals NHS Trust 
Colleges 
Worcestershire and Herefordshire Youth Offending Service  
Jobcentre Plus 
West Mercia Probation Service 
West Mercia Police Service 
The Alliance (third sector representatives) 
 
 
This plan does not include all the services that each partner needs to provide. 
This plan is about what can only be done by partners working together on a 
particular issue by combining their expertise and resources. 
 
A very important part of this partnership is the Shadow Board. This is a group 
of young people aged 11 to 19 from across secondary schools and colleges in 
Herefordshire. They act as a consultative group commenting on various 
strategies and projects of our partnership. The Shadow Board link with school 
councils of both primary and secondary schools, and the youth council, to give 
children and young people a voice about the issues that affect them. The 
Shadow Board can directly influence the decisions and actions of leaders of 
our partnership so it is a powerful group of young people. 
 
 
What’s happening nationally? 
In the UK and across many other countries there has been an economic 
recession. This means that for many families, businesses and public sector 
organisations, money has become much scarcer. For all of us it is more and 

104



more important to spend our money on the things that really matter to us and 
make a positive difference. In the case of the public sector we must make 
sure that money is spent effectively on the right things that people in our local 
area need. 
 
There are many changes happening that the new coalition government are 
still deciding upon as this plan is being written. This includes changes in policy 
and legislation that will have a bearing on what the public sector and other 
partners will need to provide. We do know that the government wants local 
areas to be able to decide for themselves what is important to them and that 
agencies should work together to provide services if it makes sense to do so. 
 
 
What’s happening in Herefordshire? 
Herefordshire is mainly a rural county, with beautiful unspoilt countryside, 
distinctive heritage, remote valleys and rivers. The city of Hereford is the 
county’s centre. The other main locations are the five market towns of 
Leominster, Ross-on-Wye, Ledbury, Bromyard and Kington.  The county is 
sparsely populated. Over half of its 179,300 residents live in rural areas.  
 
The number of children is decreasing, although there were more births than 
expected in the last two years. This decrease is expected to continue until 
stabilising from 2016 at about 29,000 children aged less than 16 years. 
 
The latest population estimates from Office of National Statistics (ONS) 
indicate that there are 40,200 children aged 0 to 19 years of age in 
Herefordshire. Overall, the percentage of children and young people is 22.4% 
of the total Herefordshire population 
This is analysed further as: 
 

Age range 
(in years) 

 

Numbers (% of total 
population) 

Under 1 1,900     (1.1%) 
1-4  7,100     (4%) 
5-9 9,300     (5.2%) 

 
10-14 10,700   (6%) 
15- 19 11,200   (6.2%) 

 
 
 

The biggest concentrations of children and young people under 15 are in St 
Martins and Hinton ward and Belmont ward. 
The number of households with dependent children is 20,619 (2001 Census).   

 
 
 
 
 

105



Herefordshire Public Services are already working together to provide 
services in local communities. This means that services are organised to be 
delivered in areas where they are needed. Over the period of the last Children 
and Young People’s Plan, the Children’s Trust, worked to develop locality 
teams through a project called No Wrong Door. By the beginning of April 2011 
these teams will be in place. They will be able to work with both individual 
children and families, and groups of children who require some additional 
help.  The teams will include staff from Children’s Centres, youth workers, 
educational welfare and Connexions staff. There are some organisations that 
although not directly in the teams are working very closely with them; these 
include local schools and doctors surgeries as they see children and young 
people all the time.  
Herefordshire Public Services are developing locality services for communities 
and families and the work undertaken through No Wrong Door will form part of 
this. 
 
 
Our Priorities 
Our priorities are the top issues or problems that we will concentrate on over 
the next three years.  They are listed below with a short description of what 
we will aim to achieve over the next three years. There will be more detailed 
actions of what we will do in the annual delivery plan. 
 
These priorities have been agreed using a variety of different information and 
documents: 

• “Have your say” events in September and October 2010 which allowed 
children, young people and parents and carers the opportunity to tell us 
what is important to them. Children from nurseries, primary and 
secondary schools and young people from college and various youth 
groups were involved. Parents also gave their views. 

• Children’s Trust events with people who deliver and manage services 
for children, young people and their families 

• Data and information from surveys and performance indicators 
• Joint Strategic Needs Assessment, Child Poverty Needs Assessment 

and State of Herefordshire report, which provide more figures and data 
than is included in this plan 

• Inspections and audits from national agencies like Ofsted. 
• Impacts of expected changes in emerging government policy 
• Feedback and comments from the consultation on the draft version of 

this plan 
 
The priorities have been grouped into two sections. The first section includes 
the people priorities which are those priorities that children, young people 
and their families have said are important to them now and in the future. It 
includes particular issues that we need to address and specific groups of 
children and young people who have greater needs.  
 
The second section includes partnership priorities which are for our partners 
to work better at “behind the scenes” but which will make services for children 
and young people even better over time. 

106



 
 
People priorities 
 

1. Helping parents and families to help themselves 
Being a parent is not always easy and the needs of our children change as 
they grow. Children tell us one of the most important things for them is their 
families, and that they can live in happy homes with parents or carers who 
support them. 
  
We want to help families and communities to be able to support their children 
and young people. We can do this by providing general information, advice 
and guidance which is available to everyone. This can include everything from 
advice about healthy eating, where to find your nearest nursery and what fun 
activities there are available in Herefordshire. It can also include more 
specialist advice for children who have specific needs or problems, for 
example those children with a disability. 
 
We also want to put in place services that can help and support families at the 
earliest opportunity before problems become too big to handle; this is known 
as early intervention.  This will be done through our locality teams who will get 
to know the problems that arise in areas and can arrange the necessary 
support to those children and families needing more help.  
 
With the ongoing economic downturn there will be families that will suffer from 
lack of jobs, increasing housing affordability and household expenses 
meaning more children could fall into poverty. We will work with our partners 
in the wider Herefordshire Partnership to support these families so their 
children are not unfairly disadvantaged by the situation their families are faced 
with.  We need to improve the lives of these families and the experiences and 
opportunities provided to their children and young people. Research suggests 
that children in poverty will face poverty in later life so it becomes a continuing 
cycle in some families. 
 

2. Reducing Obesity 
Childhood obesity is a problem nationally and is increasing in Herefordshire. 
We measure children as they start and finish primary school and this shows 
that nearly 25% of reception age children and nearly 33% of year 6 children 
are either obese or overweight. This is likely to cause health problems later in 
life so we are keen to educate and support children both at home and in 
school to lead more healthy lifestyles. This includes encouraging mothers to 
breast feed as this provides the best start in life for their babies.  
 
 

3. Better health for teenagers 
There are high rates in Herefordshire of young people who smoke and drink 
alcohol and get drunk regularly. Whilst this appears to be reducing there are a 
small minority, particularly amongst girls who drink alcohol to excess and then 
make up around half of all alcohol based hospital admissions for under 18s. 

107



The number of teenage pregnancies is relatively low but has risen. There has 
been a sharp rise in sexually transmitted diseases although this could be 
down to better screening.  
 
Young people tell us they need better information and education around 
relationships and sexual health. They also want information about drugs and 
alcohol and the affects. We will ensure there is the information available to 
educate young people and provide the support and treatment for those who 
need it.  Alcohol was identified by the Shadow Board as being a top concern 
for young people in Herefordshire and the Board have worked to raise 
awareness of the dangers of drinking too much.  
 

4. Respecting and valuing each other 
Children and young people tell us that they want to have the chances to give 
their opinions and want to be respected by other children and adults. The 
United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child makes it clear that 
children have rights which are the things that every child should have or be 
able to do. And all children have the same rights. We need to help ensure 
those rights are protected. 
 
We want our services to support children, young people and their families and 
carers but we can only do that if we know what it is they need. So we highly 
value what children, young people and their families and carers have to say, 
and will take this into account when we make decisions.  
 
Bullying still remains an issue for children and this, according to the latest 
local survey, is now more of a problem in primary schools. We want children 
and young people to respect each other regardless of their differences, 
background or beliefs. Children want to feel safe and most do in their 
communities, homes and schools as Herefordshire is generally a safe place to 
live. Safety when using technology eg mobile phones and the internet is an 
area where we can do more to make children feel safe by helping to reduce 
cyberbullying. 
 
With the development of our locality teams we want to work with local 
communities to develop safe, happy environments in which children and 
young people can grow and thrive. Raising the confidence and aspirations of 
children and young people is vital in helping them to achieve at school, 
college and in work.  Children and young people say they want to help in 
developing their communities whether that’s where they live, play or go to 
school so there should be opportunities to volunteer and understand what 
being a good Herefordshire citizen means. Everyone has a contribution to 
make regardless of their culture, background or ability and this should be 
valued by everyone. 
 

5. Protecting children from harm 
Generally children and young people in Herefordshire say they feel safe and 
supported, according to the 2009 Tellus Survey undertaken in schools. 
However there are times when children can be at risk of harm and we need to 
ensure they are protected and supported outside of their families. We will 

108



work together to make sure these children are identified and helped quickly. If 
children cannot remain with their families we will ensure they are looked after 
and supported well. We want to make sure that children can stay in 
Herefordshire wherever possible so will look to increase the number of places 
where children can stay and reduce our reliance on long term care 
arrangements.  
 

6. Raising education standards 
Generally Herefordshire children and young people do well in their education. 
This however hides the fact that there are certain groups of children that don’t 
do as well.   
 
Achievement of 0-5 year olds in Herefordshire is measured by the proportion 
gaining a certain number of points in a scoring system; 46.2% achieved this 
level in 2009/10 which was below the target of 53%. 
 
There is a clear link between children living in areas of deprivation and gaining 
poorer achievement results at GCSE levels. The number of young people 
gaining 5 or more GCSE’s at Grades A*-C (including English and maths) 
varies across the county. During 2008 in St Martins and Hinton ward 26% 
achieved this level compared to 80% in Hampton Court ward.  
 
All children and young people have the right to a good quality of education 
and we need to make sure this happens as our role is to prepare children for 
their future lives.  We will monitor the performance of different wards, schools 
and groups of children and then target action to ensure the gap between the 
best and worst performing is reduced.  We will also make sure that children 
attend school regularly and will help schools and parents to make sure this 
happens. 
 

7. Opportunities after leaving school 
After school young people need to know the options that are available to 
them, whether that is further training, education or finding a job. This will 
support them in giving them the skills to take into adult life.  
 
We will work with partners in the Herefordshire Partnership to encourage local 
employers to invest in Herefordshire and its workforce, including its young 
people. Part of this approach will be to encourage employers to provide 
apprenticeships for young people so they can learn while earning. In 
Herefordshire we already achieve a high number of apprenticeships but want 
to increase the number and range further.  
 
There are several changes expected nationally, the details of which are not 
fully known at the time of writing. This includes the setting up of an all age 
careers service, potential increases in university fees and changes to the 
Education Maintenance Allowance (EMA) that young people receive under 
certain circumstances. In Herefordshire we will ensure that our young people 
have sufficient opportunities so they are either in education, employment or 
training. 
 

109



8. Looked after children 
Looked after children are those children who are no longer living with their 
families but are looked after, often by foster carers and sometimes by care 
homes. We are “corporate parents” meaning that all our staff support these 
children as if they were their own. Because of the difficulties these children 
have had to face they often don’t do as well as the majority of children and 
need additional support. However in Herefordshire our looked after children 
generally do well in terms of their attendance and achievement at school.   
 

9. Children with disabilities and special educational needs 
We believe that children and young people with disabilities and special 
educational needs are valued members of their communities and, as they 
grow into adulthood, should be able to realise their full potential in personal 
and social terms. We will provide support to enable children and young people 
with disabilities and special educational needs to be successful in all the 
activities they wish to take part in. We will work to ensure the needs of these 
children and young people are considered carefully and that support is 
properly co-ordinated and provided. For more specialist education and 
support we will develop our local services so that families can make the most 
of what Herefordshire has to offer other than relying on services and schools 
outside of Herefordshire. 
 

10. Minority groups  
Across Herefordshire there are groups of children and young people who 
have specific needs relating to race, ethnicity, and language which they and 
their families sometimes need more support than the rest of the population. 
We want to ensure all these children have the same chances as other 
children. In Herefordshire these groups include traveller children, those who 
care for others, and children whose first language may not be English.  
  
 
Partnership priorities 
 
These are the processes and arrangements which will help our partnership to 
work better in Herefordshire.  There are many services and groups that 
support families and children in many different ways so we need to enable all 
these partners, including schools and doctors surgeries, to play their part.  
 

1. Commissioning 
Commissioning means having the right services in the right place at the right 
time. To do this it means we will listen and understand what services children, 
young people and their families need, and plan to deliver those within the 
resources that are available.  
 
In Herefordshire we already have an agreed framework as to how partners will 
commission together. Because there will be less money in future we need to 
plan together so that we avoid any duplication and that we make the most 
effective use of these resources. We can do this now across services for 
women, children and families and want to be able to join our money and staff 

110



together in a single agreement for children’s services across council and 
health services. 
 
The total available resources for children and young people in Herefordshire 
are shown below: 
 
TO BE ADDED 
 

 
Our framework has already identified these initial key areas of focus for 2011-
2013 and these will be added to over the period of the plan 
• Looked after children 
• Children with complex needs including disabilities 
• Edge of care 
• Safeguarding 
• Young People not in Education, Employment and Training (NEET) 
• Extended Services 
• Early Years and Children’s Centres 
• Schools e.g. Transport, disadvantage subsidy, educational attainment 
• Locality services 
• Positive activities  and targeted youth support 
• Information provision 
 
We need to use the data that we gather so it gives us a picture of the needs of 
different areas and groups of children in Herefordshire. We know that overall 
outcomes for children and young people in Herefordshire are good but this 
hides the fact that there are issues in specific wards, areas and cohorts of 
children and young people. The voice of children, young people, parents / 
carers and families is key to this, as is the knowledge of providers who work 
directly with families. As our work in localities develops so will our knowledge 
of needs in different areas across Herefordshire.  All this improved intelligence 
will help us to better plan services that are needed in particular areas or by 
particular groups of children so we can target our resources appropriately.  
 

2. Developing the workforce 
We already have an agreed plan for developing the children’s workforce, 
which includes all those people who work face to face with children, young 
people and their families. It also includes people who provide support to those 
front line staff e.g. people who train teachers or cleaners in youth centres. 

 
Our aim is to have one team of people who can work together although they 
may be employed by different partners eg police, nurses, youth workers, 
social workers and teachers. Many staff will now be based in the locality 
teams so will need to work together using the same processes and 
frameworks, for example, being able to share information and using the 
common assessment framework to assess the needs of children and young 
people. 
 
 

111



3. Developing localities and communities 
In Herefordshire we are working towards better and more engagement and 
involvement of communities in tackling together their local issues. 
Communities can be a village, a school, or a local group like scouts and cubs.  
Through our locality teams we will be supporting families, individual children 
and groups of children.  
Across the Herefordshire Partnership we need to build communities to be self-
reliant and to support each other and we have a role to ensure we protect 
more vulnerable members of our communities e.g. the elderly or children.  
 
 
 
What we will do 
ACTION PLANS TO BE ADDED 
 
 
 
How will we know we are achieving this plan 
 
We will monitor regularly the annual delivery plan to ensure the actions and 
and targets are achieved. At the time of writing this plan the Children’s Trust 
Board and its subgroups are based around five outcome areas of: 

• being healthy,  
• staying safe 
• enjoying and achieving, 
• making a positive contribution and  
• achieving economic well-being 

 
The Children’s Trust Board are keen to make its structure simpler and more 
focused on delivery. Therefore as this plan is agreed it is likely new 
arrangements will be put in place considering the locality work that is in place 
and developing and the priorities that have been identified above. 
 
We will produce an annual review of this plan which will show exactly what we 
have done, what hasn’t been achieved and why. We will also highlight any 
new priorities which have arisen either through improved locality 
commissioning, the views of children, young people and their families / carers 
or inspections and audits.  

112



 

 
Further information on the subject of this report is available from 

Daniel Crampton, Head of Safeguarding and Review on (01432) 260261 
  

$a52z10fh.doc 22/02/10 

MEETING: CHILDREN’S SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

DATE: 10 DECEMBER 2010 

TITLE OF REPORT: OFSTED  INSPECTIONS OF SAFEGUARDING 
AND LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN IN 
HEREFORDSHIRE- JUNE AND SEPTEMBER 
2010: OUTCOMES AND ACTION PLAN 

REPORT BY:  ASSISTANT DIRECTOR SAFEGUARDING AND 
VULNERABLE CHILDREN 

CLASSIFICATION: Open  

Wards Affected 

County-wide. 

Purpose 

To inform Committee of outcomes of the first unannounced and announced Ofsted inspections. 

Recommendations 

 THAT Scrutiny Committee note the content of the report and the draft action plan. 

Key Points Summary 

• In June 2010 Ofsted undertook the first annual inspection of contact, referral and assessment 
arrangements for children’s safeguarding in Herefordshire. This inspection highlighted 
significant weaknesses in the referral and assessment service resulting in one area for priority 
action. Prompt and effective remedial action was taken to ensure safety of all children referred 
for a service and work to substantially and sustainably improve this particular service is 
ongoing. 

• Ofsted undertook a full announced inspection of safeguarding and looked after children’s 
services across the partnership during September 2010.  The overall judgments were, for 
safeguarding – overall effectiveness and capacity to improve both adequate; for looked after 
children – overall effectiveness and capacity to improve both good. 

• Ofsted has published its annual rating of children’s services in Herefordshire as adequate 
overall.  

Alternative Options 

1 There are no alternative options. 

AGENDA ITEM 9

113



Introduction and Background 

Key Considerations 

1 This report summarises the outcome of the first full inspection of safeguarding and looked 
after children in Herefordshire and outlines the key areas highlighted as good or better and 
those requiring development and action. 

2 Attached to this report is an outcome and action plan which consolidates learning from: 

• Unannounced inspection of contact, referral and assessment arrangements for children’s 
safeguarding – June 2010 

• Announced inspection of safeguarding and looked after children services – September 
2010 

• Improvement and Development Agency peer review of safeguarding for children 
commissioned by HSCB – May 2010. 

• Annual Ofsted rating letter for children’s services – October 2010. 

3 Herefordshire children’s services last full inspection was under the Joint Area Review in 2005 
which judged children’s safeguarding services to be inadequate.  Formal intervention was 
arranged until November 2007 and improvements had been slow up until mid 2009 when a 
stable senior safeguarding management team was established.  Internal reviews were 
commissioned by an experienced consultant in November - December 2008 and May 2009. 

4 In May 2010 Herefordshire Safeguarding Children Board (HSCB) commissioned a peer review 
from the Improvement and Development Agency. This high level review highlighted the 
following themes: 

• Relationship between the Children’s Trust and the Herefordshire Safeguarding Children 
Board to be defined, i.e.  delivery v scrutiny and monitoring 

• Child’s voice to be strengthened and systems for capturing these to be improved 
• Data analysis performance management, scrutiny, quality assurance to be improved. 
• Developmental issues identified as inter-agency working, training, serious case reviews. 

5 In June 2010 Ofsted undertook the first annual inspection of contact and referral and 
assessment arrangements for children’s safeguarding in Herefordshire. This inspection 
highlighted significant weaknesses in the referral and assessment service resulting in one 
area for priority action. Prompt and effective remedial action was taken to ensure safety of all 
children referred for a service and work to substantially and sustainably improve this particular 
service is ongoing. 

6 Ofsted undertook a full announced inspection of safeguarding and looked after children’s 
services across the partnership during September 2010, which included a review of progress 
from unannounced. 

Summary of safeguarding findings 

7 The outcomes for children and young people were judged to be adequate with good features. 
The council were judged to show robust and decisive leadership in safeguarding following the 
unannounced inspection in June which highlighted significant problems in the referral and 
assessment team, particularly regarding timeliness of seeing children, poor quality of 
assessments and poor management information from Frameworki. 

8 Between June and September 2010 intensive resource and focus was applied to the referral 
and assessment service resulting in robust oversight of all cases, changes to systems and 

114



management and the start of improving practice.  From October 2010 a referral and 
assessment improvement plan is in place to overhaul systems and practice including partner 
contributions with the aim of a redesigned and relaunched fit for purpose referral service from 
early 2011. 

9 Improvements were particularly noted in the areas of elective home education, children 
missing from home and school, raised awareness of domestic abuse and private fostering.  
Good elements of safeguarding were identified as a well conceived CAF model and interface 
with Referral and assessment service; effective safe recruitment; safeguarding training 
through HSCB; excellent result for young people who are NEET. (not in education, 
employment or training) 

10      Overwhelmingly children and young people told inspectors that they felt safe at school and in 
their communities and cited excellent examples of approaches to reduce bullying. 

11 The quality of safeguarding provision overall was judged to be adequate. Positive areas 
identified include to Family Intervention Project, Multi-Agency Public Protection Arrangements, 
Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO) officer. Areas for improvement were identified as 
being: 

• Escalation of concerns in and between agencies 
• Effective sexual offence examination arrangements for children 
• Hospital reception areas for children 
• Understanding of best interest decision making in NHSH 
• Understanding of ethnicity religion and culture in assessments 

12 Leadership and management across the Children’s Trust and the council was seen to be 
robust, visible and effective with storing ambitions and vision for the future. Morale of staff is 
good and there is an effective multi agency workforce strategy. The HSCB has effectively 
disseminated learning from serious case reviews undertaken and has clear priorities for the 
Board.  User engagement was judged as having outstanding features with active involvement 
of children and young people that influences the council and children’s trust. 

13 The most significant areas for improvement were identified as performance management and 
quality assurance and these were judged inadequate by inspectors.  Although the HSCB has 
clear priorities and is recognised as starting from a low base it does not yet receive nor 
effectively analyse sufficient information in order to scrutinise agencies’ safeguarding practice.  
Frameworki, as the main reporting and recording system for children’s social care, does not 
yet support the effective delivery nor performance monitoring of safeguarding services. A 
specific improvement plan is well underway to address this issue. 

14 A further area judged adequate with improvements to make are commissioning and ensuring 
value for money. 

Summary of looked after children findings 

15 The overall effectiveness of services and outcomes for looked after children, young people 
and care leavers were  judged as  good with some outstanding features.  Services provided by 
health staff including CAMHs are reported as good by professionals and looked after children.  
Children and young people reported consistently that the care they receive is good or very 
good. Stability of placement is very high in Herefordshire, above national average. Children 
are seen and supported by qualified social workers and a range of professional partners. 

16 The impact of agencies to ensure looked after children are successful in enjoying and 
achieving is outstanding with children and young people achieving and attaining very well in 

115



Herefordshire. 

17 Opportunities for children and young people to make a positive contribution is judged as good. 
Looked after children are actively involved in service design including recruitment of staff, 
chairing own reviews. Youth Offending Service impact on offending rates for looked after 
children is effective.  The impact of agencies in enabling looked after children and young 
people to achieve economic well being is good with an effective aftercare service and plans to 
offer apprenticeships through the partnership for all care leavers who want it. 

18 The capacity to improve in this area is judged as good. 

Community Impact 

19 Public confidence in safeguarding services from the public is vital. 

Financial Implications 

20 None 

Legal Implications 

21       None 

Risk Management 

22 None 

Consultees 

23 Senior managers and staff in Children’s Services. 

Appendices 

24    Outcomes and action plan 

Background Papers 

• None identified. 

116



K
im
 D
ra
ke
, A

ss
is
ta
nt
 D
ire
ct
or
; S

af
eg

ua
rd
in
g 
an
d 
V
ul
ne

ra
bl
e 
C
hi
ld
re
n 
S
er
vi
ce
 

T
el
: (
01
43

2)
 2
61

60
3 
E
m
ai
l: 
kd
ra
ke
@
he
re
fo
rd
sh
ire
.g
ov
.u
k 

1

 
  

 

C
o
m
p
o
si
te
 O
u
tc
o
m
es

 a
n
d
 A
ct
io
n
 P
la
n
 

fo
r 
im

p
ro
vi
n
g
 s
er
vi
ce

s 
to
 c
h
ild

re
n
 a
n
d
 

yo
u
n
g
 p
eo

p
le
 

  
A
ri
si
n
g
 f
ro
m
: 

§ 
Im

pr
ov
em

en
t a

nd
 D
ev
el
op

m
en

t A
ge

nc
y 
re
vi
ew

 o
f s
af
eg

ua
rd
in
g 
– 
M
ay
 2
01

0 
§ 

U
na

nn
ou

nc
ed

 O
fs
te
d 
in
sp
ec
tio
n 
of
 c
on

ta
ct
, r
ef
er
ra
l a
nd

 a
ss
es
sm

en
t a

rr
an

ge
m
en

ts
 –
 J
un

e 
20

10
 

§ 
A
nn

ou
nc
ed

 O
fs
te
d 
in
sp
ec
tio
n 
of
 s
af
eg

ua
rd
in
g 
an

d 
lo
ok
ed

 a
fte

r 
ch
ild
re
n 
se
rv
ic
es
 –
 

S
ep

te
m
be

r 
20

10
 

   V
er
si
on
 3
:  
N
ov
em

be
r 
20
10
 

117



K
im
 D
ra
ke
, A

ss
is
ta
nt
 D
ire
ct
or
; S

af
eg

ua
rd
in
g 
an
d 
V
ul
ne

ra
bl
e 
C
hi
ld
re
n 
S
er
vi
ce
 

T
el
: (
01
43

2)
 2
61

60
3 
E
m
ai
l: 
kd
ra
ke
@
he
re
fo
rd
sh
ire
.g
ov
.u
k 

2

C
o
n
te
n
ts
: 

  
 

S
ec
ti
o
n
 1
 

Q
ua
lit
y 
of
 p
ra
ct
ic
e,
 in
cl
ud
in
g 
as
se
ss
m
en
t a

nd
 d
ire
ct
 w
or
k 
w
ith
 c
hi
ld
re
n 
an
d 
fa
m
ili
es
 

S
ec
ti
o
n
 2
 

M
on
ito
rin
g 
an
d 
pr
ot
ec
tin
g 
vu
ln
er
ab
le
 c
hi
ld
re
n 

S
ec
ti
o
n
 3
 

M
ul
ti-
ag
en
cy
 p
ro
ce
ss
es
 a
nd
 w
or
ki
ng
 

S
ec
ti
o
n
 4
 

E
ar
ly
 in
te
rv
en
tio
n,
 in
cl
ud
in
g 
C
A
F
 

S
ec
ti
o
n
 5
 

H
um

an
 R
es
ou
rc
es
 

S
ec
ti
o
n
 6
 

H
er
ef
or
ds
hi
re
 S
af
eg
ua
rd
in
g 
C
hi
ld
re
n 
B
oa
rd
 

S
ec
ti
o
n
 7
 

P
er
fo
rm

an
ce
 m
an
ag
em

en
t a
nd
 q
ua
lit
y 
as
su
ra
nc
e 

S
ec
ti
o
n
 8
 

H
ea
lth
 

S
ec
ti
o
n
 9
 

C
hi
ld
re
n 
w
ith
 d
is
ab
ili
tie
s 

S
ec
ti
o
n
 1
0 

C
as
e 
re
co
rd
in
g 
an
d 
pl
an
ni
ng
 

S
ec
ti
o
n
 1
1 

Le
ad
er
sh
ip
 a
nd
 m
an
ag
em

en
t 

 
 

K
ey
: 

 
U
I 

U
na
nn
ou
nc
ed
 O
fs
te
d 
in
sp
ec
tio
n 
of
 c
on
ta
ct
, r
ef
er
ra
l a
nd
 a
ss
es
sm

en
t a
rr
an
ge
m
en
ts
 

P
R
 

Im
pr
ov
em

en
t a
nd
 D
ev
el
op
m
en
t A

ge
nc
y 
pe
er
 r
ev
ie
w
 o
f s
af
eg
ua
rd
in
g 

S
&
V
C
 

S
af
eg
ua
rd
in
g 
an
d 
V
ul
ne
ra
bl
e 
C
hi
ld
re
n 
S
er
vi
ce
 

H
S
C
B
 

H
er
ef
or
ds
hi
re
 S
af
eg
ua
rd
in
g 
C
hi
ld
re
n 
B
oa
rd
 

R
&
A
 

R
ef
er
ra
l a
nd
 A
ss
es
sm

en
t 

C
IN
 

C
hi
ld
re
n 
in
 N
ee
d 

C
Y
P
D
 

C
hi
ld
re
n 
an
d 
Y
ou
ng
 P
eo
pl
e’
s 
D
ire
ct
or
at
e 

L
A
C
H
Y
P
 
Lo
ok
ed
 a
fte

r 
ch
ild
re
n 
an
d 
yo
un
g 
pe
op
le
 

 
T
ex
t h

ig
hl
ig
ht
ed
 in
 b
lu
e 
in
di
ca
te
s 
re
co
m
m
en
da
tio
ns
 m
ad
e 
by
 O
fs
te
d 
in
 S
ep
te
m
be
r 
20
10
 

118



K
im
 D
ra
ke
, A

ss
is
ta
nt
 D
ire
ct
or
; S

af
eg

ua
rd
in
g 
an
d 
V
ul
ne

ra
bl
e 
C
hi
ld
re
n 
S
er
vi
ce
 

T
el
: (
01
43

2)
 2
61

60
3 
E
m
ai
l: 
kd
ra
ke
@
he
re
fo
rd
sh
ire
.g
ov
.u
k 

3

R
ef
 

A
re
a 
fo
r 
im

p
ro
ve
m
en

t 
id
en

ti
fi
ed

 in
 t
h
e 

an
n
o
u
n
ce
d
 in

sp
ec
ti
o
n
 

O
u
tc
o
m
es
 t
o
 

ac
h
ie
ve
 

L
ea
d
 o
ff
ic
er
 

R
ep

o
rt
in
g
 t
o
 

(a
cc
o
u
n
ta
b
le
 

b
o
d
y)
 

K
ey
 a
ct
io
n
s 

T
im

es
ca
le
s 

U
I/P

R
 

S
ec

ti
o
n
 1

  Q
u
al

it
y 

o
f 
p
ra

ct
ic

e,
 in

cl
u
d
in

g
 a

ss
es

sm
en

t 
an

d
 d

ir
ec

t 
w

o
rk

 w
it
h
 c

h
ild

re
n
 a

n
d
 f
am

ili
es

 
1.
1 

Im
pr
ov
e 
qu

al
ity
 a
nd
 

tim
el
in
es
s 
of
 a
ss
es
sm

en
ts
 

en
su
rin
g 
th
ey
 e
xp
lic
itl
y 

id
en
tif
y 
ris
k 
an
d 
pr
ot
ec
tiv
e 

fa
ct
or
s 
an
d 
id
en
tif
y 

in
di
vi
du
al
 n
ee
ds
 o
f c
hi
ld
re
n 

an
d 
yo
un
g 
pe
op
le
 (
pa
ra
 

42
) 

 

A
ll 
ch
ild
re
n 
an
d 

yo
un
g 
pe
op
le
 

re
fe
rr
ed
 to
 c
hi
ld
re
n’
s 

so
ci
al
 c
ar
e 
re
ce
iv
e 
a 

tim
el
y 
as
se
ss
m
en
t o
f 

hi
gh

 q
ua
lit
y 
w
hi
ch
 

ex
pl
ic
itl
y 
id
en
tif
ie
s 

ris
k 
an
d 
pr
ot
ec
tiv
e 

fa
ct
or
s 
fo
r 
ea
ch
 c
hi
ld
 

Li
sa
 G
re
en
, 

H
ea
d 
of
 

F
ie
ld
w
or
k 

R
&
A
 S
er
vi
ce
 

Im
pr
ov
em

en
t 

G
ro
up
 

S
&
V
C
 S
en
io
r 

M
an
ag

em
en
t 

T
ea
m
 

H
S
C
B
 

R
ec
on
fig
ur
e 
R
&
A
 te
am

 –
 

in
te
rim

 m
od
el
 

In
cr
ea
se
 p
ar
tn
er
 a
ge

nc
y 

co
nt
rib
ut
io
ns
 to
 a
ss
es
sm

en
t 

D
ev
el
op
 k
ey
 s
ta
ff 
to
 

un
de
rs
ta
nd
 r
eq
ui
re
m
en
ts
 

th
ro
ug
h 
se
rie
s 
of
 

de
ve
lo
pm

en
t w

or
ks
ho
ps
 

Q
ua
lit
y 
as
su
re
 a
ss
es
sm

en
ts
 

w
ee
kl
y 
(3
 a
ud
its
 u
nd
er
ta
ke
n 

ea
ch
 b
y 
H
ea
d 
of
 S
er
vi
ce
 

an
d 
A
ss
is
ta
nt
 D
ire
ct
or
) 
an
d 

re
co
rd
 a
ct
io
ns
 fo
r 

im
pr
ov
em

en
t 

25
 O
ct
ob
er
 2
01
0 

 31
 M
ar
ch
 2
01
1 

 31
 J
an
ua
ry
 2
01
1 

   F
ro
m
 1
 O
ct
ob
er
 

20
10
 

U
I 

1.
2 

E
ns
ur
e 
th
at
 s
ta
ff 
re
ce
iv
e 

re
gu

la
r 
re
fle
ct
iv
e 
an
d 

ou
tc
om

e-
fo
cu
se
d 

su
pe
rv
is
io
n 
in
 li
ne
 w
ith
 

po
lic
y 
re
qu

ire
m
en
ts
, t
ha
t 

su
pe
rv
is
io
n 
on
 c
as
es
 is
 

re
co
rd
ed
 o
n 
ap
pr
op
ria
te
 

su
pe
rv
is
io
n 
te
m
pl
at
e 
an
d 

th
at
 th

is
 is
 a
cc
es
si
bl
e 
on
 

th
e 
el
ec
tr
on
ic
 r
ec
or
di
ng
 

sy
st
em

. (
pa
ra
 7
8)
 

 

A
ll 
st
af
f r
ec
ei
ve
 

re
gu

la
r,
 r
ef
le
ct
iv
e 

an
d 
ou
tc
om

e-
fo
cu
se
d 
su
pe
rv
is
io
n 

Li
sa
 G
re
en
, 

H
ea
d 
of
 

F
ie
ld
w
or
k 

R
&
A
 S
er
vi
ce
 

Im
pr
ov
em

en
t 

G
ro
up
 

S
&
V
C
 S
en
io
r 

M
an
ag

em
en
t 

T
ea
m
 

E
m
be
d 
us
e 
of
 s
up
er
vi
si
on

 
te
m
pl
at
e 
on
 a
ll 
sa
fe
gu

ar
di
ng

 
ca
se
s.
 

E
ns
ur
e 
re
gu

la
r 
au
di
ts
 o
f 

ca
se
s 
ag
ai
ns
t s
up
er
vi
si
on

 
st
an
da
rd
s 

R
ep
or
t r
eg
ul
ar
ly
 to

 A
ss
is
ta
nt
 

D
ire
ct
or
 fo
r 
Q
ua
lit
y 

A
ss
ur
an
ce
 G
ro
up
 

E
nd
 o
f N

ov
em

be
r 

20
10
 

 F
ro
m
 J
an
ua
ry
 2
01
1 

  F
ro
m
 F
eb
ru
ar
y 

20
11
 

 

119



K
im
 D
ra
ke
, A

ss
is
ta
nt
 D
ire
ct
or
; S

af
eg

ua
rd
in
g 
an
d 
V
ul
ne

ra
bl
e 
C
hi
ld
re
n 
S
er
vi
ce
 

T
el
: (
01
43

2)
 2
61

60
3 
E
m
ai
l: 
kd
ra
ke
@
he
re
fo
rd
sh
ire
.g
ov
.u
k 

4

R
ef
 

A
re
a 
fo
r 
im

p
ro
ve
m
en

t 
id
en

ti
fi
ed

 in
 t
h
e 

an
n
o
u
n
ce
d
 in

sp
ec
ti
o
n
 

O
u
tc
o
m
es
 t
o
 

ac
h
ie
ve
 

L
ea
d
 o
ff
ic
er
 

R
ep

o
rt
in
g
 t
o
 

(a
cc
o
u
n
ta
b
le
 

b
o
d
y)
 

K
ey
 a
ct
io
n
s 

T
im

es
ca
le
s 

U
I/P

R
 

1.
3 

S
om

e 
ch
ild
re
n’
s 
so
ci
al
 c
ar
e 

as
se
ss
m
en
ts
 a
re
 (
pa
ra
 4
2)
: 

§ 
to
o 
de
sc
rip
tiv
e,
 

§ 
in
su
ffi
ci
en
tly
 a
na
ly
tic
al
, 

§ 
la
ck
 s
uf
fic
ie
nt
 

co
nt
rib
ut
io
n 
fr
om

 
pa
rt
ne
r 
ag
en
ci
es
 

§ 
an
d 
do
 n
ot
 a
lw
ay
s 
ta
ke
 

hi
st
or
ic
al
 in
fo
 in
to
 

ac
co
un
t. 

§ 
no
t e

no
ug
h 
fo
cu
s 
on
 

in
di
vi
du
al
 n
ee
d 
w
he
n 

as
se
ss
in
g 
si
bl
in
g 

gr
ou
ps
  

In
 s
om

e 
S
47
 c
as
es
 

ag
en
ci
es
 ta
ke
 to

o 
lo
ng
 to
 

re
sp
on
d 
to
 r
eq
ue
st
s 
fo
r 

in
fo
rm

at
io
n 
(p
ar
a 
43
) 

A
ll 
ch
ild
re
n’
s 
so
ci
al
 

as
se
ss
m
en
ts
 to
 

in
cl
ud
e 
sh
ar
p 

an
al
ys
is
, g

oo
d 

ac
co
un
t o
f h
is
to
ry
, 

fo
cu
s 
on
 in
di
vi
du
al
 

ch
ild
re
n’
s 
ne
ed
s.
 

A
ll 
In
iti
al
 

as
se
ss
m
en
ts
 a
nd
 

co
re
 a
ss
es
sm

en
ts
 to
 

ha
ve
 s
uf
fic
ie
nt
 

co
nt
rib
ut
io
n 
fr
om

 
pa
rt
ne
r 
ag
en
ci
es
 

Li
sa
 G
re
en
, 

H
ea
d 
of
 

F
ie
ld
w
or
k 

R
&
A
 S
er
vi
ce
 

Im
pr
ov
em

en
t 

G
ro
up
 

H
S
C
B
 S
te
er
in
g 

G
ro
up
 

T
ra
in
 a
ll 
fie
ld
w
or
k 
so
ci
al
 

w
or
ke
rs
 o
n 
ar
ea
s 
of
 

im
pr
ov
em

en
t i
n 

as
se
ss
m
en
t. 

A
ud
it 
co
m
pl
ia
nc
e 
w
ith
 

as
se
ss
m
en
t g

ui
da
nc
e 

th
ro
ug
h 
au
di
t p
ro
gr
am

m
e 

P
ar
tn
er
 a
ge

nc
ie
s 
to
 c
om

m
it 

to
 c
on
tr
ib
ut
in
g 
in
fo
rm

at
io
n 

sw
ift
ly
, j
oi
nt
ly
 v
is
iti
ng

 w
he
re
 

ne
ce
ss
ar
y 
on
 a
ll 
ke
y 

as
se
ss
m
en
ts
 fo
r 
ch
ild
re
n 

A
gr
ee
 s
ta
nd
ar
d 
tim

et
ab
le
 fo
r 

re
ce
iv
in
g 
in
fo
rm

at
io
n 

31
 M
ar
ch
 2
01
1 

   F
ro
m
 J
an
ua
ry
 2
01
1 

  31
 M
ar
ch
 2
01
1 

    D
ec
em

be
r 
20
10
 

U
I 

1.
4 

Im
pr
ov
em

en
ts
 n
ee
de
d 
in
 

ch
ild
re
n 
in
 n
ee
d 
pl
an
ni
ng
 

(p
ar
a 
11
) 

A
ll 
ch
ild
re
n 
in
 n
ee
d 

(i.
e.
 r
ec
ei
vi
ng

 a
 

so
ci
al
 c
ar
e 
se
rv
ic
e 

un
de
r 
th
is
 c
at
eg
or
y)
 

re
ce
iv
e 
an
 

as
se
ss
m
en
t, 
pl
an
, 

in
te
rv
en
tio
n 
an
d 

re
vi
ew

 u
nd
er
 th

e 
ne
w
 c
hi
ld
re
n 
in
 n
ee
d 

po
lic
y 
an
d 
gu

id
an
ce
 

(la
un
ch
ed
 5

th
 

O
ct
ob
er
 2
01
0)
 

Li
sa
 G
re
en
, 

H
ea
d 
of
 

F
ie
ld
w
or
k 

S
&
V
C
 S
en
io
r 

M
an
ag

em
en
t 

T
ea
m
  

P
ol
ic
y 
an
d 

P
ra
ct
ic
e 
su
b 

gr
ou
p,
 H
S
C
B
 

Q
ua
lit
y 

A
ss
ur
an
ce
 a
nd
 

E
va
lu
at
io
n 
su
b 

gr
ou
p,
 H
S
C
B
 

E
m
be
d 
co
m
pl
ia
nc
e 
to
 C
IN
 

po
lic
y 
an
d 
gu

id
an
ce
 

P
ar
tn
er
 a
ge

nc
ie
s 
to
 c
om

m
it 

to
 c
on
tr
ib
ut
in
g 
in
fo
rm

at
io
n 

sw
ift
ly
, j
oi
nt
ly
 v
is
iti
ng

 w
he
re
 

ne
ce
ss
ar
y 
on
 a
ll 
ke
y 

as
se
ss
m
en
ts
 fo
r 
ch
ild
re
n 

A
ud
it 
co
m
pl
ia
nc
e 
th
ro
ug
h 

m
ul
ti 
ag
en
cy
 th

em
ed
 a
ud
it 

F
ro
m
 5
 O
ct
ob
er
 

20
10
 

F
ro
m
 D
ec
em

be
r 

20
10
 

   M
ay
 2
01
1 

U
I 

120



K
im
 D
ra
ke
, A

ss
is
ta
nt
 D
ire
ct
or
; S

af
eg

ua
rd
in
g 
an
d 
V
ul
ne

ra
bl
e 
C
hi
ld
re
n 
S
er
vi
ce
 

T
el
: (
01
43

2)
 2
61

60
3 
E
m
ai
l: 
kd
ra
ke
@
he
re
fo
rd
sh
ire
.g
ov
.u
k 

5

R
ef
 

A
re
a 
fo
r 
im

p
ro
ve
m
en

t 
id
en

ti
fi
ed

 in
 t
h
e 

an
n
o
u
n
ce
d
 in

sp
ec
ti
o
n
 

O
u
tc
o
m
es
 t
o
 

ac
h
ie
ve
 

L
ea
d
 o
ff
ic
er
 

R
ep

o
rt
in
g
 t
o
 

(a
cc
o
u
n
ta
b
le
 

b
o
d
y)
 

K
ey
 a
ct
io
n
s 

T
im

es
ca
le
s 

U
I/P

R
 

1.
5 

C
hi
ld
re
n’
s 
so
ci
al
 w
or
ke
rs
 

ha
ve
n’
t a

lw
ay
s 
re
co
gn

is
ed
 

ne
ed
 to
 r
eq
ue
st
 in
fo
 fr
om

 
ad
ul
t o

r 
m
en
ta
l h
ea
lth
 

se
rv
ic
es
 a
s 
pa
rt
 o
f 

as
se
ss
m
en
ts
 (
pa
ra
 4
3)
 

A
du
lt 
an
d 
m
en
ta
l 

he
al
th
 s
er
vi
ce
s 

al
w
ay
s 
co
ns
id
er
ed
 

as
 p
ar
t o
f 

as
se
ss
m
en
t a

nd
 

pl
an
ni
ng

 fo
r 
ch
ild
re
n 

lo
ok
ed
 a
fte
r,
 s
ub
je
ct
 

to
 c
hi
ld
 p
ro
te
ct
io
n 

pl
an
 a
nd
  c
hi
ld
 in
 

ne
ed
 

D
an
ie
l 

C
ra
m
pt
on
, 

H
ea
d 
of
 

S
af
eg
ua
rd
in
g 

an
d 
R
ev
ie
w
 

S
&
V
C
 S
en
io
r 

M
an
ag

em
en
t 

T
ea
m
 

P
ro
du
ce
 c
le
ar
 g
ui
da
nc
e 
fo
r 

ch
ild
re
n’
s 
so
ci
al
 c
ar
e 
st
af
f r
e 

re
as
on
s 
to
 c
on
si
de
r 
an
d 

ho
w
 to

 d
o 
so
 

Li
ai
se
 w
ith
 c
ol
le
ag

ue
s 
in
 

ad
ul
t a

nd
 m
en
ta
l h
ea
th
 

se
rv
ic
es
 to

 e
ns
ur
e 
cl
ea
r 

ro
ut
es
 to
 in
fo
rm

at
io
n 

sh
ar
in
g 
an
d 
co
ns
ul
ta
tio
n 
re
 

as
se
ss
m
en
ts
 

Ja
nu
ar
y 
20
11
 

   Ja
nu
ar
y 
20
11
 

 

1.
6 

F
ee
db
ac
k 
to
 r
ef
er
re
rs
 b
y 

ch
ild
re
n’
s 
so
ci
al
 c
ar
e 
is
 n
ot
 

ro
ut
in
el
y 
gi
ve
n 
w
ith
in
 

pr
es
cr
ib
ed
 ti
m
es
ca
le
s 
no
t 

re
co
rd
ed
 o
r 
m
on
ito
re
d 

(p
ar
a 
43
) 

R
ef
er
re
rs
 a
lw
ay
s 

re
ce
iv
e 
fe
ed
ba
ck
 

w
ith
in
 p
re
sc
rib
ed
 

tim
es
ca
le
s 
fr
om

 
W
or
ki
ng
 T
og
et
he
r 

20
10
 a
nd
 th
is
 

re
co
rd
ed
 o
n 
ch
ild
’s
 

fil
e 

Li
sa
 G
re
en
, 

H
ea
d 
of
 

F
ie
ld
w
or
k 
an
d 

H
ila
ry
 H
al
l, 

H
ea
d 
of
 

Q
ua
lit
y 
an
d 

Im
pr
ov
em

en
t 

R
&
A
 S
er
vi
ce
 

Im
pr
ov
em

en
t 

T
ea
m
 

S
&
V
C
 S
en
io
r 

M
an
ag

em
en
t 

T
ea
m
 

H
S
C
B
 S
te
er
in
g 

G
ro
up
 

D
ev
is
e 
sy
st
em

 to
 e
ns
ur
e 

fe
ed
ba
ck
 a
lw
ay
s 
gi
ve
n 
in
 

pr
es
cr
ib
ed
 ti
m
es
ca
le
 

D
ev
is
e 
m
on
ito
rin
g 
sy
st
em

 to
 

ch
ec
k 
pr
og
re
ss
 a
nd
 e
ns
ur
e 

10
0%

 c
om

pl
ia
nc
e 

F
ro
m
 1
 D
ec
em

be
r 

20
10
 

  F
ro
m
 1
 D
ec
em

be
r 

20
10
 

 

1.
7 

T
oo
 m

an
y 
as
se
ss
m
en
ts
 o
f 

C
IN
 in
 R
A
T
 h
av
e 
no
t b
ee
n 

co
m
pl
et
ed
 in
 ti
m
es
ca
le
 

re
su
lti
ng
 in
 d
el
ay
s 
in
 s
om

e 
fa
m
ili
es
 r
ec
ei
vi
ng

 s
er
vi
ce
s 

(p
ar
a 
11
) 

A
ss
es
sm

en
ts
 o
f 

C
hi
ld
re
n 
in
 n
ee
d 
to
 

be
 c
om

pl
et
ed
 in
 

tim
es
ca
le
 a
ga

in
st
 

lo
ca
lly
 a
gr
ee
d 
ta
rg
et
  

by
 e
nd
 J
an
ua
ry
 2
01
1 

Li
sa
 G
re
en
, 

H
ea
d 
of
 

F
ie
ld
w
or
k 

S
&
V
C
 S
en
io
r 

M
an
ag

em
en
t 

T
ea
m
 

E
ns
ur
e 
ex
ce
lle
nt
 

m
an
ag
em

en
t s
ys
te
m
s 
in
 

te
am

 to
 e
na
bl
e 
sw

ift
 fl
ow

 o
f 

w
or
k 

E
na
bl
e 
st
af
f t
o 
co
m
pl
et
e 

qu
al
ity
 b
ut
 s
w
ift
 In

iti
al
 

as
se
ss
m
en
ts
 o
f C

IN
 w
ith
 

cl
ea
r 
fo
rw
ar
d 
pl
an
s 
 

M
an
ag

e 
C
IN
 c
or
e 

as
se
ss
m
en
ts
 to
 e
ns
ur
e 

tim
el
y 
co
m
pl
et
io
n 

Ja
nu
ar
y 
20
11
 

   Ja
nu
ar
y 
20
11
 

   Ja
nu
ar
y 
20
11
 

 

121



K
im
 D
ra
ke
, A

ss
is
ta
nt
 D
ire
ct
or
; S

af
eg

ua
rd
in
g 
an
d 
V
ul
ne

ra
bl
e 
C
hi
ld
re
n 
S
er
vi
ce
 

T
el
: (
01
43

2)
 2
61

60
3 
E
m
ai
l: 
kd
ra
ke
@
he
re
fo
rd
sh
ire
.g
ov
.u
k 

6

R
ef
 

A
re
a 
fo
r 
im

p
ro
ve
m
en

t 
id
en

ti
fi
ed

 in
 t
h
e 

an
n
o
u
n
ce
d
 in

sp
ec
ti
o
n
 

O
u
tc
o
m
es
 t
o
 

ac
h
ie
ve
 

L
ea
d
 o
ff
ic
er
 

R
ep

o
rt
in
g
 t
o
 

(a
cc
o
u
n
ta
b
le
 

b
o
d
y)
 

K
ey
 a
ct
io
n
s 

T
im

es
ca
le
s 

U
I/P

R
 

1.
8 

P
ar
tn
er
s 
pe
rc
ep
tio
ns
 o
f 

R
A
T
 n
ee
d 
im
pr
ov
in
g 
(p
ar
a 

44
) 

E
ns
ur
e 
th
at
 p
ar
tn
er
s 

ha
ve
 c
on
fid
en
ce
 in
 

th
e 
re
fe
rr
al
 a
nd
 

as
se
ss
m
en
t t
ea
m
 

an
d 
th
at
 th
is
 le
ad
s 
to
 

ap
pr
op
ria
te
 r
ef
er
ra
ls
. 

K
im
 D
ra
ke
, 

A
ss
is
ta
nt
 

D
ire
ct
or
, S

&
V
C
 

R
&
A
 S
er
vi
ce
 

Im
pr
ov
em

en
t 

G
ro
up
 

P
ro
du
ce
 c
le
ar
 r
ef
er
ra
l 

st
an
da
rd
s 
fo
r 
al
l p
ar
tn
er
s 

in
cl
ud
in
g 
R
&
A
 te

am
 

G
ai
n 
co
m
m
itm

en
t f
ro
m
 

pa
rt
ne
r 
ag
en
ci
es
 to
 b
e 
pa
rt
 

of
 jo
in
t s
ol
ut
io
n 
vi
a 
R
&
A
 

S
er
vi
ce
 im

pr
ov
em

en
t g
ro
up
  

M
on

ito
r 
an
d 
re
vi
ew

 q
ua
lit
y 

of
 te
am

 a
pp
ro
ac
h 

31
 D
ec
em

be
r 
20
10
 

  Ja
nu
ar
y 
20
11
 

(p
ar
tn
er
 e
ve
nt
) 

  F
ro
m
 J
an
ua
ry
 2
01
1 

 

1.
9 

Li
ttl
e 
ev
id
en
ce
 th

at
 p
ar
en
ts
 

or
 c
ar
er
s 
re
ce
iv
e 
co
pi
es
 o
f 

as
se
ss
m
en
ts
 o
r 
in
fo
 o
n 

m
ak
in
g 
co
m
pl
ai
nt
s/
co
ns
en
t 

to
 s
ha
rin
g 
in
fo
rm

at
io
n 
(p
ar
a 

44
) 

A
ll 
pa
re
nt
s 
/c
ar
er
s 

an
d 
yo
un
g 
pe
op
le
 

w
he
re
 r
el
ev
an
t 

sh
ou
ld
 r
ec
ei
ve
 c
op
y 

of
 a
ss
es
sm

en
t 

un
de
rt
ak
en
 a
bo
ut
 

th
em

 a
nd
 r
ec
ei
ve
 

in
fo
rm

at
io
n 
ab
ou
t 

co
m
pl
ai
nt
s 
an
d 

ac
ce
ss
 to
 r
ec
or
ds
 

Li
sa
 G
re
en
, 

H
ea
d 
of
 

F
ie
ld
w
or
k 
an
d 

H
ila
ry
 H
al
l, 

H
ea
d 
of
 

Q
ua
lit
y 
an
d 

Im
pr
ov
em

en
t 

R
&
A
 S
er
vi
ce
 

Im
pr
ov
em

en
t 

G
ro
up
 

E
ns
ur
e 
sy
st
em

 in
 p
la
ce
 to
 

se
nd
 a
ll 
se
rv
ic
e 
us
er
s 
cl
ea
r 

in
fo
 r
e 
co
m
pl
ai
nt
s 
an
d 

ac
ce
ss
 to
 r
ec
or
ds
 

in
fo
rm

at
io
n.
 

E
m
be
d 
in
to
 p
ra
ct
ic
e 
th
at
 

as
se
ss
m
en
ts
 m

us
t b

e 
sh
ar
ed
 a
s 
pa
rt
 o
f t
he
 

as
se
ss
m
en
t i
ts
el
f. 

1 
D
ec
em

be
r 
20
10
 

    F
ro
m
 1
 D
ec
em

be
r 

20
10
 

 

1.
10
 

In
co
ns
is
te
nt
 p
ra
ct
ic
e 
in
 

as
se
ss
m
en
ts
 a
nd
 fa
m
ily
 

w
or
k 
of
 u
nd
er
st
an
di
ng
 a
nd
 

im
pa
ct
 o
f e

th
ni
ci
ty
 r
el
ig
io
n 

an
d 
cu
ltu
re
 (
pa
ra
 4
7)
 

A
ll 
as
se
ss
m
en
ts
 

un
de
rt
ak
en
 b
y 

ch
ild
re
n’
s 
so
ci
al
 c
ar
e 

ad
eq

ua
te
ly
 c
on
si
de
r 

im
pa
ct
 o
f e

th
ni
ci
ty
 

re
lig
io
n 
an
d 
cu
ltu
re
 

S
ha
rr
on
 

G
oo
de
, 

W
or
kf
or
ce
 

S
tr
at
eg
y 

M
an
ag

er
 

S
&
V
C
 S
en
io
r 

M
an
ag

em
en
t 

T
ea
m
 

D
ev
is
e 
an
d 
de
liv
er
 

w
or
kf
or
ce
 d
ev
el
op
m
en
t 

m
od
ul
e 
to
 r
ai
se
 a
w
ar
en
es
s 

an
d 
co
nf
id
en
ce
 in
 th

is
 a
re
a 

Ja
nu
ar
y 
20
11
 

U
I 

D
an
ie
l 

C
ra
m
pt
on
, 

H
ea
d 
of
 

S
af
eg
ua
rd
in
g 

an
d 
R
ev
ie
w
 

C
Y
P
D
 Q
ua
lit
y 

A
ss
ur
an
ce
 

G
ro
up
 

M
on

ito
r 
im
pr
ov
em

en
t 

th
ro
ug
h 
au
di
ts
 a
nd
 P
&
R
 

R
A
G
 r
at
in
g 

F
ro
m
 M
ar
ch
 2
01
1 

 

122



K
im
 D
ra
ke
, A

ss
is
ta
nt
 D
ire
ct
or
; S

af
eg

ua
rd
in
g 
an
d 
V
ul
ne

ra
bl
e 
C
hi
ld
re
n 
S
er
vi
ce
 

T
el
: (
01
43

2)
 2
61

60
3 
E
m
ai
l: 
kd
ra
ke
@
he
re
fo
rd
sh
ire
.g
ov
.u
k 

7

R
ef
 

A
re
a 
fo
r 
im

p
ro
ve
m
en

t 
id
en

ti
fi
ed

 in
 t
h
e 

an
n
o
u
n
ce
d
 in

sp
ec
ti
o
n
 

O
u
tc
o
m
es
 t
o
 

ac
h
ie
ve
 

L
ea
d
 o
ff
ic
er
 

R
ep

o
rt
in
g
 t
o
 

(a
cc
o
u
n
ta
b
le
 

b
o
d
y)
 

K
ey
 a
ct
io
n
s 

T
im

es
ca
le
s 

U
I/P

R
 

1.
11
 

T
he
 c
ou
nc
il 
ha
s 
ye
t t
o 

ev
al
ua
te
 e
ffe

ct
iv
en
es
s 
of
 

F
am

ily
 G
ro
up
 C
on
fe
re
nc
es
 

(p
ar
a 
66
) 

F
am

ily
 G
ro
up
 

C
on
fe
re
nc
e 
se
rv
ic
e 

to
 b
e 
ev
al
ua
te
d 
fo
r 

ef
fe
ct
iv
en
es
s 

K
im
 D
ra
ke
, 

A
ss
is
ta
nt
 

D
ire
ct
or
 S
&
V
C
 

S
&
V
C
 S
en
io
r 

M
an
ag

em
en
t 

T
ea
m
 

E
va
lu
at
e 
F
G
C
 s
er
vi
ce
 in
 

H
er
ef
or
ds
hi
re
 a
nd
 p
la
n 
fo
r 

fu
tu
re
 s
er
vi
ce
 n
ee
ds
 

F
eb
ru
ar
y 
20
11
 

 

1.
12
 

R
ep
or
ts
 fr
om

 s
oc
ia
l 

w
or
ke
rs
 a
bo
ut
 lo
ok
ed
 a
fte
r 

ch
ild
re
n 
ar
e 
no
t a
lw
ay
s 

sh
ar
ed
 w
ith
 y
ou
ng

 p
eo
pl
e 

an
d 
th
ei
r 
fa
m
ily
 p
rio
r 
to
 

re
vi
ew

s 
(p
ar
a 
71
) 

A
ll 
re
po
rt
s 
m
us
t b
e 

sh
ar
ed
 w
ith
 c
hi
ld
re
n 

an
d 
yo
un
g 
pe
op
le
 

an
d 
th
ei
r 
fa
m
ili
es
 

pr
io
r 
to
 a
 lo
ok
ed
 

af
te
r 
ch
ild
re
n 
re
vi
ew

 
to
 e
ns
ur
e 
m
ax
im
um

 
en
ga
ge
m
en
t a
nd
 

in
vo
lv
em

en
t 

S
te
ph
an
ie
 

R
ow

le
s,
 in
te
rim

 
H
ea
d 
of
 L
A
C
 

S
&
V
C
 S
en
io
r 

M
an
ag

em
en
t 

T
ea
m
 

C
or
po
ra
te
 

P
ar
en
tin
g 
P
an
el
 

D
ev
is
e 
cl
ea
r 
st
an
da
rd
 a
nd
 

po
lic
y 
an
d 
em

be
d 
w
ith
 

LA
C
H
Y
P
 s
ta
ff 

D
ev
is
e 
sy
st
em

 fo
r 

m
on
ito
rin
g 
im
pr
ov
em

en
ts
 

Ja
nu
ar
y 
20
11
 

 

S
ec

ti
o
n
 2

: 
 M

o
n
it
o
ri

n
g
 a

n
d
 p

ro
te

ct
in

g
 v

u
ln

er
ab

le
 c

h
ild

re
n
 

2.
1 

P
ro
to
co
l f
or
 m

is
si
ng
 

ch
ild
re
n 
do
es
 n
ot
 

in
co
rp
or
at
e 
ch
ild
re
n 

m
is
si
ng
 fr
om

 e
du
ca
tio
n 
or
 

he
al
th
 s
et
tin
gs
 (
pa
ra
 1
9)
 

A
ll 
ch
ild
re
n 
w
ho
 

be
co
m
e 
‘m
is
si
ng

’ v
ia
 

an
y 
ag

en
cy
 a
re
 

kn
ow

n 
to
 a
ll 
ke
y 

ag
en
ci
es
 a
nd
 a
 c
le
ar
 

ac
tio
n 
pl
an
 in
 p
la
ce
 

fo
r 
th
em

 

D
an
ie
l 

C
ra
m
pt
on
, 

H
ea
d 
of
 

S
af
eg
ua
rd
in
g 

an
d 
R
ev
ie
w
 

P
ol
ic
y 
an
d 

P
ra
ct
ic
e 
su
b 

gr
ou
p,
 H
S
C
B
 

C
le
ar
 p
ro
to
co
l e
st
ab
lis
he
d 

an
d 
us
ed
 b
y 
al
l a
ge

nc
ie
s 
to
 

lin
k 
in
fo
rm

at
io
n 
re
ga

rd
in
g 

an
y 
m
is
si
ng
 c
hi
ld
 

 

F
eb
ru
ar
y 
20
11
 

 

2.
2 

H
S
C
B
 h
as
 n
ot
 a
na
ly
se
d 

in
fo
 g
at
he
re
d 
re
 m
is
si
ng
 

ch
ild
re
n 
to
 a
dd
re
ss
 a
re
as
 

of
 c
on
ce
rn
 (
pa
ra
 1
9)
 

H
S
C
B
 to

 r
eg
ul
ar
ly
 

re
ce
iv
e 
an
d 
an
al
ys
e 

in
fo
rm

at
io
n 
cr
os
s 

ag
en
cy
 r
e 
m
is
si
ng
 

ch
ild
re
n 
an
d 

ou
tc
om

es
 fo
r 
th
em

 

D
an
ie
l 

C
ra
m
pt
on
, 

H
ea
d 
of
 

S
af
eg
ua
rd
in
g 

an
d 
R
ev
ie
w
 

H
S
C
B
 

H
S
C
B
 B
us
in
es
s 
M
an
ag

er
 to
 

sc
he
du
le
 r
ep
or
tin
g 
to
 B
oa
rd
 

H
ea
d 
of
 S
af
eg
ua
rd
in
g 
an
d 

R
ev
ie
w
 to

 p
re
pa
re
 r
ep
or
ts
 

as
 n
ee
de
d 

D
ec
em

be
r 
20
10
 

 F
ro
m
 M
ar
ch
 2
01
1 

 

2.
3 

P
riv
at
e 
fo
st
er
in
g 

no
tif
ic
at
io
ns
 r
em

ai
n 
lo
w
 

an
d 
ar
e 
no
 e
ffe

ct
iv
el
y 

m
on
ito
re
d 
by
 H
S
C
B
 (
pa
ra
 

A
ll 
ch
ild
re
n 
w
ho
 a
re
 

pr
iv
at
el
y 
fo
st
er
ed
 in
 

H
er
ef
or
ds
hi
re
 a
re
 

id
en
tif
ie
d 
an
d 
th
ei
r 

S
te
ph
an
ie
 

R
ow

le
s,
 

In
te
rim

 H
ea
d 

of
 L
A
C
 

H
S
C
B
 

R
ai
se
 a
w
ar
en
es
s 
th
ro
ug
h 

lo
ca
lit
y 
te
am

s 
an
d 
M
ul
ti-

A
ge

nc
y 
G
ro
up
s 

C
on
tin
ue
 a
nn
ua
l m

ul
ti 

M
ar
ch
 2
01
1 

  M
ar
ch
 2
01
1 

 

123



K
im
 D
ra
ke
, A

ss
is
ta
nt
 D
ire
ct
or
; S

af
eg

ua
rd
in
g 
an
d 
V
ul
ne

ra
bl
e 
C
hi
ld
re
n 
S
er
vi
ce
 

T
el
: (
01
43

2)
 2
61

60
3 
E
m
ai
l: 
kd
ra
ke
@
he
re
fo
rd
sh
ire
.g
ov
.u
k 

8

R
ef
 

A
re
a 
fo
r 
im

p
ro
ve
m
en

t 
id
en

ti
fi
ed

 in
 t
h
e 

an
n
o
u
n
ce
d
 in

sp
ec
ti
o
n
 

O
u
tc
o
m
es
 t
o
 

ac
h
ie
ve
 

L
ea
d
 o
ff
ic
er
 

R
ep

o
rt
in
g
 t
o
 

(a
cc
o
u
n
ta
b
le
 

b
o
d
y)
 

K
ey
 a
ct
io
n
s 

T
im

es
ca
le
s 

U
I/P

R
 

21
) 

ar
ra
ng
em

en
ts
 

as
se
ss
ed
 a
nd
 

su
pp
or
te
d.
 

H
S
C
B
 e
ffe

ct
iv
el
y 

m
on
ito
r 
an
d 

sc
ru
tin
is
e 
ac
tiv
ity
. 

ag
en
cy
 tr
ai
ni
ng
 

R
ai
se
 a
w
ar
en
es
s 
th
ro
ug
h 

C
hi
ld
re
n’
s 
T
ru
st
 

H
av
e 
an
nu
al
 c
am

pa
ig
n 
to
 

ra
is
e 
aw

ar
en
es
s 
ac
ro
ss
 

H
er
ef
or
ds
hi
re
 

A
nn
ua
l r
ep
or
tin
g 
to
 H
S
C
B
 in
 

pl
ac
e 

 M
ar
ch
 2
01
1 

 M
ar
ch
 2
01
1 

  M
ar
ch
 2
01
1 

S
ec

ti
o
n
 3

: 
 M

u
lt
i-
ag

en
cy

 p
ro

ce
ss

es
 a

n
d
 w

o
rk

in
g
 

3.
1 

C
hi
ld
re
n’
s 
so
ci
al
 c
ar
e 
no
t 

co
nt
rib
ut
in
g 
ef
fe
ct
iv
el
y 
to
 

M
A
R
A
C
 p
ro
ce
ss
es
 

in
cl
ud
in
g 
re
fe
rr
in
g 
ca
se
s 

(p
ar
a 
20
) 

C
hi
ld
re
n’
s 
so
ci
al
 

ca
re
 to
 b
e 
a 

si
gn

ifi
ca
nt
 

co
nt
rib
ut
or
 to
 

M
A
R
A
C
 th

ro
ug
h 

at
te
nd
an
ce
 a
t 

m
ee
tin
gs
 a
nd
 

re
fe
rr
al
 o
f c
as
es
 

Li
sa
 G
re
en
, 

H
ea
d 
of
 

F
ie
ld
w
or
k 

D
om

es
tic
 A
bu
se
 

F
or
um

 
S
&
V
 S
en
io
r 

M
an
ag

em
en
t 

T
ea
m
  

Id
en
tif
y 
m
an
ag
er
 

re
pr
es
en
ta
tiv
e 
fr
om

 S
&
V
C
 

to
 a
tte

nd
 a
ll 
M
A
R
A
C
s.
 

H
ea
d 
of
 F
ie
ld
w
or
k 
to
 a
tte
nd
 

al
l d
om

es
tic
 v
io
le
nc
e 
fo
ru
m
 

m
ee
tin
gs
 

E
nd
 o
f N

ov
em

be
r 

20
10
 

 F
ro
m
 N
ov
em

be
r 

20
10
 

 

H
S
C
B
 

B
us
in
es
s 

M
an
ag

er
 

 
H
S
C
B
 to

 r
ec
ei
ve
 a
nd
 

an
al
ys
e 
in
fo
rm

at
io
n 
ab
ou
t 

M
A
R
A
C
 o
n 
re
gu

la
r 
ba
si
s 

F
ro
m
 M
ay
 2
01
1 

 

3.
2 

C
on
fir
m
ed
 fu

nd
in
g 
of
 

W
om

en
’s
 A
id
 fu

nc
tio
ns
 in
 

co
un
se
lli
ng

 c
hi
ld
re
n 
su
bj
ec
t 

to
 d
om

es
tic
 a
bu
se
 a
nd
 

sc
re
en
in
g 
of
 r
ef
er
ra
ls
 a
nd
 

C
A
F
s 
(p
ar
a 
20
) 

S
af
e 
sc
re
en
in
g 
 a
nd
 

as
se
ss
m
en
t o
f a

ll 
ch
ild
re
n 
re
fe
rr
ed
 to
 

W
om

en
’s
 A
id
 in
 

H
er
ef
or
ds
hi
re
 w
he
re
 

do
m
es
tic
 a
bu
se
 h
as
 

af
fe
ct
ed
 th
em

 

K
im
 D
ra
ke
, 

A
ss
is
ta
nt
 

D
ire
ct
or
 S
&
V
C
 

- 
C
on
fir
m
 fu

nd
in
g 
of
 

sc
re
en
in
g 
po
st
 fo
r 
20
11
/1
2 

O
ct
ob
er
 2
01
0 
– 

co
m
pl
et
ed
 

 

Ja
n 
F
ra
nc
es
, 

W
om

en
’s
 A
id
 

an
d 
Li
sa
 

G
re
en
, H

ea
d 

of
 F
ie
ld
w
or
k 

 
R
ec
ru
itm

en
t o
f p

os
t 

Ja
nu
ar
y 
20
11
 

 

124



K
im
 D
ra
ke
, A

ss
is
ta
nt
 D
ire
ct
or
; S

af
eg

ua
rd
in
g 
an
d 
V
ul
ne

ra
bl
e 
C
hi
ld
re
n 
S
er
vi
ce
 

T
el
: (
01
43

2)
 2
61

60
3 
E
m
ai
l: 
kd
ra
ke
@
he
re
fo
rd
sh
ire
.g
ov
.u
k 

9

R
ef
 

A
re
a 
fo
r 
im

p
ro
ve
m
en

t 
id
en

ti
fi
ed

 in
 t
h
e 

an
n
o
u
n
ce
d
 in

sp
ec
ti
o
n
 

O
u
tc
o
m
es
 t
o
 

ac
h
ie
ve
 

L
ea
d
 o
ff
ic
er
 

R
ep

o
rt
in
g
 t
o
 

(a
cc
o
u
n
ta
b
le
 

b
o
d
y)
 

K
ey
 a
ct
io
n
s 

T
im

es
ca
le
s 

U
I/P

R
 

3.
3 

Le
ve
ls
 o
f N

ee
d 
do
cu
m
en
t 

ne
ed
s 
to
 b
e 
fu
lly
 

un
de
rs
to
od
 b
y 
pa
rt
ne
rs
, 

th
re
sh
ol
ds
 te

st
ed
 a
nd
 

em
be
dd
ed
 in
 p
ar
tn
er
sh
ip
 

(p
ar
a 
33
) 

C
hi
ld
re
n 
an
d 
yo
un
g 

pe
op
le
 in
 

H
er
ef
or
ds
hi
re
 

re
ce
iv
e 
eq

ui
ta
bl
e 

se
rv
ic
es
 r
el
ev
an
t t
o 

ne
ed
 a
nd
 r
is
k 

C
hi
ld
re
n’
s 
w
or
kf
or
ce
 

st
af
f a
re
 c
on
fid
en
t i
n 

ap
pl
yi
ng

 th
e 
le
ve
ls
 o
f 

ne
ed
 fr
am

ew
or
k 

re
su
lti
ng
 in
 th
e 
rig

ht
 

ch
ild
re
n 
re
ce
iv
in
g 

th
e 
rig

ht
 le
ve
l o
f 

as
se
ss
m
en
t a

nd
 

se
rv
ic
e 

D
eb
bi
e 

M
cM

ill
an
, 

H
ea
d 
of
 

Lo
ca
lit
y 

S
er
vi
ce
s 
an
d 

S
ha
rr
on
 

G
oo
de
, 

W
or
kf
or
ce
 

S
tr
at
eg
y 

M
an
ag

er
 

C
hi
ld
re
n’
s 
T
ru
st
 

H
S
C
B
 

D
ev
el
op
 c
le
ar
 p
la
n 
fo
r 

em
be
dd
in
g 
fr
am

ew
or
k 

ac
ro
ss
 C
hi
ld
re
n’
s 
T
ru
st
 

D
ev
el
op
 a
nd
 d
el
iv
er
 

w
or
kf
or
ce
 d
ev
el
op
m
en
t 

m
od
ul
e 
ar
ou
nd
 th

e 
fr
am

ew
or
k 

E
va
lu
at
e 
an
d 
re
vi
ew

 s
ta
ff 

co
nf
id
en
ce
 a
nd
 k
no
w
le
dg

e 

F
ro
m
 N
ov
em

be
r 

20
10
 

 F
ro
m
 D
ec
em

be
r 

20
10
 

  M
ar
ch
 2
01
1 

U
I 

P
R
 

3.
4 

W
or
k 
of
 E
D
T
 a
de
qu

at
e 
bu
t 

no
t s
uf
fic
ie
nt
ly
 r
es
po
ns
iv
e 

(p
ar
a 
45
) 

E
D
T
 r
es
po
ns
iv
e 
to
 

ne
ed
s 
of
 k
ey
 

st
ak
eh
ol
de
rs
 a
nd
 

ul
tim

at
el
y 
en
su
rin
g 

ch
ild
re
n 
an
d 
yo
un
g 

pe
op
le
 r
ec
ei
ve
 a
 

go
od
 s
er
vi
ce
 d
ur
in
g 

no
n 
of
fic
e 
ho
ur
s 

K
im
 D
ra
ke
, 

A
ss
is
ta
nt
 

D
ire
ct
or
 S
&
V
C
 

S
&
V
C
 S
en
io
r 

M
an
ag

em
en
t 

T
ea
m
 

R
ev
ie
w
 a
nd
 r
e-
co
m
m
is
si
on
 

E
D
T
 s
er
vi
ce
 

D
ev
is
e 
ro
bu
st
 c
on
tr
ac
t 

m
on
ito
rin
g 
pr
oc
es
s 

M
ar
ch
 2
01
1 

 F
ro
m
 N
ov
em

be
r 

20
10
 

 

S
ec

ti
o
n
 4

: 
 E

ar
ly

 in
te

rv
en

ti
o
n
, i

n
cl

u
d
in

g
 C

o
m

m
o
n
 A

ss
es

sm
en

t 
F
ra

m
ew

o
rk

 (
C

A
F
) 

4.
1 

S
co
pe
 fo
r 
gr
ea
te
r 

in
vo
lv
em

en
t b

y 
sc
ho
ol
s 
in
 

C
A
F
 (
pa
ra
 2
3)
 

F
ul
l e
ng

ag
em

en
t o
f 

al
l s
ch
oo
ls
 w
ith
 th

e 
C
A
F
 p
ro
ce
ss
 

D
eb
bi
e 

M
cM

ill
an
, 

H
ea
d 
of
 

Lo
ca
lit
y 

S
er
vi
ce
s 

C
A
F
 S
te
er
in
g 

G
ro
up
 

Id
en
tif
y 
sc
ho
ol
s 
no
t 

en
ga
gi
ng
 in
 C
A
F
 p
ro
ce
ss
 

an
d 
de
ve
lo
p 
ro
bu
st
 a
ct
io
n 

pl
an
 to

 a
dd
re
ss
 

M
ar
ch
 2
01
1 

 

125



K
im
 D
ra
ke
, A

ss
is
ta
nt
 D
ire
ct
or
; S

af
eg

ua
rd
in
g 
an
d 
V
ul
ne

ra
bl
e 
C
hi
ld
re
n 
S
er
vi
ce
 

T
el
: (
01
43

2)
 2
61

60
3 
E
m
ai
l: 
kd
ra
ke
@
he
re
fo
rd
sh
ire
.g
ov
.u
k 

10
 

R
ef
 

A
re
a 
fo
r 
im

p
ro
ve
m
en

t 
id
en

ti
fi
ed

 in
 t
h
e 

an
n
o
u
n
ce
d
 in

sp
ec
ti
o
n
 

O
u
tc
o
m
es
 t
o
 

ac
h
ie
ve
 

L
ea
d
 o
ff
ic
er
 

R
ep

o
rt
in
g
 t
o
 

(a
cc
o
u
n
ta
b
le
 

b
o
d
y)
 

K
ey
 a
ct
io
n
s 

T
im

es
ca
le
s 

U
I/P

R
 

4.
2 

U
se
 o
f C

A
F
 c
on
si
st
en
tly
 

ap
pl
ie
d 
to
 c
hi
ld
re
n 
an
d 

yo
un
g 
pe
op
le
 n
o 
lo
ng

er
 

ne
ed
in
g 
so
ci
al
 c
ar
e 

se
rv
ic
es
 in
cl
ud
in
g 
R
A
T
 

po
st
 (
pa
ra
 2
4)
 

A
ll 
re
le
va
nt
 c
as
es
 

st
ep
pe
d 
do
w
n 
fr
om

 
so
ci
al
 c
ar
e 
ha
ve
 

te
am

 a
ro
un
d 
th
e 

ch
ild
 v
ia
 lo
ca
lit
y 

te
am

s 
C
A
F
 is
 c
on
si
st
en
tly
 

us
ed
 to
 id
en
tif
y 

ne
ed
s 
fo
r 
ch
ild
re
n 

ul
tim

at
el
y 
re
fe
rr
ed
 to
 

so
ci
al
 c
ar
e 

D
eb
bi
e 

M
cM

ill
an
, 

H
ea
d 
of
 

Lo
ca
lit
y 

S
er
vi
ce
s 

C
Y
P
D
 

D
ire
ct
or
at
e 

Le
ad
er
sh
ip
 

T
ea
m
 

E
m
be
d 
ag
re
ed
 p
ro
to
co
l a
nd
 

m
ec
ha
ni
sm

s 
fo
r 
st
ep
pi
ng
 

do
w
n 
fr
om

 c
hi
ld
re
n’
s 
so
ci
al
 

ca
re
, i
nc
lu
di
ng

 tr
ai
ni
ng
 fo
r 

st
af
f 

C
on
tin
ue
d 
fo
cu
s 
on
 

di
ve
rt
in
g 
re
le
va
nt
 r
ef
er
ra
ls
 

to
 C
S
C
 to
 C
A
F
. 

P
er
fo
rm

an
ce
 m

on
ito
rin
g 

th
ro
ug
h 
m
an
ag
em

en
t 

in
fo
rm

at
io
n 

F
ro
m
 N
ov
em

be
r 

20
10
 

   F
ro
m
 N
ov
em

be
r 

20
10
 

 F
ro
m
 N
ov
em

be
r 

20
10
 

 

4.
3 

F
ur
th
er
 in
te
ns
iv
e 
w
or
k 
is
 

re
qu

ire
d 
to
 p
re
ve
nt
 

te
en
ag
er
s 
en
te
rin
g 
th
e 
ca
re
 

sy
st
em

 u
nn
ec
es
sa
ril
y 
(p
ar
a 

66
) 

A
 c
le
ar
ly
 

co
m
m
is
si
on
ed
 ‘e
dg

e 
of
 c
ar
e’
 s
er
vi
ce
 th

at
 

ca
n 
w
or
k 
to
 p
re
ve
nt
 

th
is
 

K
at
hy
 

O
’M
ah
on

y,
 

A
ss
is
ta
nt
 

D
ire
ct
or
 

C
om

m
un
ity
 

O
pe
ra
tio
ns
 

Jo
in
t 

C
om

m
is
si
on
in
g 

G
ro
up
  

S
co
pe
 p
ot
en
tia
l m

od
el
/s
 

an
d 
co
st
s 

A
gr
ee
 n
ew

 s
er
vi
ce
 th

ro
ug
h 

Jo
in
t C

om
m
is
si
on
in
g 
G
ro
up
 

F
eb
ru
ar
y 
20
11
 

 

S
ec

ti
o
n
 5

: 
 H

u
m

an
 R

es
o
u
rc

es
 

5.
1 

Im
pr
ov
e 
re
cr
ui
tm

en
t a

nd
 

se
le
ct
io
n 
in
fo
 in
 p
er
so
nn
el
 

fil
es
 (
pa
ra
 2
5)
 

A
ll 
pe
rs
on
ne
l f
ile
s 
fo
r 

ch
ild
re
n 
w
or
kf
or
ce
 

ha
ve
 c
le
ar
 

in
fo
rm

at
io
n 
ab
ou
t 

re
cr
ui
tm
en
t a
nd
 

se
le
ct
io
n 
fo
r 

re
fe
re
nc
e 
an
d 
au
di
t. 

     

M
el
 

G
an
de
rt
on
, H

R
 

M
an
ag

er
 

D
LT

 
C
on
du
ct
 a
 c
om

pl
et
e 
fil
e 

au
di
t f
or
 a
ll 
C
Y
P
D
 

D
ev
el
op
 p
er
so
nn
el
 fi
le
 

ch
ec
kl
is
t, 
en
su
rin
g 
lin
k 

be
tw
ee
n 
C
R
B
 d
at
ab
as
e 
an
d 

pe
rs
on
ne
l f
ile
 

S
en
d 
co
m
m
un
ic
at
io
n 
to
 

sc
ho
ol
s 
re
ga
rd
in
g 
pr
e 

em
pl
oy
m
en
t c
he
ck
s,
 a
nd
 

th
e 
ne
ed
 to
 e
vi
de
nc
e 
to
 

lo
ca
l a
ut
ho
rit
y.
 

M
ar
ch
 2
01
1 

 

126



K
im
 D
ra
ke
, A

ss
is
ta
nt
 D
ire
ct
or
; S

af
eg

ua
rd
in
g 
an
d 
V
ul
ne

ra
bl
e 
C
hi
ld
re
n 
S
er
vi
ce
 

T
el
: (
01
43

2)
 2
61

60
3 
E
m
ai
l: 
kd
ra
ke
@
he
re
fo
rd
sh
ire
.g
ov
.u
k 

11
 

R
ef
 

A
re
a 
fo
r 
im

p
ro
ve
m
en

t 
id
en

ti
fi
ed

 in
 t
h
e 

an
n
o
u
n
ce
d
 in

sp
ec
ti
o
n
 

O
u
tc
o
m
es
 t
o
 

ac
h
ie
ve
 

L
ea
d
 o
ff
ic
er
 

R
ep

o
rt
in
g
 t
o
 

(a
cc
o
u
n
ta
b
le
 

b
o
d
y)
 

K
ey
 a
ct
io
n
s 

T
im

es
ca
le
s 

U
I/P

R
 

S
ec

ti
o
n
 6

: 
 H

er
ef

o
rd

sh
ir
e 

S
af

eg
u
ar

d
in

g
 C

h
ild

re
n
 B

o
ar

d
 

6.
1 

LA
D
O
 r
ep
or
tin
g 
an
d 

an
al
ys
is
 r
eq

ui
re
d 
by
 H
S
C
B
 

in
cl
ud
in
g 
lo
w
 r
ef
er
ra
l r
at
e 

fr
om

 p
ol
ic
e 
an
d 
he
al
th
 

(p
ar
a 
33
) 

R
ob
us
t a

na
ly
si
s 
of
 

LA
D
O
 a
ct
iv
ity
 to

 
en
su
re
 c
hi
ld
re
n 
ar
e 

sa
fe
 fr
om

 
pr
of
es
si
on
al
 a
du
lts
 

D
an
ie
l 

C
ra
m
pt
on
, 

H
ea
d 
of
 

S
af
eg
ua
rd
in
g 

an
d 
R
ev
ie
w
 

H
S
C
B
 

R
eg

ul
ar
 r
ep
or
tin
g 
of
 L
A
D
O
 

ac
tiv
ity
 a
nd
 c
ha
lle
ng

es
 to
 

H
S
C
B
 

In
cr
ea
se
 a
w
ar
en
es
s 
of
 

re
sp
on
si
bi
lit
y 
am

on
gs
t 

pa
rt
ne
r 
ag
en
ci
es
 e
sp
ec
ia
lly
 

he
al
th
 a
nd
 p
ol
ic
e 

Q
ua
rt
er
ly
 fr
om

 
Ja
nu
ar
y 
20
11
 

 F
ro
m
 J
an
ua
ry
 2
01
1 

 

6.
2 

A
ge

nc
ie
s 
do
 n
ot
 a
lw
ay
s 

es
ca
la
te
 c
on
ce
rn
s 
w
he
n 

th
ey
 r
el
at
e 
to
 a
 p
ar
tn
er
 

ag
en
cy
 (
pa
ra
 3
4)
 

E
ns
ur
e 
th
at
 

ag
en
ci
es
 e
ffe

ct
iv
el
y 

es
ca
la
te
 c
on
ce
rn
s 

w
ith
 p
ar
tn
er
 

ag
en
ci
es
 a
nd
 th
at
 

ap
pr
op
ria
te
 r
em

ed
ia
l 

ac
tio
n 
is
 ta
ke
n 

K
im
 D
ra
ke
, 

A
ss
is
ta
nt
 

D
ire
ct
or
 S
&
V
C
 

P
ol
ic
y 
an
d 

P
ra
ct
ic
e 
su
b 

gr
ou
p,
 H
S
C
B
 

R
ev
ie
w
 a
nd
 r
el
au
nc
h 
H
S
C
B
 

es
ca
la
tio
n 
po
lic
y 

D
ec
em

be
r 
20
10
 

P
R
 

6.
3 

P
er
fo
rm

an
ce
 m

on
ito
rin
g 
by
 

H
S
C
B
 is
 c
ur
re
nt
ly
 

in
ad
eq

ua
te
 a
nd
 it
 d
oe
s 
no
t 

re
ce
iv
e 
no
r 
ef
fe
ct
iv
el
y 

an
al
ys
e 
su
ffi
ci
en
t 

in
fo
rm

at
io
n 
to
 o
ffe
r 
an
 

ac
cu
ra
te
 o
ve
rs
ig
ht
 o
f 

ag
en
ci
es
’ s
af
eg
ua
rd
in
g 

pr
ac
tic
e 
(p
ar
a 
50
) 

E
ns
ur
e 
th
at
 s
uf
fic
ie
nt
 

in
fo
rm

at
io
n 
is
 g
iv
en
 

to
, a
nd
 e
ffe

ct
iv
el
y 

an
al
ys
ed
 b
y,
 th

e 
H
S
C
B
 to

 in
cl
ud
e 
th
e 

ou
tc
om

es
 o
f s
in
gl
e 

an
d 
m
ul
ti-
ag
en
cy
 

au
di
ts
 s
o 
th
at
 it
 c
an
 

ef
fe
ct
iv
el
y 
m
on
ito
r 

sa
fe
gu

ar
di
ng
 a
nd
 

ch
ild
 p
ro
te
ct
io
n 
an
d 

ho
ld
 a
ge

nc
ie
s 
to
 

ac
co
un
t. 

H
ila
ry
 H
al
l, 

H
ea
d 
of
 

Q
ua
lit
y 
an
d 

Im
pr
ov
em

en
t 

Q
ua
lit
y 

A
ss
ur
an
ce
 a
nd
 

E
va
lu
at
io
n 
su
b 

gr
ou
p,
 H
S
C
B
 

D
ev
is
e 
m
od
el
 fo

r 
ag
en
ci
es
 

to
 u
se
 to
 g
iv
e 
ef
fe
ct
iv
e 

in
fo
rm

at
io
n 
to
 Q
A
 g
ro
up
 

F
ro
m
 J
an
ua
ry
 2
01
1 

 
P
R
 

S
ue
 D
oh
en
y,
 

D
ire
ct
or
 o
f 

Q
ua
lit
y 
an
d 

C
lin
ic
al
 

Le
ad
er
sh
ip
 

H
S
C
B
 S
tr
at
eg
ic
 

B
oa
rd
 

E
ns
ur
e 
ef
fe
ct
iv
e 
an
al
ys
is
 o
f 

in
fo
rm

at
io
n 
th
ro
ug
h 
Q
A
 

gr
ou
p 
m
em

be
rs
hi
p 
an
d 

op
er
at
in
g 
m
od
el
 

F
ro
m
 F
eb
ru
ar
y 

20
11
 

 

127



K
im
 D
ra
ke
, A

ss
is
ta
nt
 D
ire
ct
or
; S

af
eg

ua
rd
in
g 
an
d 
V
ul
ne

ra
bl
e 
C
hi
ld
re
n 
S
er
vi
ce
 

T
el
: (
01
43

2)
 2
61

60
3 
E
m
ai
l: 
kd
ra
ke
@
he
re
fo
rd
sh
ire
.g
ov
.u
k 

12
 

R
ef
 

A
re
a 
fo
r 
im

p
ro
ve
m
en

t 
id
en

ti
fi
ed

 in
 t
h
e 

an
n
o
u
n
ce
d
 in

sp
ec
ti
o
n
 

O
u
tc
o
m
es
 t
o
 

ac
h
ie
ve
 

L
ea
d
 o
ff
ic
er
 

R
ep

o
rt
in
g
 t
o
 

(a
cc
o
u
n
ta
b
le
 

b
o
d
y)
 

K
ey
 a
ct
io
n
s 

T
im

es
ca
le
s 

U
I/P

R
 

6.
4 

S
ev
er
al
 a
sp
ec
ts
 o
f H

S
C
B
 

pe
rf
or
m
an
ce
 fr
am

ew
or
k 

ha
ve
 y
et
 to

 b
e 
de
ve
lo
pe
d 

(p
ar
a 
50
) 

Im
pl
em

en
t w

ho
le
 

pe
rf
or
m
an
ce
 

fr
am

ew
or
k 
fo
r 
H
S
C
B
  

E
ns
ur
e 
th
at
 H
S
C
B
 

ha
s 
su
ffi
ci
en
t 

op
er
at
io
na
l c
ap
ac
ity
 

to
 p
er
fo
rm

 it
s 
ro
le
 

ef
fe
ct
iv
el
y.
  

H
ila
ry
 H
al
l, 

H
ea
d 
of
 

Q
ua
lit
y 
an
d 

Im
pr
ov
em

en
t 

an
d 
S
ue
 

D
oh
en
y,
 

D
ire
ct
or
 o
f 

Q
ua
lit
y 
an
d 

C
lin
ic
al
 

Le
ad
er
sh
ip
 

H
S
C
B
 S
tr
at
eg
ic
 

B
oa
rd
 

D
ev
el
op
 a
nd
 a
gr
ee
 

pe
rf
or
m
an
ce
 fr
am

ew
or
k 

Im
pl
em

en
t p
er
fo
rm

an
ce
 

fr
am

ew
or
k 

M
on

ito
r 
im
pl
em

en
ta
tio
n 

A
gr
ee
 m
od
el
 fo
r 
fu
tu
re
 

bu
si
ne
ss
 u
ni
t i
n 
co
nj
un
ct
io
n 

w
ith
 A
du
lt 
S
af
eg
ua
rd
in
g 

B
oa
rd
 

R
ec
ru
it 
to
 b
us
in
es
s 
un
it 

Ja
nu
ar
y 
20
11
 

 F
ro
m
 F
eb
ru
ar
y 

20
11
 

F
ro
m
 A
pr
il 
20
11
 

N
ov
em

be
r 
20
10
 

   Ja
nu
ar
y 
20
11
 

P
R
 

6.
5 

La
ck
 o
f c
om

pl
ia
nc
e 
at
 

H
S
C
B
 b
y 
ag

en
ci
es
 in
 

pr
od
uc
in
g 
re
po
rt
s 
on
 

pe
rf
or
m
an
ce
 (
pa
ra
 5
0)
 

A
ll 
ag

en
ci
es
 c
om

pl
y 

w
ith
 r
eq
ui
re
d 

pe
rf
or
m
an
ce
 

re
po
rt
in
g 
as
 s
et
 o
ut
 

by
 B
us
in
es
s 

m
an
ag
er
 

H
ila
ry
 H
al
l, 

H
ea
d 
of
 

Q
ua
lit
y 
an
d 

Im
pr
ov
em

en
t 

H
S
C
B
 

B
us
in
es
s 

M
an
ag

er
 

H
S
C
B
 S
te
er
in
g 

G
ro
up
 

P
ro
vi
de
 c
le
ar
 in
fo
rm

at
io
n 

ab
ou
t r
eq
ui
re
m
en
ts
, c
yc
le
 o
f 

tim
es
ca
le
s 
an
d 
co
nt
en
t 

Ja
nu
ar
y 
20
11
 (
as
 

pa
rt
 o
f p

er
fo
rm

an
ce
 

fr
am

ew
or
k)
 

P
R
 

128



K
im
 D
ra
ke
, A

ss
is
ta
nt
 D
ire
ct
or
; S

af
eg

ua
rd
in
g 
an
d 
V
ul
ne

ra
bl
e 
C
hi
ld
re
n 
S
er
vi
ce
 

T
el
: (
01
43

2)
 2
61

60
3 
E
m
ai
l: 
kd
ra
ke
@
he
re
fo
rd
sh
ire
.g
ov
.u
k 

13
 

R
ef
 

A
re
a 
fo
r 
im

p
ro
ve
m
en

t 
id
en

ti
fi
ed

 in
 t
h
e 

an
n
o
u
n
ce
d
 in

sp
ec
ti
o
n
 

O
u
tc
o
m
es
 t
o
 

ac
h
ie
ve
 

L
ea
d
 o
ff
ic
er
 

R
ep

o
rt
in
g
 t
o
 

(a
cc
o
u
n
ta
b
le
 

b
o
d
y)
 

K
ey
 a
ct
io
n
s 

T
im

es
ca
le
s 

U
I/P

R
 

6.
6 

- 
E
ns
ur
e 
di
st
in
ct
io
n 

be
tw
ee
n 
C
hi
ld
re
n’
s 

T
ru
st
 a
nd
 H
S
C
B
 

ro
le
s 

C
hr
is
 B
ai
rd
, 

A
ss
is
ta
nt
 

D
ire
ct
or
, 

P
la
nn
in
g,
 

P
er
fo
rm

an
ce
 

an
d 

D
ev
el
op
m
en
t 

H
S
C
B
 

C
hi
ld
re
n’
s 
T
ru
st
 

E
st
ab
lis
h 
S
ta
y 
S
af
e 

ou
tc
om

e 
gr
ou
p 
as
 p
ar
t o
f 

C
hi
ld
re
n’
s 
T
ru
st
, r
ep
or
tin
g 

di
re
ct
ly
 to

 th
e 
C
hi
ld
re
n’
s 

T
ru
st
 M
an
ag

em
en
t G

ro
up
. 

S
ta
y 
S
af
e 
ou
tc
om

e 
gr
ou
p 
to
 

es
ta
bl
is
h 
an
d 
de
liv
er
 

20
10
/1
1 
de
liv
er
y 
pl
an
, 

re
po
rt
 c
ar
d 

H
S
C
B
 S
te
er
in
g 
G
ro
up
 to
 

re
co
nf
ig
ur
e 
w
or
k 

pr
og
ra
m
m
e 
an
d 
H
S
C
B
 

B
us
in
es
s 
P
la
n 
to
 r
ef
le
ct
 

ch
an
ge
 a
nd
 c
on
ce
nt
ra
te
 o
n 

H
S
C
B
 a
ct
iv
ity
 

O
ct
ob
er
 2
01
0 
– 

re
vi
ew

 e
ffe

ct
iv
en
es
s 

by
 F
eb
ru
ar
y 
20
11
 

  D
ec
em

be
r 
20
10
 

   D
ec
em

be
r 
20
10
 

P
R
 

S
ec

ti
o
n
 7

: 
 P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 m

an
ag

em
en

t 
an

d
 q

u
al

it
y 

as
su

ra
n
ce

 

129



K
im
 D
ra
ke
, A

ss
is
ta
nt
 D
ire
ct
or
; S

af
eg

ua
rd
in
g 
an
d 
V
ul
ne

ra
bl
e 
C
hi
ld
re
n 
S
er
vi
ce
 

T
el
: (
01
43

2)
 2
61

60
3 
E
m
ai
l: 
kd
ra
ke
@
he
re
fo
rd
sh
ire
.g
ov
.u
k 

14
 

R
ef
 

A
re
a 
fo
r 
im

p
ro
ve
m
en

t 
id
en

ti
fi
ed

 in
 t
h
e 

an
n
o
u
n
ce
d
 in

sp
ec
ti
o
n
 

O
u
tc
o
m
es
 t
o
 

ac
h
ie
ve
 

L
ea
d
 o
ff
ic
er
 

R
ep

o
rt
in
g
 t
o
 

(a
cc
o
u
n
ta
b
le
 

b
o
d
y)
 

K
ey
 a
ct
io
n
s 

T
im

es
ca
le
s 

U
I/P

R
 

7.
1 

T
he
 c
ou
nc
il 
ha
s 
no
t 

en
su
re
d 
su
ffi
ci
en
t 

aw
ar
en
es
s 
of
 th
ei
r 

co
m
pl
ai
nt
s 
pr
oc
es
s 
an
d 

ea
rly
 r
es
ol
ut
io
n 
of
 

co
m
pl
ai
nt
s 
is
 n
ot
 r
ec
or
de
d 

an
d 
an
al
ys
ed
 to

 id
en
tif
y 

tr
en
ds
 (
pa
ra
 3
5)
 

T
he
re
 is
 li
m
ite
d 
ev
id
en
ce
 

th
at
 y
ou
ng

 p
eo
pl
e 
ar
e 

ap
pr
op
ria
te
ly
 e
nc
ou
ra
ge
d 

an
d 
en
ab
le
d 
to
 c
om

pl
ai
n 

an
d 
co
m
m
en
t t
hr
ou
gh
 th
e 

co
m
pl
ai
nt
s 
pr
oc
es
s.
  T

he
 

vi
ew

 o
f t
he
 c
ou
nc
il 
is
 th

at
 

in
fo
rm

al
 s
ys
te
m
s 
ar
e 
us
ed
 

ef
fe
ct
iv
el
y 
to
 r
es
ol
ve
 is
su
es
 

(p
ar
a 
74
) 

E
ns
ur
e 
th
at
 c
hi
ld
re
n 

an
d 
yo
un
g 
pe
op
le
 

kn
ow

 h
ow

 to
 m
ak
e 
a 

co
m
pl
ai
nt
, a
nd
 th
at
 

ea
rly
 r
es
ol
ut
io
n 
of
 

co
m
pl
ai
nt
s 
is
 

re
co
rd
ed
, t
he
m
es
 

ar
e 
id
en
tif
ie
d 
to
 le
ar
n 

le
ss
on
s,
 a
nd
 

ap
pr
op
ria
te
 a
ct
io
n 
is
 

ta
ke
n 

C
Y
P
D
 is
 a
bl
e 
to
 

an
al
ys
e 
tr
en
ds
 a
nd
 

im
pr
ov
e 
se
rv
ic
es
 

ac
co
rd
in
gl
y 

H
ila
ry
 H
al
l, 

H
ea
d 
of
 

Q
ua
lit
y 
an
d 

Im
pr
ov
em

en
t 

C
Y
P
D
 

D
ire
ct
or
at
e 

Le
ad
er
sh
ip
 

T
ea
m
 

E
ns
ur
e 
th
at
 c
om

pl
ai
nt
s 

le
af
le
ts
 s
en
t o

ut
 to
 a
ll 

se
rv
ic
e 
us
er
s 
at
 p
oi
nt
 o
f 

co
nt
ac
t w

ith
 d
ire
ct
or
at
e 

E
ns
ur
e 
al
l C

Y
P
D
 s
ta
ff 

aw
ar
e 
of
 th

ei
r 
re
sp
on
si
bi
lit
y 

to
 d
is
se
m
in
at
e 
co
m
pl
ai
nt
s 

in
fo
rm

at
io
n.
 

D
ev
is
e 
sy
st
em

 fo
r 
co
lla
tin
g 

‘s
of
t’ 
in
fo
rm

at
io
n 
re
 p
ot
en
tia
l 

co
m
pl
ai
nt
s 
an
d 
ea
rly
 

re
so
lu
tio
n,
 r
ep
or
tin
g 
to
 D
LT

 
R
ep
or
t  
bi
 a
nn
ua
lly
 to

 
C
or
po
ra
te
 p
ar
en
tin
g 
pa
ne
l 

an
d 
S
&
V
C
 S
M
T
 fo
r 
ch
an
ge

s 
to
 s
er
vi
ce
 

N
ov
em

be
r 
20
10
 

   F
ro
m
 D
ec
em

be
r 

20
10
 –
 q
ua
rt
er
ly
 

up
da
te
s 

 Ja
nu
ar
y 
20
11
 

   F
ro
m
 A
pr
il 
20
11
 

 

7.
2 

E
le
ct
ro
ni
c 
re
co
rd
in
g 

sy
st
em

 d
oe
s 
no
t e
ffe

ct
iv
el
y 

su
pp
or
t e
ffe

ct
iv
e 
de
liv
er
y 
of
 

ch
ild
re
n’
s 
so
ci
al
 c
ar
e 
so
ci
al
 

w
or
ke
rs
 a
nd
 s
ta
ff 
or
 

pr
ov
id
e 
us
ef
ul
 

m
an
ag
em

en
t i
nf
or
m
at
io
n 
or
 

pe
rf
or
m
an
ce
 r
ep
or
ts
 (
pa
ra
 

51
) 

Im
pr
ov
e 
th
e 

el
ec
tr
on
ic
 r
ec
or
di
ng
 

sy
st
em

 s
o 
th
at
 it
 c
an
 

pr
od
uc
e 
ac
cu
ra
te
 

in
fo
rm

at
io
n 
an
d 

pe
rf
or
m
an
ce
 c
an
 b
e 

ef
fe
ct
iv
el
y 

m
on
ito
re
d.
 

H
ila
ry
 H
al
l, 

H
ea
d 
of
 

Q
ua
lit
y 
an
d 

Im
pr
ov
em

en
t 

F
ra
m
ew

or
ki
 

B
us
in
es
s 

S
tr
at
eg
y 
F
or
um

 
S
&
V
C
 S
en
io
r 

M
an
ag

em
en
t 

T
ea
m
 

D
ire
ct
or
at
e 

Le
ad
er
sh
ip
 

T
ea
m
 

R
ec
on
fig
ur
e 
F
ra
m
ew

or
ki
 

ep
is
od
es
 a
nd
 r
ep
or
tin
g 

fu
nc
tio
ns
 in
 li
ne
 w
ith
 a
ct
io
n 

pl
an
 

T
ra
in
 s
ta
ff 
on
 a
ny
 c
ha
ng
es
 

 A
gr
ee
 k
ey
 c
ha
ng
es
 th
ro
ug
h 

S
M
T
 

O
ct
ob
er
 2
01
0 
– 

M
ar
ch
 2
01
1 

  O
ct
ob
er
 2
01
0 
– 

M
ar
ch
 2
01
1 

O
ct
ob
er
 2
01
0 
– 

M
ar
ch
 2
01
1 

U
I 

130



K
im
 D
ra
ke
, A

ss
is
ta
nt
 D
ire
ct
or
; S

af
eg

ua
rd
in
g 
an
d 
V
ul
ne

ra
bl
e 
C
hi
ld
re
n 
S
er
vi
ce
 

T
el
: (
01
43

2)
 2
61

60
3 
E
m
ai
l: 
kd
ra
ke
@
he
re
fo
rd
sh
ire
.g
ov
.u
k 

15
 

R
ef
 

A
re
a 
fo
r 
im

p
ro
ve
m
en

t 
id
en

ti
fi
ed

 in
 t
h
e 

an
n
o
u
n
ce
d
 in

sp
ec
ti
o
n
 

O
u
tc
o
m
es
 t
o
 

ac
h
ie
ve
 

L
ea
d
 o
ff
ic
er
 

R
ep

o
rt
in
g
 t
o
 

(a
cc
o
u
n
ta
b
le
 

b
o
d
y)
 

K
ey
 a
ct
io
n
s 

T
im

es
ca
le
s 

U
I/P

R
 

7.
3 

M
on

ito
rin
g 
by
 th

e 
co
un
ci
l o
f 

ac
tio
ns
 ta
ke
n 
fo
llo
w
in
g 

au
di
ts
 is
 v
ar
ia
bl
e 
an
d 
no
t 

co
ns
is
te
nt
ly
 r
es
ul
te
d 
in
 

si
gn

ifi
ca
nt
 im

pr
ov
em

en
t 

(p
ar
a 
51
) 

E
ns
ur
e 
th
at
 th

er
e 
is
 

ef
fe
ct
iv
e 

pe
rf
or
m
an
ce
 

m
on
ito
rin
g 
in
cl
ud
in
g 

su
ffi
ci
en
tly
 in
 d
ep
th
 

au
di
tin
g 
w
hi
ch
 

en
su
re
s 
go

od
 a
nd
 

tim
el
y 
so
ci
al
 w
or
k 

re
sp
on
si
ve
ne
ss
, 

as
se
ss
m
en
t a

nd
 

ca
re
 p
la
nn
in
g.
  

A
ud
its
 u
nd
er
ta
ke
n 

by
 c
hi
ld
re
n’
s 
so
ci
al
 

ca
re
 a
re
 in
 d
ep
th
 

an
d 
ro
bu
st
ly
 

ch
al
le
ng

in
g 
pr
ac
tic
e 

an
d 
sy
st
em

s 
to
 

en
su
re
 th
at
 

ou
tc
om

es
 fo
r 

ch
ild
re
n 
ar
e 
go

od
 

C
hr
is
 B
ai
rd
, 

A
ss
is
ta
nt
 

D
ire
ct
or
, 

P
la
nn
in
g,
 

P
er
fo
rm

an
ce
 

an
d 

D
ev
el
op
m
en
t 

an
d 
H
ila
ry
 H
al
l, 

H
ea
d 
of
 

Q
ua
lit
y 
an
d 

Im
pr
ov
em

en
t 

S
&
V
C
 S
en
io
r 

M
an
ag

em
en
t 

T
ea
m
 

C
Y
P
D
 Q
ua
lit
y 

A
ss
ur
an
ce
 

G
ro
up
 

R
ev
ie
w
 a
nd
 r
ev
is
e 
cu
rr
en
t 

au
di
t t
oo
l 

R
ev
is
e 
pr
og

ra
m
m
e 
fo
r 

au
di
ts
 w
ith
 fo

cu
s 
on
 k
ey
 

ar
ea
s 
 

D
ev
is
e 
m
on
ito
rin
g 
to
ol
 fo
r 

us
e 
ac
ro
ss
 th
e 
di
re
ct
or
at
e 

Q
ua
lit
y 
as
su
re
 a
ud
it 
pr
oc
es
s 

an
d 
ac
tio
ns
 to
 e
ns
ur
e 

ch
an
ge

s 
m
ad
e 

D
ec
em

be
r 
20
10
 

 D
ec
em

be
r 
20
10
 

  D
ec
em

be
r 
20
10
 

 B
i-m

on
th
ly
 r
ep
or
ts
 

st
ar
tin
g 
F
eb
ru
ar
y 

20
11
 

U
I 

P
R
 

7.
4 

C
hi
ld
 p
ro
te
ct
io
n 
co
nf
er
en
ce
 

ch
ai
rs
 e
va
lu
at
io
n 
of
 a
ll 

ca
se
s 
ha
s 
sl
ow

 im
pa
ct
 o
f  

im
pr
ov
ed
 p
er
fo
rm

an
ce
 e
.g
. 

re
po
rt
s 
fr
om

 s
oc
ia
l w

or
ke
rs
 

to
 c
on
fe
re
nc
e 
no
t i
n 
go

od
 

tim
e 
af
fe
ct
in
g 
sh
ar
in
g 
of
 

in
fo
rm

at
io
n 
w
ith
 c
ol
le
ag

ue
s 

(p
ar
a 
52
) 

Im
pa
ct
 o
f c
on
fe
re
nc
e 

ch
ai
rs
 c
as
e 

ev
al
ua
tio
ns
 is
 v
is
ib
le
 

an
d 
em

be
dd
ed
 

qu
ic
kl
y 
in
to
 p
ra
ct
ic
e 

im
pr
ov
in
g 
ou
tc
om

es
 

fo
r 
ch
ild
re
n 
an
d 

yo
un
g 
pe
op
le
 

D
an
ie
l 

C
ra
m
pt
on
, 

H
ea
d 
of
 

S
af
eg
ua
rd
in
g 

an
d 
R
ev
ie
w
 

S
&
V
C
 S
en
io
r 

M
an
ag

em
en
t 

T
ea
m
 

C
Y
P
D
 Q
ua
lit
y 

A
ss
ur
an
ce
 

G
ro
up
 

A
na
ly
se
 R
A
G
 r
at
in
gs
 o
n 
bi
-

m
on
th
ly
 b
as
is
 

U
pd
at
e 
R
A
G
 fo
rm

 to
 a
lig
n 

w
ith
 a
ud
it 
pr
oc
es
s 

D
ev
el
op
 s
ki
lls
 a
nd
 

aw
ar
en
es
s 
am

on
gs
t s
oc
ia
l 

ca
re
 m
an
ag
er
s 
an
d 
te
am

s 
 -
 

jo
in
t t
ra
in
in
g 

F
ro
m
 D
ec
em

be
r 

20
10
 

D
ec
em

be
r 
20
10
 

 F
ro
m
 J
an
ua
ry
 2
01
1 

 

131



K
im
 D
ra
ke
, A

ss
is
ta
nt
 D
ire
ct
or
; S

af
eg

ua
rd
in
g 
an
d 
V
ul
ne

ra
bl
e 
C
hi
ld
re
n 
S
er
vi
ce
 

T
el
: (
01
43

2)
 2
61

60
3 
E
m
ai
l: 
kd
ra
ke
@
he
re
fo
rd
sh
ire
.g
ov
.u
k 

16
 

R
ef
 

A
re
a 
fo
r 
im

p
ro
ve
m
en

t 
id
en

ti
fi
ed

 in
 t
h
e 

an
n
o
u
n
ce
d
 in

sp
ec
ti
o
n
 

O
u
tc
o
m
es
 t
o
 

ac
h
ie
ve
 

L
ea
d
 o
ff
ic
er
 

R
ep

o
rt
in
g
 t
o
 

(a
cc
o
u
n
ta
b
le
 

b
o
d
y)
 

K
ey
 a
ct
io
n
s 

T
im

es
ca
le
s 

U
I/P

R
 

7.
5 

T
he
 C
ou
nc
il 
cu
rr
en
tly
 d
oe
s 

no
t h

av
e 
an
 in
de
pe
nd
en
t 

vi
si
tin
g 
se
rv
ic
e 
an
d 
is
 in
 

pr
oc
es
s 
of
 n
eg
ot
ia
tin
g 
a 

co
nt
ac
t t
o 
de
liv
er
 o
ne
 (
pa
ra
 

68
) 

E
ns
ur
e 
th
at
 a
n 

in
de
pe
nd
en
t v
is
ito
r 

se
rv
ic
e 
is
 

es
ta
bl
is
he
d 

D
an
ie
l 

C
ra
m
pt
on
, 

H
ea
d 
of
 

S
af
eg
ua
rd
in
g 

an
d 
R
ev
ie
w
 

C
Y
P
D
 

D
ire
ct
or
at
e 

Le
ad
er
sh
ip
 

T
ea
m
 

S
co
pe
 a
nd
 c
os
t 

re
qu

ire
m
en
ts
 

R
ep
or
t t
o 
D
LT

 

M
ar
ch
 2
01
1 

 

S
ec

ti
o
n
 8

: 
 H

ea
lt
h
 

8.
1 

T
he
 c
ur
re
nt
 s
ex
ua
l a
ss
au
lt 

ex
am

in
at
io
n 
ar
ra
ng
em

en
ts
 

fo
r 
ch
ild
re
n 
an
d 
yo
un
g 

pe
op
le
 a
re
 n
ot
 r
es
ou
rc
ed
 

w
ith
 a
pp
ro
pr
ia
te
ly
 q
ua
lif
ie
d 

an
d 
ex
pe
rie
nc
ed
 c
lin
ic
ia
ns
 

to
 c
on
du
ct
 e
xa
m
in
at
io
ns
 

(p
ar
a 
36
) 

E
ns
ur
e 
th
at
 w
he
re
 

th
er
e 
ar
e 
co
nc
er
ns
 

th
at
 c
hi
ld
re
n 
an
d 

yo
un
g 
pe
op
le
 h
av
e 

be
en
 s
ex
ua
lly
 

ab
us
ed
, t
he
y 
ha
ve
 

ac
ce
ss
 to
 ti
m
el
y 

as
se
ss
m
en
ts
 in
 a
 

su
ita
bl
e 
en
vi
ro
nm

en
t 

w
ith
 a
pp
ro
pr
ia
te
ly
 

tr
ai
ne
d 
an
d 

ex
pe
rie
nc
ed
 

cl
in
ic
ia
ns
 

N
ei
l F
ra
se
r,
 

D
es
ig
na
te
d 

D
oc
to
r 

H
S
C
B
 

R
ev
ie
w
 c
om

m
is
si
on
in
g 

ar
ra
ng
em

en
ts
 fo
r 
 

ch
ild
re
n/
yo
un
g 
pe
op
le
 w
ho
 

m
ay
 h
av
e 
be
en
 s
ex
ua
lly
 

as
sa
ul
te
d 
an
d 
de
ve
lo
p 

se
rv
ic
e 
sp
ec
ifi
ca
tio
ns
 to
 

un
de
rp
in
 th

e 
se
rv
ic
e.
 

R
ec
om

m
is
si
on
 th
e 
se
rv
ic
e 

 

31
 M
ar
ch
 2
01
1 

 

8.
2 

R
ec
ep
tio
n 
ar
ea
 in
 H
er
ef
or
d 

ho
sp
ita
l a
nd
 c
om

m
un
ity
 

ho
sp
ita
ls
 a
re
 in
ap
pr
op
ria
te
 

fo
r 
ch
ild
re
n 
an
d 
do
 n
ot
 

pr
ov
id
e 
a 
se
pa
ra
te
 a
re
a 
fo
r 

th
em

 (
pa
ra
 3
7)
 

E
ns
ur
e 
re
ce
pt
io
n 

ar
ea
s 
ar
e 

ap
pr
op
ria
te
 fo
r 

ch
ild
re
n 
an
d 
re
vi
ew

 
th
e 
fe
as
ib
ili
ty
 o
f a

ll 
ho
sp
ita
l r
ec
ep
tio
n 

ar
ea
s 
ha
ve
 

ap
pr
op
ria
te
  a

nd
 

se
pa
ra
te
 c
hi
ld
 

fr
ie
nd
ly
 fa

ci
lit
ie
s 

M
ar
ia
 H
ar
dy
, 

S
er
vi
ce
 

Im
pr
ov
em

en
t 

M
an
ag

er
 

N
H
S
H
 

P
er
fo
rm

an
ce
 

an
d 
Q
ua
lit
y 

B
oa
rd
 

E
st
ab
lis
h 
a 
w
or
ki
ng
 g
ro
up
 

un
de
r 
th
e 
au
sp
ic
es
 o
f 

in
te
gr
at
ed
 c
om

m
is
si
on
in
g 

w
hi
ch
 d
ra
w
s 
its
 m
em

be
rs
hi
p 

fr
om

 a
cr
os
s 
bo
th
 P
C
T
 a
nd
 

H
H
T
 to
 r
ev
ie
w
 th

e 
Y
ou
’re
 

W
el
co
m
e 
st
ra
te
gy
 a
nd
 h
ow

 
th
is
 m
ig
ht
 b
e 
co
ns
id
er
ed
 / 

in
fo
rm

 w
or
k 
re
 C
hi
ld
re
ns
 

pa
th
w
ay
 a
nd
 IC

O
 

T
o 
be
 c
on
fir
m
ed
 

 

132



K
im
 D
ra
ke
, A

ss
is
ta
nt
 D
ire
ct
or
; S

af
eg

ua
rd
in
g 
an
d 
V
ul
ne

ra
bl
e 
C
hi
ld
re
n 
S
er
vi
ce
 

T
el
: (
01
43

2)
 2
61

60
3 
E
m
ai
l: 
kd
ra
ke
@
he
re
fo
rd
sh
ire
.g
ov
.u
k 

17
 

R
ef
 

A
re
a 
fo
r 
im

p
ro
ve
m
en

t 
id
en

ti
fi
ed

 in
 t
h
e 

an
n
o
u
n
ce
d
 in

sp
ec
ti
o
n
 

O
u
tc
o
m
es
 t
o
 

ac
h
ie
ve
 

L
ea
d
 o
ff
ic
er
 

R
ep

o
rt
in
g
 t
o
 

(a
cc
o
u
n
ta
b
le
 

b
o
d
y)
 

K
ey
 a
ct
io
n
s 

T
im

es
ca
le
s 

U
I/P

R
 

8.
3 

W
ith
in
 N
H
S
H
 la
ck
 o
f 

un
de
rs
ta
nd
in
g 
an
d 
pr
ac
tic
e 

of
 ‘b
es
t i
nt
er
es
t’ 
de
ci
si
on
 

m
ak
in
g 
w
ith
 in
ap
pr
op
ria
te
 

us
e 
of
 d
at
a 
pr
ot
ec
tio
n 
an
d 

co
nf
id
en
tia
lit
y 
fo
r 
16
-1
8 

ye
ar
 o
ld
s 
(p
ar
a 
38
) 

E
ns
ur
e 
al
l C

A
M
H
s 

pr
ac
tit
io
ne
rs
 a
re
 

aw
ar
e 
an
d 

im
pl
em

en
t ‘
be
st
 

in
te
re
st
 d
ec
is
io
n 

m
ak
in
g’
 fo
r 
al
l y
ou
ng
 

pe
op
le
 

Ly
nn
e 
R
en
to
n,
 

H
ea
d 
of
 

S
af
eg
ua
rd
in
g,
 

N
H
S
H
 a
nd
 

H
az
el
 

B
la
nk
le
y,
 X
 

N
H
S
 

H
er
ef
or
ds
hi
re
 

B
oa
rd
 

E
xp
lo
re
 th

e 
cu
rr
en
t t
ra
in
in
g 

pr
ov
id
ed
 o
n 
C
lin
ic
al
 

co
nf
er
en
ce
 d
ay
s 
re
 

ex
tr
ap
ol
at
in
g 
M
C
A
 tr
ai
ni
ng
 

to
 e
na
bl
e 
m
or
e 
in
 d
ep
th
 

se
ss
io
ns
 to
 b
e 
de
liv
er
ed
 fo

r 
th
e 
M
en
ta
l h
ea
lth
 

D
ire
ct
or
at
e 
an
d 
ot
he
r 

cl
in
ic
ia
ns
 w
ho
se
 r
ol
e 

su
gg

es
ts
 th

ey
 n
ee
d 
su
ch
 

tr
ai
ni
ng
   

E
ns
ur
e 
al
l C

A
M
H
s 

pr
ac
tit
io
ne
rs
 a
re
 a
w
ar
e 
an
d 

im
pl
em

en
t ‘
be
st
 in
te
re
st
 

de
ci
si
on
 m

ak
in
g’
 fo
r 
al
l 

yo
un
g 
pe
op
le
 b
y 
gr
ou
p 

se
ss
io
ns
 

31
 M
ar
ch
 2
01
1 

 

133



K
im
 D
ra
ke
, A

ss
is
ta
nt
 D
ire
ct
or
; S

af
eg

ua
rd
in
g 
an
d 
V
ul
ne

ra
bl
e 
C
hi
ld
re
n 
S
er
vi
ce
 

T
el
: (
01
43

2)
 2
61

60
3 
E
m
ai
l: 
kd
ra
ke
@
he
re
fo
rd
sh
ire
.g
ov
.u
k 

18
 

R
ef
 

A
re
a 
fo
r 
im

p
ro
ve
m
en

t 
id
en

ti
fi
ed

 in
 t
h
e 

an
n
o
u
n
ce
d
 in

sp
ec
ti
o
n
 

O
u
tc
o
m
es
 t
o
 

ac
h
ie
ve
 

L
ea
d
 o
ff
ic
er
 

R
ep

o
rt
in
g
 t
o
 

(a
cc
o
u
n
ta
b
le
 

b
o
d
y)
 

K
ey
 a
ct
io
n
s 

T
im

es
ca
le
s 

U
I/P

R
 

8.
4 

La
ck
 o
f u

nd
er
st
an
di
ng
 

w
ith
in
 C
A
M
H
S
 a
nd
 a
du
lt 

m
en
ta
l h
ea
lth
 s
er
vi
ce
s 
re
 

th
re
sh
ol
ds
 (
pa
ra
 3
8)
 

A
du
lt 
M
en
ta
l H

ea
lth
 

an
d 
C
A
M
H
S
 s
ta
ff 

un
de
rs
ta
nd
 

ch
ild
re
n’
s 
ne
ed
s 
an
d 

th
e 
pa
th
w
ay
s 
op
en
 

to
 th
em

 to
 a
dd
re
ss
 

su
ch
 n
ee
d.
 

M
 H
em

m
in
g,
 

Ly
nn
e 
R
en
to
n,
 

H
ea
d 
of
 

S
af
eg
ua
rd
in
g 

N
H
S
H
 a
nd
 

H
az
el
 

B
la
nk
le
y,
  

T
o 
be
 c
on
fir
m
ed
 

E
st
ab
lis
h 
a 
st
ar
t a

nd
 fi
ni
sh
 

gr
ou
p 
to
 e
xp
lo
re
 th
e 

in
te
rf
ac
e 
be
tw
ee
n 
ad
ul
t 

m
en
ta
l h
ea
lth
 a
nd
 C
A
M
H
S
 

D
el
iv
er
 tr
ai
ni
ng
 fo
r 
A
du
lt 

M
en
ta
l H

ea
lth
/C
A
M
H
S
 a
nd
 

T
ea
m
 L
ea
de
rs
 r
eg
ar
di
ng
 

le
ve
ls
 o
f n

ee
d 
do
cu
m
en
t 

E
ns
ur
e 
le
ve
ls
 o
f n

ee
d 
ar
e 

in
co
rp
or
at
ed
 in
to
 b
i m

on
th
ly
 

pe
er
 g
ro
up
 a
ud
its
 

In
co
rp
or
at
e 
Le
ve
ls
 o
f N

ee
d 

do
cu
m
en
ta
tio
n 
in
to
 H
ea
lth
 

le
ve
l 2
 s
af
eg
ua
rd
in
g 
tr
ai
ni
ng
 

C
ro
ss
 r
ef
er
en
ce
 L
ev
el
s 
of
 

N
ee
d 
do
cu
m
en
ta
tio
n 
in
to
 

H
ea
lth
 S
in
gl
e 
A
ge

nc
y 

G
ui
da
nc
e 

T
o 
be
 c
on
fir
m
ed
 

 

8.
5 

A
bs
en
ce
 o
f t
ra
ns
iti
on
 

pl
an
ni
ng

 fo
r 
yo
un
g 
pe
op
le
 

w
ho
 h
av
e 
re
ce
iv
ed
 C
A
M
H
s 

se
rv
ic
e 
ou
ts
id
e 
of
 c
ou
nt
y 

an
d 
re
tu
rn
 to
 H
er
ef
or
ds
hi
re
 

re
qu

iri
ng
 a
du
lt 
m
en
ta
l 

he
al
th
 s
er
vi
ce
s 
(p
ar
a 
38
) 

Y
ou
ng

 p
eo
pl
e 

re
tu
rn
in
g 
fr
om

 ti
er
 4
 

se
rv
ic
es
 r
ec
ei
ve
 a
 

se
am

le
ss
 s
er
vi
ce
. 

M
ar
ia
 H
ar
dy
, 

S
er
vi
ce
 

Im
pr
ov
em

en
t 

M
an
ag

er
 

N
H
S
 

H
er
ef
or
ds
hi
re
 

P
er
fo
rm

an
ce
 

an
d 
Q
ua
lit
y 

C
om

m
itt
ee
 

E
st
ab
lis
h 
cl
ea
r 
pa
th
w
ay
s 
as
 

pa
rt
 o
f t
he
 ti
er
 4
 

co
m
m
is
si
on
in
g 
pr
oc
es
s 
an
d 

co
m
m
un
ic
at
e 
th
em

 to
 b
ot
h 

C
A
M
H
S
 a
nd
 A
du
lt 
M
en
ta
l 

H
ea
lth
 d
ire
ct
or
at
e.
 

E
ns
ur
e 
in
fo
rm

at
io
n 
an
d 

co
m
m
un
ic
at
io
n 
be
tw
ee
n 

ag
en
ci
es
 e
ffe

ct
iv
el
y 
en
ab
le
s 

tr
an
si
tio
n.
 

T
o 
be
 c
on
fir
m
ed
 

 

134



K
im
 D
ra
ke
, A

ss
is
ta
nt
 D
ire
ct
or
; S

af
eg

ua
rd
in
g 
an
d 
V
ul
ne

ra
bl
e 
C
hi
ld
re
n 
S
er
vi
ce
 

T
el
: (
01
43

2)
 2
61

60
3 
E
m
ai
l: 
kd
ra
ke
@
he
re
fo
rd
sh
ire
.g
ov
.u
k 

19
 

R
ef
 

A
re
a 
fo
r 
im

p
ro
ve
m
en

t 
id
en

ti
fi
ed

 in
 t
h
e 

an
n
o
u
n
ce
d
 in

sp
ec
ti
o
n
 

O
u
tc
o
m
es
 t
o
 

ac
h
ie
ve
 

L
ea
d
 o
ff
ic
er
 

R
ep

o
rt
in
g
 t
o
 

(a
cc
o
u
n
ta
b
le
 

b
o
d
y)
 

K
ey
 a
ct
io
n
s 

T
im

es
ca
le
s 

U
I/P

R
 

8.
6 

S
om

e 
va
ca
nc
ie
s 
ex
is
t f
or
 

sc
ho
ol
 n
ur
se
s 
an
d 
he
al
th
 

vi
si
to
rs
 (
pa
ra
 5
4)
 

Im
pa
ct
 o
f v
ac
an
ci
es
 

in
 a
ny
 a
ge

nc
y 
is
 

an
al
ys
ed
 a
nd
 r
is
k 

as
se
ss
ed
 b
y 
H
S
C
B
 

if 
af
fe
ct
in
g 

sa
fe
gu

ar
di
ng
 o
f 

ch
ild
re
n 

Ly
nn
e 
R
en
to
n,
 

H
ea
d 
of
 

S
af
eg
ua
rd
in
g 

N
H
S
H
 

H
S
C
B
 S
te
er
in
g 

G
ro
up
 

Q
ua
rt
er
ly
 r
ep
or
t t
o 
Q
&
A
 s
ub
 

gr
ou
p 
re
 v
ac
an
ci
es
 w
hi
ch
 

co
nt
ai
ns
 in
fo
rm

at
io
n 

re
ga

rd
in
g 
th
e 
re
cr
ui
tm

en
t 

pr
oc
es
s 
ad
op
te
d.
   
 

 
P
R
 

S
ec

ti
o
n
 9

: 
 C

h
ild

re
n
 w

it
h
 d

is
ab

ili
ti
es

 
9.
1 

P
ar
en
ts
 o
f c
hi
ld
re
n 
w
ith
 

di
sa
bi
lit
ie
s 
sa
y 

co
m
m
un
ic
at
io
n 
in
ef
fe
ct
iv
e 

be
tw
ee
n 
ag

en
ci
es
 a
nd
 

pa
th
w
ay
s 
un
cl
ea
r 
in
cl
ud
in
g 

tr
an
si
tio
ns
 to
 a
du
lt 
se
rv
ic
es
 

(p
ar
a 
40
) 

P
ar
en
ts
 c
le
ar
ly
 

aw
ar
e 
of
  i
nt
eg
ra
te
d 

ca
re
 p
ac
ka
ge

s 
an
d 

pa
th
w
ay
s 
fo
r 
th
ei
r 

ch
ild
re
n 

M
ar
ia
 H
ar
dy
, 

S
er
vi
ce
 

Im
pr
ov
em

en
t 

M
an
ag

er
 a
nd
 

Le
s 
K
ni
gh
t, 

H
ea
d 
of
 

A
dd
iti
on
al
 

N
ee
ds
 

C
hi
ld
re
n’
s 
T
ru
st
 

M
an
ag

em
en
t 

G
ro
up
 

E
st
ab
lis
h 
cl
ea
r 
pa
th
w
ay
s 

an
d 
co
m
m
un
ic
at
e 
th
em

 to
 

pa
re
nt
s 
an
d 
be
tw
ee
n 

ag
en
ci
es
 

E
ns
ur
e 
in
fo
rm

at
io
n 
an
d 

co
m
m
un
ic
at
io
n 
be
tw
ee
n 

ag
en
ci
es
 e
ffe

ct
iv
el
y 
en
ab
le
s 

tr
an
si
tio
n 

F
ro
m
 J
an
ua
ry
 2
01
1 

   M
ar
ch
 2
01
1 

 

9.
2 

In
su
ffi
ci
en
t e

ng
ag
em

en
t o
f 

fa
m
ili
es
 c
hi
ld
re
n 
an
d 

pr
of
es
si
on
al
s 
in
 A
im
in
g 

H
ig
h 
ho
lid
ay
 p
ro
gr
am

m
e 

(p
ar
a 
40
) 

Im
pr
ov
ed
 

en
ga
ge
m
en
t o
f 

fa
m
ili
es
 c
hi
ld
re
n 
an
d 

pr
of
es
si
on
al
s 
in
 

fu
tu
re
 o
f A

im
in
g 
H
ig
h 

P
ro
gr
am

m
e 

K
at
hy
 R
ob
er
ts
, 

A
ss
is
ta
nt
 

D
ire
ct
or
, 

Im
pr
ov
em

en
t 

an
d 
In
cl
us
io
n 

C
hi
ld
re
n’
s 
T
ru
st
 

M
an
ag

em
en
t 

G
ro
up
 

P
re
pa
ra
tio
n 
an
d 

di
ss
em

in
at
io
n 
of
 p
ro
gr
am

m
e 

to
 b
e 
co
m
pl
et
ed
 b
y 

D
ec
em

be
r 
fo
r 
fo
llo
w
in
g 

ye
ar
. 

P
ro
m
ot
io
na
l e
ve
nt
s 
to
 b
e 

ru
n 
w
ith
in
 lo
ca
lit
ie
s 
an
d 

sp
ec
ia
lis
t p

ro
vi
si
on
. 

D
ec
em

be
r 
20
10
 

    Ja
n-
M
ar
ch
 2
01
1 

 

S
ec

ti
o
n
 1

0:
  C

as
e 

re
co

rd
in

g
 a

n
d
 p

la
n
n
in

g
 

135



K
im
 D
ra
ke
, A

ss
is
ta
nt
 D
ire
ct
or
; S

af
eg

ua
rd
in
g 
an
d 
V
ul
ne

ra
bl
e 
C
hi
ld
re
n 
S
er
vi
ce
 

T
el
: (
01
43

2)
 2
61

60
3 
E
m
ai
l: 
kd
ra
ke
@
he
re
fo
rd
sh
ire
.g
ov
.u
k 

20
 

R
ef
 

A
re
a 
fo
r 
im

p
ro
ve
m
en

t 
id
en

ti
fi
ed

 in
 t
h
e 

an
n
o
u
n
ce
d
 in

sp
ec
ti
o
n
 

O
u
tc
o
m
es
 t
o
 

ac
h
ie
ve
 

L
ea
d
 o
ff
ic
er
 

R
ep

o
rt
in
g
 t
o
 

(a
cc
o
u
n
ta
b
le
 

b
o
d
y)
 

K
ey
 a
ct
io
n
s 

T
im

es
ca
le
s 

U
I/P

R
 

10
.1
 

D
el
ay
s 
in
 s
ha
rin
g 
de
ci
si
on
s 

fr
om

 s
tr
at
eg
y 
m
ee
tin
gs
 

(p
ar
a 
46
) 

E
ns
ur
e 
th
at
 m

in
ut
es
 

fr
om

 c
hi
ld
 p
ro
te
ct
io
n 

st
ra
te
gy
 m

ee
tin
gs
 

an
d 
di
sc
us
si
on
s 
ar
e 

sh
ar
ed
 w
ith
in
 

pr
es
cr
ib
ed
 

tim
es
ca
le
s.
  

Li
sa
 G
re
en
, 

H
ea
d 
of
 

F
ie
ld
w
or
k 

R
&
A
 S
er
vi
ce
 

Im
pr
ov
em

en
t 

G
ro
up
 

S
&
V
C
 S
en
io
r 

M
an
ag

em
en
t 

T
ea
m
 

D
ev
is
e 
im
pr
ov
ed
 s
ys
te
m
 fo
r 

en
su
rin
g 
im
m
ed
ia
te
 s
ha
rin
g 

of
 d
ec
is
io
ns
 

D
ev
is
e 
m
on
ito
rin
g 
sy
st
em

 to
 

en
su
re
 th
is
 is
 h
ap
pe
ni
ng
 

Ja
nu
ar
y 
20
11
 

  Ja
nu
ar
y 
20
11
 

 

10
.2
 

N
ot
 a
ll 
ch
ild
 p
ro
te
ct
io
n 

co
nf
er
en
ce
 m
in
ut
es
 c
on
ta
in
 

cl
ea
r 
an
d 
he
lp
fu
l 

su
m
m
ar
ie
s 
of
 k
ey
 is
su
es
, 

ne
ed
s 
an
d 
ris
ks
.  
S
om

e 
ch
ild
 p
ro
te
ct
io
n 
pl
an
s 
ar
e 

no
t s
uf
fic
ie
nt
ly
 s
pe
ci
fic
 a
nd
 

m
ea
su
ra
bl
e 
(p
ar
a 
46
) 

A
ll 
ch
ild
 p
ro
te
ct
io
n 

m
in
ut
es
 m

us
t 

co
nt
ai
n 
cl
ea
r 

su
m
m
ar
y 
of
 k
ey
 

is
su
es
 w
ith
 S
M
A
R
T
 

pl
an
s 
to
 p
ro
te
ct
 

ch
ild
re
n 

D
an
ie
l 

C
ra
m
pt
on
, 

H
ea
d 
of
 

S
af
eg
ua
rd
in
g 

an
d 
R
ev
ie
w
 

S
&
V
C
 S
en
io
r 

M
an
ag

em
en
t 

T
ea
m
 

Q
ua
lit
y 

A
ss
ur
an
ce
 a
nd
 

E
va
lu
at
io
n 
su
b 

gr
ou
p,
 H
S
C
B
 

D
ev
el
op
 c
hi
ld
 p
ro
te
ct
io
n 

co
nf
er
en
ce
 c
ha
irs
 to
 d
el
iv
er
 

sm
ar
te
r 
su
m
m
ar
ie
s 
an
d 

pl
an
s 

D
ev
is
e 
m
on
ito
rin
g 
sy
st
em

 to
 

ch
ec
k 
im
pr
ov
em

en
ts
 

R
ep
or
t t
o 
Q
A
 s
ub
 g
ro
up
 o
f 

H
S
C
B
 o
n 
pr
og
re
ss
 

F
eb
ru
ar
y 
20
11
 

   F
eb
ru
ar
y 
20
11
 

 F
ro
m
 M
ar
ch
 2
01
1 

 

10
.3
 

W
hi
ls
t t
he
 m
aj
or
ity
 o
f 

re
po
rt
s 
an
d 
ca
re
 p
la
ns
 fo
r 

LA
C
H
Y
P
 a
re
 o
f a

 g
oo
d 

qu
al
ity
 th

is
 is
 n
ot
 y
et
 

co
ns
is
te
nt
 (
pa
ra
 6
2)
 

A
ll 
re
po
rt
s 
an
d 
ca
se
 

pl
an
s 
fo
r 
lo
ok
ed
 a
fte
r 

ch
ild
re
n 
an
d 
yo
un
g 

pe
op
le
 a
re
 o
f g

oo
d 

co
ns
is
te
nt
 q
ua
lit
y 
to
 

en
su
re
 b
es
t 

ou
tc
om

es
 fo
r 
th
em

 

S
te
ph
an
ie
 

R
ow

le
s,
 in
te
rim

 
H
ea
d 
of
 L
A
C
 

S
&
V
C
 S
en
io
r 

M
an
ag

em
en
t 

T
ea
m
 

P
ro
m
ot
e 
st
an
da
rd
s 
at
 

de
ve
lo
pm

en
t d

ay
 fo

r 
te
am

 
E
m
be
d 
in
 p
ra
ct
ic
e 
th
ro
ug
h 

A
ss
is
ta
nt
 T
ea
m
 M
an
ag

er
s 

an
d 
A
dv
an
ce
d 
P
ra
ct
iti
on
er
 

N
ov
em

be
r 
20
10
 

 F
ro
m
 D
ec
em

be
r 

20
10
 

 

D
an
ie
l 

C
ra
m
pt
on
, 

H
ea
d 
of
 

S
af
eg
ua
rd
in
g 

an
d 
R
ev
ie
w
 

C
Y
P
D
 Q
ua
lit
y 

A
ss
ur
an
ce
 

G
ro
up
 

M
on

ito
r 
th
ro
ug
h 
R
A
G
 r
at
in
g 

an
d 
au
di
t p
ro
ce
ss
 

R
ep
or
t b

i-m
on
th
ly
 to

 C
Y
P
D
 

Q
ua
lit
y 
A
ss
ur
an
ce
 G
ro
up
 

D
ev
el
op
 tr
ai
ni
ng

 a
nd
 

de
ve
lo
pm

en
t s
es
si
on
s 
fo
r 

st
af
f b

as
ed
 o
n 
is
su
es
 a
ris
in
g 

F
ro
m
 D
ec
em

be
r 

20
10
 

F
ro
m
 D
ec
em

be
r 

20
10
 

F
ro
m
 J
an
ua
ry
 2
01
1 

 

136



K
im
 D
ra
ke
, A

ss
is
ta
nt
 D
ire
ct
or
; S

af
eg

ua
rd
in
g 
an
d 
V
ul
ne

ra
bl
e 
C
hi
ld
re
n 
S
er
vi
ce
 

T
el
: (
01
43

2)
 2
61

60
3 
E
m
ai
l: 
kd
ra
ke
@
he
re
fo
rd
sh
ire
.g
ov
.u
k 

21
 

R
ef
 

A
re
a 
fo
r 
im

p
ro
ve
m
en

t 
id
en

ti
fi
ed

 in
 t
h
e 

an
n
o
u
n
ce
d
 in

sp
ec
ti
o
n
 

O
u
tc
o
m
es
 t
o
 

ac
h
ie
ve
 

L
ea
d
 o
ff
ic
er
 

R
ep

o
rt
in
g
 t
o
 

(a
cc
o
u
n
ta
b
le
 

b
o
d
y)
 

K
ey
 a
ct
io
n
s 

T
im

es
ca
le
s 

U
I/P

R
 

10
.4
 

R
ec
or
di
ng
 is
su
es
 (
pa
ra
 

47
):
 

§ 
re
tr
os
pe
ct
iv
e 
ca
se
 a
nd
 

su
pe
rv
is
io
n 
re
co
rd
in
g 

§ 
la
ck
 o
f c
hr
on
ol
og
ie
s 

§ 
st
ar
t m

ee
tin
gs
 n
ot
 

w
rit
te
n 
up
 p
ro
m
pt
ly
 

§ 
ch
ild
 p
ro
te
ct
io
n 

co
nf
er
en
ce
 m
in
ut
es
 n
ot
 

pr
od
uc
ed
 fo
r 
se
ve
ra
l 

w
ee
ks
 

§ 
re
co
rd
s 
ke
pt
 in
 d
iff
er
en
t 

pl
ac
es
 o
n 
sy
st
em

 
 N
ot
 a
ll 
LA

C
 c
as
es
 h
av
e 

ch
ro
no
lo
gi
es
 m

ak
in
g 
it 

di
ffi
cu
lt 
to
 u
nd
er
st
an
d 

fa
m
ily
 h
is
to
ry
 (
pa
ra
 7
7)
 

E
ns
ur
e 
th
at
 a
ll 
ca
se
 

fil
es
 h
av
e 
co
m
pl
et
e 

ch
ro
no
lo
gi
es
 a
nd
 

th
at
 c
as
e 
re
co
rd
in
g 

is
 u
p 
to
 d
at
e 
 

C
as
e 
re
co
rd
in
g 
fo
r 

lo
ok
ed
 a
fte
r 
ch
ild
re
n 

ne
ed
s 
to
 c
on
si
st
en
tly
 

of
 g
oo
d 
qu

al
ity
 to

 
en
su
re
 th
at
 p
la
ns
 

an
d 
in
te
rv
en
tio
n 
is
 

fo
cu
ss
ed
 o
n 
ke
y 

ou
tc
om

es
 a
nd
 th

at
 

ch
ild
re
n 
an
d 
yo
un
g 

pe
op
le
 c
an
 b
e 

in
vo
lv
ed
 in
 th

is
 

pr
oc
es
s 
an
d 
ha
ve
 

go
od
 in
fo
rm

at
io
n 

re
co
rd
ed
 a
bo
ut
 k
ey
 

ev
en
ts
 in
 th

ei
r 
liv
es
 

Li
sa
 G
re
en
, 

H
ea
d 
of
 

F
ie
ld
w
or
k,
 

S
te
ph
an
ie
 

R
ow

le
s,
 in
te
rim

 
H
ea
d 
of
 L
A
C
 

an
d 
H
ila
ry
 H
al
l, 

H
ea
d 
of
 

Q
ua
lit
y 
an
d 

Im
pr
ov
em

en
t 

S
&
V
C
 S
en
io
r 

M
an
ag

em
en
t 

T
ea
m
 

C
le
ar
 in
st
ru
ct
io
n 
to
 s
ta
ff 
re
 

co
m
pl
ia
nc
e 
on
 th
is
 is
su
e 

an
d 
pr
ac
tic
e 
no
te
 w
ith
 

gu
id
an
ce
 r
e 
w
hy
 th

is
 

im
po
rt
an
t 

T
em

pl
at
e 
fo
r 
ch
ro
no
lo
gi
es
 

to
 b
e 
de
vi
se
d 
w
ith
 3
 m

on
th
 

up
da
te
 a
s 
st
an
da
rd
 

E
vi
de
nc
e 
im
pr
ov
em

en
ts
 

th
ro
ug
h 
on
go

in
g 
au
di
t 

pr
og
ra
m
m
e 

E
nd
 o
f N

ov
em

be
r 

20
10
 

   Ja
nu
ar
y 
20
11
 

  F
ro
m
 F
eb
ru
ar
y 

20
11
 

U
I 

10
.5
 

D
el
ay
s 
in
 r
ev
ie
w
 d
ec
is
io
ns
, 

ac
tio
ns
 a
nd
 m

in
ut
es
 b
ei
ng
 

di
st
rib
ut
ed
 w
ith
 im

pa
ct
 o
n 

ac
tio
ns
 b
ei
ng
 ta
ke
n 
fo
r 

ch
ild
re
n 
an
d 
yo
un
g 
pe
op
le
 

(p
ar
a 
77
) 

A
ll 
re
vi
ew

 d
ec
is
io
ns
 

an
d 
ac
tio
ns
 to
 b
e 

di
st
rib
ut
ed
 in
 a
 

tim
el
y 
w
ay
 to

 a
gr
ee
d 

st
an
da
rd
s 
to
 e
ns
ur
e 

th
at
 in
te
rv
en
tio
ns
 

ca
n 
pr
oc
ee
d 
in
 

in
fo
rm

ed
 w
ay
 a
nd
 

yo
un
g 
pe
op
le
 c
an
 b
e 

in
vo
lv
ed
 in
 th

is
 

pr
oc
es
s 
fu
ll.
 

D
an
ie
l 

C
ra
m
pt
on
, 

H
ea
d 
of
 

S
af
eg
ua
rd
in
g 

an
d 
R
ev
ie
w
 

an
d 
H
ila
ry
 H
al
l, 

H
ea
d 
of
 

Q
ua
lit
y 
an
d 

Im
pr
ov
em

en
t 

S
&
V
C
 S
en
io
r 

M
an
ag

em
en
t 

T
ea
m
  

C
le
ar
 b
ac
kl
og
 o
f 

ou
ts
ta
nd
in
g 
m
in
ut
es
  

R
ev
ie
w
 s
ys
te
m
 a
nd
 

st
an
da
rd
 o
f ‘
m
in
ut
es
’ 

de
ci
si
on
s 
an
d 
ac
tio
ns
 

E
m
be
d 
an
d 
ac
hi
ev
e 

co
m
pl
ia
nc
e 
to
 s
ta
nd
ar
d 

M
on

ito
r 
an
d 
re
vi
ew

 

20
 D
ec
em

be
r 
20
10
 

 Ja
nu
ar
y 
20
11
 

  M
ar
ch
 2
01
1 

 F
ro
m
 A
pr
il 
20
11
 

th
ro
ug
h 
m
on
th
ly
 

re
po
rt
s 
fr
om

 S
en
io
r 

C
oo
rd
in
at
or
 

 

137



K
im
 D
ra
ke
, A

ss
is
ta
nt
 D
ire
ct
or
; S

af
eg

ua
rd
in
g 
an
d 
V
ul
ne

ra
bl
e 
C
hi
ld
re
n 
S
er
vi
ce
 

T
el
: (
01
43

2)
 2
61

60
3 
E
m
ai
l: 
kd
ra
ke
@
he
re
fo
rd
sh
ire
.g
ov
.u
k 

22
 

R
ef
 

A
re
a 
fo
r 
im

p
ro
ve
m
en

t 
id
en

ti
fi
ed

 in
 t
h
e 

an
n
o
u
n
ce
d
 in

sp
ec
ti
o
n
 

O
u
tc
o
m
es
 t
o
 

ac
h
ie
ve
 

L
ea
d
 o
ff
ic
er
 

R
ep

o
rt
in
g
 t
o
 

(a
cc
o
u
n
ta
b
le
 

b
o
d
y)
 

K
ey
 a
ct
io
n
s 

T
im

es
ca
le
s 

U
I/P

R
 

10
.6
 

P
at
hw

ay
 p
la
ns
 a
re
 

co
m
pl
et
ed
 a
lth
ou
gh

 th
e 

qu
al
ity
 is
 v
ar
ia
bl
e 
an
d 
ar
e 

no
t f
ul
ly
 e
m
be
dd
ed
 in
 

pr
ac
tic
e 
or
 u
se
d 
as
 w
or
ki
ng
 

do
cu
m
en
t (
pa
ra
 7
7)
 

C
ar
e 
pl
an
s 
an
d 
pa
th
w
ay
 

pl
an
s 
ar
e 
no
t a
lw
ay
s 

ce
nt
ra
l i
n 
w
or
k 
un
de
rt
ak
en
 

w
ith
 c
hi
ld
re
n 
an
d 
yo
un
g 

pe
op
le
. (
pa
ra
 7
7)
 

§ 
ca
re
 p
la
ns
 n
ot
 a
lw
ay
s 

up
da
te
d 
fo
llo
w
in
g 

ch
an
ge
 o
f 

ci
rc
um

st
an
ce
s 

§ 
pa
th
w
ay
 p
la
nn

in
g 
no
t 

al
w
ay
s 
de
ta
ile
d 
an
d 

cl
ea
r 

E
ns
ur
e 
th
at
 c
ar
e 
an
d 

pa
th
w
ay
 p
la
ns
 a
re
 o
f 

go
od
 q
ua
lit
y 
an
d 

re
gu

la
rly
 u
pd
at
ed
 

an
d 
th
at
 th
ey
 a
re
 

us
ed
 to
 d
el
iv
er
 

ef
fe
ct
iv
e 
se
rv
ic
es
 to
 

ch
ild
re
n 
an
d 
yo
un
g 

pe
op
le
 

S
te
ph
an
ie
 

R
ow

le
s,
 in
te
rim

 
H
ea
d 
of
 L
A
C
  

S
&
V
C
 S
en
io
r 

M
an
ag

em
en
t 

T
ea
m
 

D
ev
is
e 
cl
ea
r 
po
lic
y 
an
d 

gu
id
an
ce
 o
n 
pa
th
w
ay
 p
la
ns
 

E
m
be
d 
pr
ac
tic
e 
an
d 

co
m
pl
ia
nc
e 
in
 lo
ok
ed
 a
fte
r 

se
rv
ic
e 

E
nd
 o
f D

ec
em

be
r 

20
10
 

F
ro
m
 J
an
ua
ry
 2
01
1 

 

D
an
ie
l 

C
ra
m
pt
on
, 

H
ea
d 
of
 

S
af
eg
ua
rd
in
g 

an
d 
R
ev
ie
w
 

C
Y
P
D
 Q
ua
lit
y 

A
ss
ur
an
ce
 

G
ro
up
 

M
on

ito
r 
th
ro
ug
h 
R
A
G
 r
at
in
g 

an
d 
au
di
t p
ro
ce
ss
 

R
ep
or
t b

i-m
on
th
ly
 to

 C
Y
P
D
 

Q
ua
lit
y 
A
ss
ur
an
ce
 G
ro
up
 

D
ev
el
op
 tr
ai
ni
ng

 a
nd
 

de
ve
lo
pm

en
t s
es
si
on
s 
fo
r 

st
af
f b

as
ed
 o
n 
is
su
es
 a
ris
in
g 

F
ro
m
 D
ec
em

be
r 

20
10
 

F
ro
m
 D
ec
em

be
r 

20
10
 

F
ro
m
 J
an
ua
ry
 2
01
1 

 

S
ec

ti
o
n
 1

1:
  L

ea
d
er

sh
ip

 a
n
d
 m

an
ag

em
en

t 
11
.1
 

M
an
ag

em
en
t c
ap
ac
ity
 a
nd
 

ov
er
si
gh

t i
n 
re
fe
rr
al
 a
nd
 

as
se
ss
m
en
t t
ea
m
 (
pa
ra
 4
4)
 

E
ns
ur
e 
th
at
 th

er
e 
is
 

su
ffi
ci
en
t 

m
an
ag
em

en
t 

ca
pa
ci
ty
 in
 th

e 
re
fe
rr
al
 a
nd
 

as
se
ss
m
en
t t
ea
m
 

an
d 
th
at
 m
an
ag
er
s 

ha
ve
 th

e 
ap
pr
op
ria
te
 

sk
ill
s 
an
d 
kn
ow

le
dg

e 
to
 p
er
fo
rm

 th
ei
r 
ro
le
 

ef
fe
ct
iv
el
y.
 

Li
sa
 G
re
en
, 

H
ea
d 
of
 

F
ie
ld
w
or
k 

R
&
A
 S
er
vi
ce
 

Im
pr
ov
em

en
t 

G
ro
up
 

A
ss
es
s 
m
an
ag
em

en
t 

ca
pa
ci
ty
 in
 te

am
 a
nd
 

em
pl
oy
 r
es
ou
rc
es
 m
os
t 

ef
fe
ct
iv
el
y 

D
ev
is
e 
w
or
kf
or
ce
 

de
ve
lo
pm

en
t f
or
 A
T
M
s 

E
ns
ur
e 
in
du
ct
io
n 
fo
r 
ne
w
 

m
an
ag
er
 

31
 D
ec
em

be
r 
20
10
 

   31
 D
ec
em

be
r 
20
10
 

 13
 –
 1
8 
D
ec
em

be
r 

20
10
 

 

138



K
im
 D
ra
ke
, A

ss
is
ta
nt
 D
ire
ct
or
; S

af
eg

ua
rd
in
g 
an
d 
V
ul
ne

ra
bl
e 
C
hi
ld
re
n 
S
er
vi
ce
 

T
el
: (
01
43

2)
 2
61

60
3 
E
m
ai
l: 
kd
ra
ke
@
he
re
fo
rd
sh
ire
.g
ov
.u
k 

23
 

R
ef
 

A
re
a 
fo
r 
im

p
ro
ve
m
en

t 
id
en

ti
fi
ed

 in
 t
h
e 

an
n
o
u
n
ce
d
 in

sp
ec
ti
o
n
 

O
u
tc
o
m
es
 t
o
 

ac
h
ie
ve
 

L
ea
d
 o
ff
ic
er
 

R
ep

o
rt
in
g
 t
o
 

(a
cc
o
u
n
ta
b
le
 

b
o
d
y)
 

K
ey
 a
ct
io
n
s 

T
im

es
ca
le
s 

U
I/P

R
 

11
.2
 

C
om

m
is
si
on
in
g 
is
 u
nd
er
 

de
ve
lo
pe
d 
bu
t i
m
pr
ov
in
g 

(p
ar
a 
59
) 

C
om

m
is
si
on
in
g 

pr
io
rit
ie
s 
ar
e 

em
be
dd
ed
 a
nd
 a
 

pr
og
ra
m
m
e 
of
 

co
m
m
is
si
on
in
g 

ac
ro
ss
 a
ge

nc
ie
s 
is
 

ru
n 
to
 im

pr
ov
e 

se
rv
ic
es
 a
nd
 v
al
ue
 

fo
r 
m
on
ey
 

C
hr
is
 B
ai
rd
, 

A
ss
is
ta
nt
 

D
ire
ct
or
, 

P
la
nn
in
g,
 

P
er
fo
rm

an
ce
 

an
d 

D
ev
el
op
m
en
t 

Jo
in
t 

C
om

m
is
si
on
in
g 

G
ro
up
 

C
hi
ld
re
n’
s 
T
ru
st
 

B
oa
rd
 

H
ea
lth
 a
nd
 

S
oc
ia
l C

ar
e 

P
ro
gr
am

m
e 

B
oa
rd
 

C
on
fir
m
 p
rio
rit
ie
s 
in
 J
oi
nt
 

C
om

m
is
si
on
in
g 
G
ro
up
 

E
st
ab
lis
h 
re
so
ur
ce
s 
to
 

de
liv
er
 c
om

m
is
si
on
in
g 

pr
og
ra
m
m
e,
 in
cl
ud
in
g 

ad
dr
es
si
ng
 in
de
pe
nd
en
t 

pl
ac
em

en
ts
 

D
el
iv
er
 p
ro
gr
am

m
e 
to
 

tim
es
ca
le
s 
se
t 

D
ec
em

be
r 
20
10
 

 Ja
nu
ar
y 
20
11
 

    F
ro
m
 D
ec
em

be
r 

20
10
 

P
R
 

11
.3
 

E
va
lu
at
io
n 
of
 a
ll 
se
rv
ic
es
 is
 

no
t s
ys
te
m
at
ic
. (
pa
ra
 5
9)
 

E
ns
ur
e 
th
at
 

sy
st
em

at
ic
 

ev
al
ua
tio
n 
of
 

se
rv
ic
es
 in
fo
rm

s 
co
m
m
is
si
on
in
g 
 

C
hr
is
 B
ai
rd
, 

A
ss
is
ta
nt
 

D
ire
ct
or
, 

P
la
nn
in
g,
 

P
er
fo
rm

an
ce
 

an
d 

D
ev
el
op
m
en
t 

an
d 
H
ila
ry
 H
al
l, 

H
ea
d 
of
 

Q
ua
lit
y 
an
d 

Im
pr
ov
em

en
t 

C
Y
P
D
 

D
ire
ct
or
at
e 

Le
ad
er
sh
ip
 

T
ea
m
 

C
hi
ld
re
n’
s 
T
ru
st
 

D
ev
el
op
 e
va
lu
at
io
n 
m
od
el
 

fo
r 
C
Y
P
D
 

P
ilo
t m

od
el
 o
n 
id
en
tif
ie
d 

se
rv
ic
es
 

R
ol
l o
ut
 m

od
el
 a
cr
os
s 

di
re
ct
or
at
e 
se
rv
ic
es
 

M
ar
ch
 2
01
1 

 A
pr
il 
20
11
 

 F
ro
m
 J
un
e 
20
11
 

 

11
.4
 

S
oc
ia
l w

or
ke
rs
 r
ep
or
t 

va
ria
bl
e 
ac
ce
ss
 to
 tr
ai
ni
ng
 

in
 th

ei
r 
w
or
k 
w
ith
 L
A
C
H
Y
P
 

(p
ar
a 
80
) 

A
ll 
pr
of
es
si
on
al
s 

w
or
ki
ng
 w
ith
 lo
ok
ed
 

af
te
r 
ch
ild
re
n 
an
d 

yo
un
g 
pe
op
le
 

re
ce
iv
e 
ad
eq

ua
te
 

tr
ai
ni
ng
 o
pp
or
tu
ni
tie
s 

S
ha
rr
on
 

G
oo
de
, 

W
or
kf
or
ce
 

S
tr
at
eg
y 

M
an
ag

er
 

S
&
V
C
 S
en
io
r 

M
an
ag

em
en
t 

T
ea
m
 

C
hi
ld
re
n’
s 
T
ru
st
 

M
an
ag

em
en
t 

G
ro
up
 

D
ev
is
e 
an
d 
co
m
m
is
si
on
 

re
le
va
nt
 tr
ai
ni
ng
 fo
r 
th
is
 

m
ul
tia
ge
nc
y 
st
af
f g
ro
up
 

D
el
iv
er
 a
gr
ee
d 
tr
ai
ni
ng
 

Ja
nu
ar
y 
20
11
 

  F
ro
m
 M
ar
ch
 2
01
1 

 

139



K
im
 D
ra
ke
, A

ss
is
ta
nt
 D
ire
ct
or
; S

af
eg

ua
rd
in
g 
an
d 
V
ul
ne

ra
bl
e 
C
hi
ld
re
n 
S
er
vi
ce
 

T
el
: (
01
43

2)
 2
61

60
3 
E
m
ai
l: 
kd
ra
ke
@
he
re
fo
rd
sh
ire
.g
ov
.u
k 

24
 

R
ef
 

A
re
a 
fo
r 
im

p
ro
ve
m
en

t 
id
en

ti
fi
ed

 in
 t
h
e 

an
n
o
u
n
ce
d
 in

sp
ec
ti
o
n
 

O
u
tc
o
m
es
 t
o
 

ac
h
ie
ve
 

L
ea
d
 o
ff
ic
er
 

R
ep

o
rt
in
g
 t
o
 

(a
cc
o
u
n
ta
b
le
 

b
o
d
y)
 

K
ey
 a
ct
io
n
s 

T
im

es
ca
le
s 

U
I/P

R
 

11
.5
 

T
he
re
 is
 li
m
ite
d 
ev
id
en
ce
 o
f 

m
an
ag
em

en
t o

ve
rs
ig
ht
 o
f 

ca
se
s 
an
d 
au
di
ts
 b
ei
ng
 

un
de
rt
ak
en
 b
y 
m
an
ag
er
s 

(p
ar
a 
80
) 

E
ns
ur
e 
go

od
 

m
an
ag
em

en
t 

ov
er
si
gh

t a
nd
 

qu
al
ita
tiv
e 

as
su
ra
nc
e 

ar
ra
ng
em

en
ts
 a
re
 in
 

pl
ac
e 
w
hi
ch
 le
ad
 to

 
im
pr
ov
em

en
ts
 

S
te
ph
an
ie
 

R
ow

le
s,
 in
te
rim

 
H
ea
d 
of
 L
A
C
 

S
&
V
C
 S
en
io
r 

M
an
ag

em
en
t 

T
ea
m
 

C
Y
P
D
 Q
ua
lit
y 

A
ss
ur
an
ce
 

G
ro
up
 

E
m
be
d 
st
an
da
rd
 r
e 

m
an
ag
em

en
t o

ve
rs
ig
ht
 a
nd
 

us
e 
of
 s
up
er
vi
si
on
 te
m
pl
at
e 

on
 lo
ok
ed
 a
fte
r 
ch
ild
re
n 
an
d 

yo
un
g 
pe
op
le
 c
as
es
. 

E
ns
ur
e 
re
gu

la
r 
au
di
ts
 o
f 

lo
ok
ed
 a
fte
r 
ch
ild
re
n 
an
d 

yo
un
g 
pe
op
le
 fi
le
s 
ag
ai
ns
t 

se
rv
ic
e 
fr
am

ew
or
k 

R
ep
or
t r
eg
ul
ar
ly
 to

 A
ss
is
ta
nt
 

D
ire
ct
or
 fo
r 
Q
ua
lit
y 

A
ss
ur
an
ce
 G
ro
up
 

E
nd
 o
f N

ov
em

be
r 

20
10
 

   F
ro
m
 J
an
ua
ry
 2
01
1 

   F
ro
m
 F
eb
ru
ar
y 

20
11
 

 

11
.6
 

T
he
re
 is
 n
o 
sy
st
em

at
ic
 

pr
oc
es
s 
to
 b
ui
ld
 u
p 
lo
ca
l 

in
te
lli
ge

nc
e 
ab
ou
t 

ef
fe
ct
iv
en
es
s 
of
 p
ro
vi
de
rs
 

ov
er
al
l i
n 
m
ee
tin
g 
id
en
tif
ie
d 

ne
ed
s 
(p
ar
a 
86
) 

E
st
ab
lis
h 
sy
st
em

at
ic
 

ap
pr
oa
ch
 to
 

ca
pt
ur
in
g 
lo
ca
l 

in
te
lli
ge

nc
e 
an
d 

in
fo
rm

in
g 
fu
tu
re
 

pl
ac
em

en
ts
 a
nd
 

co
m
m
is
si
on
in
g 

S
te
ph
an
ie
 

R
ow

le
s,
 in
te
rim

 
H
ea
d 
of
 L
A
C
 

S
&
V
C
 S
en
io
r 

M
an
ag

em
en
t 

T
ea
m
 

Jo
in
t 

C
om

m
is
si
on
in
g 

G
ro
up
 

D
ev
el
op
 m

od
el
 a
t 

pl
ac
em

en
t p
an
el
 

F
eb
ru
ar
y 
20
11
 

 

11
.7
 

- 
D
ev
el
op
 le
ad
 

m
em

be
r 
an
d 
sc
ru
tin
y 

co
m
m
itt
ee
 

en
ga
ge
m
en
t a
nd
 

ro
le
s 

D
av
id
 

S
an
de
rs
, 

in
te
rim

 D
ire
ct
or
 

of
 C
hi
ld
re
n’
s 

S
er
vi
ce
s 

C
Y
P
D
 

D
ire
ct
or
at
e 

Le
ad
er
sh
ip
 

T
ea
m
 

Jo
in
t 

M
an
ag

em
en
t 

T
ea
m
 

S
im
pl
ify
 a
nd
 h
ig
hl
ig
ht
 k
ey
 

ar
ea
s 
fo
r 
le
ad
 

m
em

be
r/
sc
ru
tin
y 
aw

ar
en

es
s 

an
d 
in
vo
lv
em

en
t 

R
eg

ul
ar
 it
em

 o
n 
Le
ad
 

M
em

be
r 
br
ie
fin
g 
se
ss
io
ns
 

(b
ui
ld
 o
n 
R
A
D
A
R
 in
di
ca
to
rs
) 

E
ns
ur
e 
di
st
in
ct
io
n 
be
tw
ee

n 
H
S
C
B
/C
T
 r
ol
es
 a
nd
 r
ol
e 
of
 

Le
ad
 M
em

be
r 
an
d 
S
cr
ut
in
y 

C
om

m
itt
ee
 

    F
ro
m
 O
ct
ob
er
 2
01
0 

P
R
 

140



K
im
 D
ra
ke
, A

ss
is
ta
nt
 D
ire
ct
or
; S

af
eg

ua
rd
in
g 
an
d 
V
ul
ne

ra
bl
e 
C
hi
ld
re
n 
S
er
vi
ce
 

T
el
: (
01
43

2)
 2
61

60
3 
E
m
ai
l: 
kd
ra
ke
@
he
re
fo
rd
sh
ire
.g
ov
.u
k 

25
 

R
ef
 

A
re
a 
fo
r 
im

p
ro
ve
m
en

t 
id
en

ti
fi
ed

 in
 t
h
e 

an
n
o
u
n
ce
d
 in

sp
ec
ti
o
n
 

O
u
tc
o
m
es
 t
o
 

ac
h
ie
ve
 

L
ea
d
 o
ff
ic
er
 

R
ep

o
rt
in
g
 t
o
 

(a
cc
o
u
n
ta
b
le
 

b
o
d
y)
 

K
ey
 a
ct
io
n
s 

T
im

es
ca
le
s 

U
I/P

R
 

11
.8
 

- 
Im

pr
ov
e 
vo
ic
e 
of
 th
e 

ch
ild
 

K
at
hy
 R
ob
er
ts
, 

A
ss
is
ta
nt
 

D
ire
ct
or
 

Im
pr
ov
em

en
t 

an
d 
In
cl
us
io
n 

C
Y
P
D
 

D
ire
ct
or
at
e 

Le
ad
er
sh
ip
 

T
ea
m
 

C
hi
ld
re
n’
s 
T
ru
st
 

E
ns
ur
e 
a 
pr
io
rit
y 
in
 C
Y
P
 

P
la
n 
 

H
ol
d 
C
hi
ld
s 
V
oi
ce
 C
ou
nt
y 

ev
en
t 

R
ev
ie
w
 jo
b 
de
sc
rip
tio
ns
 to
 

en
su
re
 v
oi
ce
 o
f c
hi
ld
 is
 a
t 

fo
re
fr
on
t o
f r
ol
e 
ex
pe
ct
at
io
n 

B
ui
ld
 in
to
 Q
A
 p
ro
ce
ss
es
 

D
ev
el
op
 p
ar
tic
ip
at
io
n 

st
ra
te
gy
 

S
til
l a
t p

la
nn
in
g 

st
ag
e 
fo
r 
C
hi
ld
’s
 

V
oi
ce
 e
ve
nt
 d
el
iv
er
y 

in
 2
01
1 
if 
fu
nd
in
g 

pe
rm

its
. R

un
ni
ng
 

w
ith
 ‘H

av
e 
yo
ur
 s
ay
’ 

an
d 
‘T
ak
e 
ov
er
 d
ay
’ 

ev
en
ts
. 

P
R
 

 

141



142



 

 
Further information on the subject of this report is available from 

Wendy Boulter/Vicky Ward – Herefordshire School Improvement Service  

 September 2010 

MEETING: CHILDREN’S SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

DATE: 10 DECEMBER 2010 

TITLE OF REPORT: ATTAINMENT AND ACHIEVEMENT IN THE 
SECONDARY PHASE 

REPORT BY:  GENERAL INSPECTOR AND GENERAL 
INSPECTOR SECONDARY/SECONDARY 
STRATEGY MANAGER 

CLASSIFICATION: Open  

Wards Affected 

County-wide. 

Purpose 

To provide the Committee with an overview of attainment and progress in the secondary phase of 
maintained schools in Herefordshire 2010. 

Recommendation 

THAT the Committee notes the content of this standards report and reflects on the actions to 
improve outcomes in the secondary phase of maintained schools in 
Herefordshire. 

Key Points Summary: 

§ No Herefordshire high school is graded in an inadequate Ofsted category and five schools are 
graded outstanding. 

§ In 2010 good GCSE results were maintained with some improvements in a number of key 
benchmark measures continuing the positive trend at KS4. 

§ Herefordshire schools are continuing to demonstrate attainment which is generally in line with 
or higher than the national average.  

§ The national rate of progress is beginning to improve at a faster rate than in Herefordshire in 
the key benchmark of 5+A*-C grades at GCSE including English and mathematics.  

§ The performance of vulnerable groups continues to improve although there is some variability 
and some notable successes. For example; the achievement/outcomes for looked after 
children was judged outstanding by Ofsted across Herefordshire schools in September 2010. 

§ Girls performed better than boys in 2010 in a number of areas and for some schools the gap 
in performance between boys and girls widened. 

AGENDA ITEM 10

143



Alternative Options 

1 No alternative options presented 

Reasons for Recommendations 

2 The report is presented as an overview of current standards and future actions for comment. 

Introduction and Background 

3 The points below provide a general context for the results analysis: 

§ The secondary phase of education is from Year 7 to Year 13 (11-19 year olds).  Within the 
maintained sector in Herefordshire there are 13 high schools four of which have provision for 
a sixth form (years 12 and 13.) There are currently 2 academies, one of which has post 16 
provision. These are directly linked with the Academies Division of the DFE. These are 
outside the maintained LA group of schools and therefore directly funded and monitored by 
the DFE. Other Post 16 providers are the Hereford Sixth Form College, Hereford College of 
Technology, the agricultural college at Holme Lacy and Hereford College of Art and Design. In 
addition there are work based providers who contribute to the vocational provision, including 
apprenticeships. 

§ All schools have a designated catchment area but there are two faith schools (St Mary’s 
Roman Catholic High School and Bishop of Hereford’s Bluecoat School) who draw students in 
from all over the county. 

§ The feedback in this report is related to the 13 maintained high schools in the authority 
which are the settings for which the School Improvement Service has direct 
responsibility. The figures in this report therefore exclude academy and college data.  

§ The validated LA statistical figures when they are released will include the performance 
of both academies who are under the direction of the Academies division of the DFE 
and not of the LA. 

§ National tests at Key Stage 3 (14 year olds) were abolished in 2008. National data sets for 
Key Stage 3 no longer exist in the detailed format of previous years. The 2010 analysis of Key 
Stage 3 performance is therefore based on teacher assessments. This data set is further 
complicated by the fact that some schools run their Key Stage 3 over two years and some 
over three years. 

§ A variety of courses exists at KS4 and post 16 and these can be at level 1 (GCSE D-G or 
equivalent), Level 2 (GCSE Grades A*-C or equivalent) or Level 3 (Advanced level or 
equivalent). In addition some students attain other qualifications such as basic skills. All these 
qualifications carry a points score which contributes to the student, school and county results. 

§ There were 1956 students contributing to the results outlined below in 2010. Of these 50.4% 
were boys and 49.6% were girls. Across individual schools, however, there were unbalanced 
year groups in terms of gender. Nationally boys perform less well than girls at GCSE and so 
an unbalanced year group for a school in terms of gender is statistically likely to have an 
impact on results for that school.  

§ No high school in Herefordshire is currently in an inadequate Ofsted category and that has 
been the position for three years. Five of our high schools have outstanding Ofsted 

144



judgements for overall effectiveness and nine of our High Schools have either Good or 
Outstanding judgements for overall effectiveness. This is better than the national average. 

§ There are a number of structures and initiatives in place within the Children’s Services and 
School Improvement Service (SIS) in particular, which have helped support the continuing 
improvement in Herefordshire High Schools: 

- Each school has a nationally accredited School Improvement Partner (SIP) who is 
employed through the LA to monitor, support and challenge the school they work with. A 
minimum of five days are routinely allocated for this work throughout the year to cover 
visits and preparation and report writing.  Where a school is identified for additional 
support the number of SIP days is increased. The School Improvement Service recruits 
and supports SIPs, moderates the quality of their reports and addresses issues arising for 
action. 

 - Herefordshire secondary SIPs are either current or recently retired head teachers or an 
LA school improvement officer. In addition all schools have an attached school 
improvement service advisor who provides day to day support, challenge, monitoring and 
advice. 

 - In 2009 the School Improvement Service supported five high schools’ entry into the 
national Gaining Ground two year project. This has brought substantial additional funding 
into each of these five schools to further school improvement. This project has also funded  
ten days support from an outstanding partner school, three within and two outside of the 
county.  Extra SIP days have also been allocated as part of this initiative.  

- From 2009 the School Improvement Service has been jointly funding a two year project 
with 12 high schools provided through the Specialist Schools and Academies Trust to 
promote networking and sharing of good practice between schools nationally. 

§ Each school is obliged to set challenging student performance targets each year. The Local 
Authority provides statistical estimates of pupil performance based on prior attainment and 
contextual factors to support this process. Fischer Family Trust (FFT), a nationally recognised 
agency, provides the main data set. Schools are challenged to set targets in line with the 
performance of the top 25% of schools nationally. (FFT D)  

§ For 2010 the statutory targets that schools set were:  

- the percentage of students attaining 5+ A*-C grades at GCSE including English and 
Mathematics.  

- to reduce the percentage of student absence. 

§ All schools also set an additional non statutory target for the percentage of students attaining 
5+ A*-C grades at GCSE and 5+ A*-G grades at GCSE.  

§ LA performance is reviewed by the DFE/Ofsted against the outcomes for students achieving 
5+ A*-C including English and mathematics, the attendance of students and the performance 
of different groups including vulnerable groups. 

§ There is an increasing emphasis on not only the standards students reach but the progress 
they make through each key stage. For summer 2011 schools have been obliged to set 
targets for the levels of progress students make in both English and mathematics at GCSE 
from KS2.   

145



 

 
Further information on the subject of this report is available from 

Wendy Boulter/Vicky Ward – Herefordshire School Improvement Service  

 September 2010 

§ The effective early intervention by the School Improvement Service and brokering of 
additional quality support have made a strong contribution to continuing high standards and 
improvement across secondary education in the county. This is seen particularly in those 
schools identified by the School Improvement Service as being at risk of underperformance or 
Ofsted inadequate judgements. 

§ In 2010 Key Stage 4 (16 year olds) performance in Herefordshire has been maintained or 
improved, continuing an upward trend from previous years. The 2010 data are awaiting final 
confirmation and so the validated/final data are expected in January/February 2011. The data 
therefore that this report is based upon are provisional and we expect final performance to be 
slightly higher. Schools are already reporting increases in percentage outcomes as a result of 
examination board remarking. 

§ Although the headline figures for Herefordshire LA are pleasing there is variation of 
performance between schools. In response to this variation the School Improvement Service 
differentially targets its support and challenge. This has been strengthened in line with the 
new School Improvement Policy introduced from September 2010.  

Key Considerations 

4 Key outcomes and results are summarised below. 

§ KS3 teacher assessments (See Appendix 1) 

o At level 5 (the nationally expected level) Herefordshire’s performance is above the 
national performance in English by 2% and in  mathematics and science by 3% 

o At level 6 English is just below national performance (2%) and mathematics and 
science are above national performance by 5%. 

o Girls out perform boys in English by 9% at level 5 and at level 6 by 19%. In 
mathematics there is no difference in gender performance at level 5 and boys 
marginally outperform girls at L6. (2%)  In science boys out perform girls at level 5 
(3%) and there is no difference in gender performance at level 6. 

§ Teacher Assessments at KS3 are not nationally validated so drawing conclusions from 
these figures must be with caution.  

§ Priorities for improvement at KS3 are to ensure that students make the expected progress 
to allow them to meet at least national expectations at KS4. With the demise of national tests 
at KS3 (SATS) as a benchmark for this, schools are strengthening and reviewing their internal 
tracking and assessment systems to identify students for early interventions.  

§ In 2009-10 a national programme of One to One tuition has supported interventions at KS3 to 
ensure appropriate progress for those students who are falling behind expectations in 
mathematics and English. A DFE externally funded, dedicated member of staff working in the 
School Improvement Service leads this programme across primary and secondary phases.  
All schools have had additional funding from the DFE for One to One interventions. This 
programme is at early stage of evaluation but initial indicators suggest that the majority of 
students receiving One to One tuition have made improved progress (Appendix 3)  

 

146



5+ A*-C

0

50

100

Herefordshire National

Herefordshire 68.3 74 79.8

National 64.2 69.7 74.7

2008 2009 2010

 5+ A*-C En Ma

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

Herefordshire National

Herefordshire 52.4 52.5 55.1

National 48.4 51 54.9

2008 2009 2010

Key Stage 4 examination outcomes. (See Appendix 2)  

§ The percentage of pupils gaining 5+ A*-C at GCSE in 2010 is 79.8% and continues the 
strong upward trend in performance in this measure.  Herefordshire local authority 
averages from 2008-10 exceeded the national averages and indicate that the rate of 
improvement in Herefordshire 2008-10 was greater than nationally. This measure is no longer 
a government required target for schools but gives an indication of performance across the 
full range of subjects. 

§ There has been some significant improvement in performance in this measure reflecting for 
many schools a broadening of their curriculum provision to better meet the needs of different 
students. Schools are increasingly entering candidates for vocational accreditation principally 
through the BTEC awards. Increased collaborative working between schools has also 
assisted in providing wider opportunities for students. 

 

§ The percentage of pupils gaining 5+ A*-C at GCSE including English and Mathematics 
has also continued to rise. (2006 50.9% and 2010 55.1%) This is a key attainment indicator 
for Ofsted and general school performance. (Note again that this figure does not take into 
account appeals and re-marks underway).  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

147



§ Reviewing individual school performance against individual targets set, most schools 
surpassed, reached or nearly reached their challenging FFTD targets. (In line with the 
performance of the top 25% of schools nationally) 

§ Provisional data suggest that nationally performance in this measure is improving at a faster 
rate than in Herefordshire. 

§ Performance in the core subjects makes a significant contribution to the benchmark 
measure of 5+ A*-C En Ma. 

Mathematics GCSE results in the county in 2010 reached the highest level ever, now 
standing at 65.2% A*-C grades, (based on provisional data). This reversed a slight 
decline from 2009, and maintains the steady upward long-term trend – e.g. in 2005 the 
figure was 57%. In 2009 there were some concerns about the performance of girls 
compared to boys (2009 Boys 62.9%, Girls 58.3% A*-C), but the girls have performed 
well this year (now at 67.7%).  

English – There has been a rising trend of performance at 5+ A*-C in English and the 
county performance is now in line with national. (2010 68.4%) In many Herefordshire 
schools, English results at A*-C are above the national provisional figure of 68.4%.  
The majority of schools had an increased percentage of grades A*-C in 2010 from 
2009.  

The provisional gender gap in English for 2010 is 3% greater in Herefordshire than 
nationally. This gap has increased from 2009 due to an improvement in the 
performance of girls. Raising boys’ performance in English therefore, for some 
schools, remains a priority. 

Science – Science results improved from a good baseline for the third year running. 
The Herefordshire figure of 70.3% for two good (A* to C) Science GCSEs (the national 
indicator for Science) remains well above the regional and national averages.  

In 2010 both boys and girls achieved a higher percentage of 2 good GCSE grades in 
two sciences in Herefordshire than the national average percentages. (Boys achieved 
5.2% and girls achieved 13.9 % above the national average for two good GCSEs) 

The gap between boys’ and girls’ performance has widened from 2009 and is wider 
currently than the national gap. This is not a continuing trend however as the gender 
gap figure for two good GCSEs has fluctuated over the last 4 years between 1.7% and 
8.7%. 

§ In line with the national picture some schools have faced difficulties in recruiting specialist 
teachers of English and mathematics. 

§ The trend in performance for boys and girls at 5+ A*-C including English and 
Mathematics is one of improvement over the last five years with a dip in performance by girls 
in 2009 and a peak in performance by boys in 2009. 

- In 2010 boys’ performance is lower than in 2009 but higher than in each of the three 
previous years so the overall trend in boys’ performance is rising. 

- In 2010 girls’ performance is the highest for five years and overall is a rising trend. 

- The gap between the performance of boys and girls in 2010 is 14.00% in favour of the 
girls. The national gender in gap for 2010 is 7.9% in favour of the girls. 

148



Trend in FSM Gaps - Herefordshire v National

-12

-10

-8

-6

-4

-2

0

2

2007 2008 2009 2010

Hereford V nat 5+ A*-C En Ma Hereford V nat 5+ A*-C 

- There is no consistent county pattern but there are high schools in 2010 whose gap in 
gender performance is greater than the national gap. Schools are aware of this through 
their internal data analysis process and with their SIP and School Improvement Advisor 
are assessing how significant this is and what actions, if any, need to be taken. 

§ The percentage of pupils with SEND gaining 5+ A*-C including English and mathematics has 
fallen slightly from 2009 whilst the percentage of students without SEND gaining 5+ A*-C 
including English and mathematics has increased from 2009. This represents a widening of 
this attainment gap.  

Caution must be exercised in drawing firm conclusions from SEND data until individual 
schools have further analysed the outcomes for their students.  

In 2009 Contextual Value Added data indicated that most students with SEND in 
Herefordshire made expected progress in line with national expectations. 

§ The performance of students in receipt of FSM improved significantly in Herefordshire in 2009 
when the national gap between those achieving 5+ A*-C En MA on FSM and those not on 
FSM was 28%. The Herefordshire gap in 2009 narrowed significantly from 34.5% in 2008 to 
27.1% in 2009 which brought it into line with the national gap.  

§ In 2010 the difference between the national gap in this measure and the Herefordshire gap is 
less than 2%. The provisional Herefordshire figure for this gap measure is 30.0% and the 
provisional national figure is 28.3%.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

§ Ethnic groups are composed of very small numbers in Herefordshire so percentages should 
be treated with great caution.  The largest ethnic groups are Gypsy Roma Travellers and east 
Europeans. There are wide achievement gaps historically between ethnic groups nationally 
and locally.  Significantly, however, the percentage of Gypsy Roma Traveller students with 5+ 
A*-C including English and mathematics has risen from 0% in previous years to 7.7% in 2010.  
Gypsy Roma Traveller students attaining 5+ A*-C has risen to 38.5% in 2010 from 11.1% in 
2009 and 0% in 2008. (reported to Scrutiny in October 2008)  

 

 

149



§ Looked after Children.  In 2010 17.2% gained 5+ A*-C including English and Mathematics a 
slight increase from 2009.  The gap between the performance of those students who are LAC 
and those who are not remains smaller than the gap nationally for the second year running. A 
recent Ofsted Inspection (September 2010) recognised that provision and outcomes for LAC 
in Herefordshire are outstanding.  

§ Capped average point score gives an indication of performance across the whole ability 
range and the score per pupil in Herefordshire has risen again in 2010 and remains higher 
than the national. The current rate of improvement in Herefordshire is marginally slower than 
the rate of improvement nationally. 

§ The Performance of Herefordshire’s most able students has improved year on year for 
the last five years. The percentage gaining 3+ A*/A grades at GCSE or equivalent has risen 
from 19.6% in 2006 to 32.3% in 2010. This improvement trend has been more pronounced in 
the performance of girls. 

§ Performance in Modern Foreign Languages (A*-C) in 2010 has remained consistent over 
the last three years.  The percentage of students gaining grades A*-C at GCSE in a MFL was 
31.1%, a slightly higher figure than the national average of 28.8%.  

§ Analysis of data relating to MFL should be cautious since both in Herefordshire and nationally 
there is a variety of provision. Some schools insist that all students learn at least one MFL at 
GCSE whilst in other schools it is an optional subject at KS4. Data therefore are not 
comparable. 

§ 2010’s Contextual Value Added (CVA) data for Herefordshire are not released until the 
spring term in 2011.  The Key Stage two to four CVA indicator for Herefordshire in 2009 was 
1007.4 which is above the national average of 1000. This suggests that students in 
Herefordshire make better than average progress from primary to the end of compulsory 
secondary schooling. The equivalent indicators for English and mathematics in 2009 were in 
line with national averages.  

Improving and maintaining attainment and progress in mathematics and English remains a 
high priority for all schools and there are a number of collaborative projects underway in the 
county to support this. 

Although validated CVA information is not available yet for 2010 some initial data suggest that 
progress may well be similarly pleasing for this year across the county.   

§ Post 16 performance – (including the sixth form college) Published and verified data will not 
be available for benchmarking performance post 16 until the spring term 2011. 

- Indicative figures suggest that the average UCAS (university entrance) point score per 
examination entry for 2010 at 84.7 is higher than the national at 80.5. Herefordshire 
performance in this measure is slightly lower than in 2009 (88.3) and similar to 
performance in 2008 (85) 

- Indicative figures suggest that the average UCAS point score per pupil for 2010 is 352.4 
which is higher than the national at 292.2. Herefordshire performance in this measure is 
slightly lower than in 2009 (336.6) and similar to 2008 (354.3)  

- The percentage of students gaining grades A*/B in Herefordshire is higher than the 
comparable percentage nationally.  

 

150



- When considering the percentage of students gaining grades in 3 or more A levels or 
equivalent girls generally outperformed boys.  

§ Priorities for the School Improvement Service at key stages 4 and 5 in 2010/2011. 

- Implement the new and revised school improvement policy and ensure that appropriate 
support is allocated for schools to ensure that they continue to improve.  

- Ensure that any decline in school performance is addressed early so that all Herefordshire 
high schools remain in a positive Ofsted category. 

- Work in partnership with schools to consolidate the advances made in improving the 
performance of disadvantaged groups of students. 

- Focus challenge and support on key areas such as continuing improvement in mathematics 
and English. In particular share effective practice and strategies to improve the outcomes of 
boys and narrow the performance gaps between boys and girls. 

- Appoint a specialist English consultant to complete the team of core subject consultants. 

- Continue to work with the Herefordshire LA data team to further develop the systems for 
benchmarking school performance at key stages four and five. 

- Work closely with the 11-19 Integrated Service to develop the recently established school 
sixth form heads’ network.  

- Continue to work with school sixth forms to support their further improvement. 

- Work in partnership with schools, supporting head teachers and governing bodies in 
responding to national initiatives such as the academies programme and local imperatives 
such as the increasing development of alternative school models. 

- Commission external expertise to advise SACRE on the statutory revision of the Agreed 
Syllabus for Religious Education. Support its implementation. 

Community Impact 

5 Falling rolls in many school catchments mean that some schools in 2009-10 have had to 
make staff redundancies and there is increasing competition between schools to attract 
admissions. 

Financial Implications 

6 None 

Legal Implications 

7 None have been identified. 

Risk Management 

8 The ability to maintain a high quality school improvement service ensuring no Herefordshire 
school is in a negative Ofsted category. 

151



Appendices 

Appendix 1 – Key Stage 3 teacher assessments 

Appendix 2 – Key Stage 4 Outcomes 

Appendix 3 – Initial impact data relating to the One to One tuition programme in 2009/2010 

Background Papers 

School Improvement Policy 2010

 

152



KS
3 

TA
 2

01
0 bo
ys

gi
rls

al
l

bo
ys

gi
rls

al
l

bo
ys

gi
rls

al
l

bo
ys

gi
rls

al
l

bo
ys

gi
rls

al
l

bo
ys

gi
rls

al
l

H
er
ef
or
ds
hi
re

75
86

81
83

83
83

82
85

83
32

51
41

64
62

63
53

53
53

E
N
G
L
A
N
D
 

(M
ai
n
ta
in
ed
 

sc
h
o
o
ls
 

o
n
ly
, 

in
cl
u
d
in
g
 

A
ca
d
em
ie
s 

an
d
 C
T
C
s)
 1

73
86

79
80

81
80

79
82

80
35

52
43

59
58

58
47

49
48

Lo
ca

l A
ut

ho
ri

ty
 K

S3
 R

es
ul

ts

EN
G
LI
SH

M
AT
H
S

SC
IE
N
CE

EN
G
LI
SH

M
AT
H
S

SC
IE
N
CE

L5
+

L5
+

L5
+

L6
+

L6
+

L6
+

153



154



A
LL

 P
U

PI
LS

20
10

N
O

C
3+

A
*-

A
5+

A
*-

C
5A

*-
G

1+
A

*-
G

A
ny

Q
ua

l

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lA

*-
CG

CS
EE

&
M

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lL

vl
2E

&
M

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lL

vl
1E

&
M

2+
A

*-
CS

ci
en

ce
M

FL
Lv

l2
M

FL
Lv

l1
M

FL
A

ny
A

PS
Ca

pp
ed

A
PS

40
15

Ay
le

st
on

e
19

6
29

.1
77

95
.4

99
.5

10
0

50
.5

50
.5

91
.3

74
14

.3
24

24
42

5.
9

32
6.

1
40

15
70

03
Ba

rr
sC

ou
rt

Sc
ho

ol
9

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

70
03

46
00

Bi
sh

op
of

H
er

ef
or

d'
sB

lu
ec

oa
t

23
5

34
.9

74
.5

91
.9

96
.2

10
0

60
.4

60
.4

91
.5

71
.1

60
.9

68
.5

68
.5

44
6.

9
33

1
46

00
70

08
Br

oo
kf

ie
ld

Sc
ho

ol
13

0
7.

7
15

.4
61

.5
76

.9
0

7.
7

15
.4

0
0

0
0

13
3.

2
11

4.
2

70
08

40
58

Jo
hn

M
as

ef
ie

ld
H

ig
h

15
1

42
.4

84
.1

97
.4

99
.3

99
.3

63
.6

63
.6

97
.4

63
.6

43
.7

51
51

47
1.

2
35

5.
4

40
58

40
21

Ki
ng

st
on

eH
ig

h
13

2
36

.4
81

.1
95

.5
98

.5
98

.5
50

.8
50

.8
94

.7
58

.3
28

83
.3

83
.3

44
5.

7
34

4.
7

40
21

40
22

La
dy

H
aw

ki
ns

'
86

20
.9

67
.4

97
.7

10
0

10
0

46
.5

46
.5

97
.7

55
.8

40
.7

47
.7

47
.7

40
4.

3
32

2.
1

40
22

40
27

Le
om

in
st

er
,t

he
M

in
st

er
12

8
28

.9
88

.3
97

.7
98

.4
98

.4
55

.5
55

.5
96

.9
65

.6
47

.7
50

50
49

0.
7

34
2.

4
40

27
40

32
Pe

te
rc

hu
rc

hF
ai

rf
ie

ld
H

ig
h

79
32

.9
92

.4
10

0
10

0
10

0
70

.9
72

.2
98

.7
89

.9
40

.5
64

.6
64

.6
49

4.
8

36
3.

2
40

32
40

04
Q

ue
en

El
iz

ab
et

hH
ig

h
55

16
.4

98
.2

10
0

10
0

10
0

34
.5

49
.1

10
0

60
0

7.
3

7.
3

49
6

34
8.

3
40

04
44

28
Ro

ss
Jo

hn
Ky

rle
H

ig
h

20
2

36
.6

73
.3

95
.5

99
.5

99
.5

59
.4

59
.4

95
66

.8
39

.6
72

.3
83

.2
48

1.
5

33
7.

6
44

28
11

09
St

D
av

id
's

Pu
pi

lR
ef

er
ra

lU
ni

t
20

0
5

10
35

75
5

5
10

0
0

0
0

49
.8

49
.8

11
09

46
01

St
.M

ar
y'

sR
.C

.H
ig

h
13

4
42

.5
84

.3
97

98
.5

99
.3

70
.9

70
.9

96
.3

69
.4

38
.8

61
.9

96
.3

46
6.

8
35

8.
1

46
01

69
06

St
ei

ne
rA

ca
de

m
yH

er
ef

or
d

21
38

.1
66

.7
81

90
.5

90
.5

66
.7

66
.7

81
0

0
0

0
21

4.
7

21
4.

7
69

06
69

05
Th

eH
er

ef
or

dA
ca

de
m

y
13

3
22

.6
84

.2
97

.7
99

.2
10

0
39

.1
45

.1
97

96
.2

0.
8

0.
8

1.
5

55
3.

5
33

7.
2

69
05

11
08

Th
eP

rio
ry

P.
R.

U
.

6
0

0
0

66
.7

83
.3

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
65

.4
65

.4
11

08
40

45
W

eo
bl

ey
Co

m
pr

eh
en

si
ve

88
21

.6
79

.5
98

.9
98

.9
98

.9
55

.7
55

.7
96

.6
61

.4
29

.5
76

.1
77

.3
47

4
33

1.
2

40
45

70
07

W
es

tf
ie

ld
Sc

ho
ol

3
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
70

07
40

14
W

hi
te

cr
os

s
17

7
28

.8
90

.4
93

.8
99

.4
10

0
53

.7
57

.1
91

88
.7

9.
6

14
.7

14
.7

42
2

33
4.

5
40

14
40

46
W

ig
m

or
eH

ig
h

88
58

95
.5

98
.9

10
0

10
0

69
.3

69
.3

98
.9

98
.9

35
.2

65
.9

88
.6

54
3.

8
38

4.
2

40
46

19
56

32
.3

79
.8

93
.7

97
.2

98
.4

55
.1

56
.3

92
.6

70
.3

31
.1

47
.9

52
.5

45
3.

9
33

2.
7

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
of

Pu
pi

ls
A

ch
ie

vi
ng

Q
CA

155



20
10

N
O

C
3+

A
*-

A
5+

A
*-

C
5A

*-
G

1+
A

*-
G

A
ny

Q
ua

l

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lA

*-
CG

CS
EE

&
M

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lL

vl
2E

&
M

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lL

vl
1E

&
M

2+
A

*-
CS

ci
en

ce
M

FL
Lv

l2
M

FL
Lv

l1
M

FL
A

ny
A

PS
Ca

pp
ed

A
PS

H
er

ef
or

ds
hi

re
19

56
32

.3
79

.8
93

.7
97

.2
98

.4
55

.1
56

.3
92

.6
70

.3
31

.1
47

.9
52

.5
45

3.
9

33
2.

7
19

56
32

.3
79

.8
93

.7
97

.2
98

.4
55

.1
56

.3
92

.6
70

.3
31

.1
47

.9
52

.5
45

3.
9

33
2.

7

20
10

N
O

C
3+

A
*-

A
5+

A
*-

C
5A

*-
G

1+
A

*-
G

A
ny

Q
ua

l

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lA

*-
CG

CS
EE

&
M

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lL

vl
2E

&
M

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lL

vl
1E

&
M

2+
A

*-
CS

ci
en

ce
M

FL
Lv

l2
M

FL
Lv

l1
M

FL
A

ny
A

PS
Ca

pp
ed

A
PS

N
CE

R
55

36
37

28
.7

74
.7

93
.6

97
.6

98
.7

55
57

.7
92

.6
60

.8
28

.8
43

45
.9

44
1.

3
32

7
55

36
37

28
.7

74
.7

93
.6

97
.6

98
.7

55
57

.7
92

.6
60

.8
28

.8
43

45
.9

44
1.

3
32

7

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
of

Pu
pi

ls
A

ch
ie

vi
ng

Q
CA

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
of

Pu
pi

ls
A

ch
ie

vi
ng

Q
CA

156



20
10

N
O

C
3+

A
*-

A
5+

A
*-

C
5A

*-
G

1+
A

*-
G

A
ny

Q
ua

l

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lA

*-
CG

CS
EE

&
M

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lL

vl
2E

&
M

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lL

vl
1E

&
M

2+
A

*-
CS

ci
en

ce
M

FL
Lv

l2
M

FL
Lv

l1
M

FL
A

ny
A

PS
Ca

pp
ed

A
PS

##
#

A
yl

es
to

ne
N

oS
pe

ci
al

Pr
ov

is
io

n
15

6
35

.3
87

.2
98

.1
10

0
10

0
62

.2
62

.2
96

.8
80

.1
16

27
.6

27
.6

46
4.

3
34

8.
6

##
#

Bi
sh

op
of

H
er

ef
or

d'
sB

lu
ec

oa
t

N
oS

pe
ci

al
Pr

ov
is

io
n

19
7

40
.1

84
.3

98
.5

10
0

10
0

69
.5

69
.5

98
77

.2
70

.1
79

.2
79

.2
49

2.
2

35
8.

5
##

#
Jo

hn
M

as
ef

ie
ld

H
ig

h
N

oS
pe

ci
al

Pr
ov

is
io

n
12

3
50

.4
91

.9
99

.2
10

0
10

0
74

74
99

.2
69

.1
52

.8
61

61
50

3.
9

37
6.

1
##

#
Ki

ng
st

on
eH

ig
h

N
oS

pe
ci

al
Pr

ov
is

io
n

11
5

40
.9

87
97

.4
10

0
10

0
57

.4
57

.4
97

.4
65

.2
32

.2
93

93
46

6.
7

35
9.

5
##

#
A

yl
es

to
ne

N
oS

pe
ci

al
Pr

ov
is

io
n

15
6

35
.3

87
.2

98
.1

10
0

10
0

62
.2

62
.2

96
.8

80
.1

16
27

.6
27

.6
46

4.
3

34
8.

6
##

#
Bi

sh
op

of
H

er
ef

or
d'

sB
lu

ec
oa

t
N

oS
pe

ci
al

Pr
ov

is
io

n
19

7
40

.1
84

.3
98

.5
10

0
10

0
69

.5
69

.5
98

77
.2

70
.1

79
.2

79
.2

49
2.

2
35

8.
5

##
#

Jo
hn

M
as

ef
ie

ld
H

ig
h

N
oS

pe
ci

al
Pr

ov
is

io
n

12
3

50
.4

91
.9

99
.2

10
0

10
0

74
74

99
.2

69
.1

52
.8

61
61

50
3.

9
37

6.
1

##
#

Ki
ng

st
on

eH
ig

h
N

oS
pe

ci
al

Pr
ov

is
io

n
11

5
40

.9
87

97
.4

10
0

10
0

57
.4

57
.4

97
.4

65
.2

32
.2

93
93

46
6.

7
35

9.
5

##
#

St
D

av
id

's
Pu

pi
lR

ef
er

ra
lU

ni
t

N
oS

pe
ci

al
Pr

ov
is

io
n

1
0

0
0

0
10

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

12
12

##
#

St
.M

ar
y'

sR
.C

.H
ig

h
N

oS
pe

ci
al

Pr
ov

is
io

n
11

9
47

.9
91

.6
99

.2
99

.2
10

0
79

.8
79

.8
98

.3
76

.5
43

.7
68

.9
97

.5
48

9.
8

37
3.

4
##

#
St

ei
ne

rA
ca

de
m

yH
er

ef
or

d
N

oS
pe

ci
al

Pr
ov

is
io

n
13

46
.2

84
.6

10
0

10
0

10
0

84
.6

84
.6

10
0

0
0

0
0

24
5.

7
24

5.
7

##
#

Th
eH

er
ef

or
dA

ca
de

m
y

N
oS

pe
ci

al
Pr

ov
is

io
n

78
34

.6
92

.3
98

.7
98

.7
10

0
56

.4
65

.4
98

.7
94

.9
1.

3
1.

3
2.

6
61

6.
3

35
6.

9
##

#
W

eo
bl

ey
Co

m
pr

eh
en

si
ve

N
oS

pe
ci

al
Pr

ov
is

io
n

66
28

.8
87

.9
10

0
10

0
10

0
71

.2
71

.2
97

69
.7

37
.9

89
.4

90
.9

52
0.

9
35

2.
6

##
#

W
hi

te
cr

os
s

N
oS

pe
ci

al
Pr

ov
is

io
n

14
6

34
.2

93
.8

97
.3

10
0

10
0

63
.7

67
.8

97
.3

90
.4

10
.3

16
.4

16
.4

44
3.

8
35

0.
8

##
#

W
ig

m
or

eH
ig

h
N

oS
pe

ci
al

Pr
ov

is
io

n
78

64
.1

98
.7

10
0

10
0

10
0

75
.6

75
.6

10
0

10
0

38
.5

73
.1

89
.7

56
7.

5
39

4.
1

##
#

A
yl

es
to

ne
Sc

ho
ol

Ac
tio

n
21

9.
5

52
.4

85
.7

10
0

10
0

9.
5

9.
5

85
.7

61
.9

4.
8

9.
5

9.
5

32
4.

3
26

7.
1

##
#

Bi
sh

op
of

H
er

ef
or

d'
sB

lu
ec

oa
t

Sc
ho

ol
Ac

tio
n

12
8.

3
58

.3
83

.3
10

0
10

0
33

.3
33

.3
83

.3
58

.3
33

.3
33

.3
33

.3
30

7.
8

25
8.

2
##

#
Jo

hn
M

as
ef

ie
ld

H
ig

h
Sc

ho
ol

Ac
tio

n
20

10
60

10
0

10
0

10
0

15
15

10
0

45
0

5
5

37
2

29
8.

7
##

#
Ki

ng
st

on
eH

ig
h

Sc
ho

ol
Ac

tio
n

9
11

.1
44

.4
10

0
10

0
10

0
11

.1
11

.1
10

0
22

.2
0

22
.2

22
.2

37
4.

2
30

0.
2

##
#

A
yl

es
to

ne
Sc

ho
ol

Ac
tio

n
21

9.
5

52
.4

85
.7

10
0

10
0

9.
5

9.
5

85
.7

61
.9

4.
8

9.
5

9.
5

32
4.

3
26

7.
1

##
#

Bi
sh

op
of

H
er

ef
or

d'
sB

lu
ec

oa
t

Sc
ho

ol
Ac

tio
n

12
8.

3
58

.3
83

.3
10

0
10

0
33

.3
33

.3
83

.3
58

.3
33

.3
33

.3
33

.3
30

7.
8

25
8.

2
##

#
Jo

hn
M

as
ef

ie
ld

H
ig

h
Sc

ho
ol

Ac
tio

n
20

10
60

10
0

10
0

10
0

15
15

10
0

45
0

5
5

37
2

29
8.

7
##

#
Ki

ng
st

on
eH

ig
h

Sc
ho

ol
Ac

tio
n

9
11

.1
44

.4
10

0
10

0
10

0
11

.1
11

.1
10

0
22

.2
0

22
.2

22
.2

37
4.

2
30

0.
2

##
#

Ro
ss

Jo
hn

Ky
rle

H
ig

h
Sc

ho
ol

Ac
tio

n
56

25
55

.4
94

.6
10

0
10

0
41

.1
41

.1
94

.6
51

.8
23

.2
53

.6
69

.6
41

6.
1

30
7.

2
##

#
St

D
av

id
's

Pu
pi

lR
ef

er
ra

lU
ni

t
Sc

ho
ol

Ac
tio

n
2

0
0

0
0

50
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

6
6

##
#

St
.M

ar
y'

sR
.C

.H
ig

h
Sc

ho
ol

Ac
tio

n
13

0
30

.8
84

.6
92

.3
92

.3
0

0
84

.6
15

.4
0

7.
7

84
.6

30
0.

8
24

5.
9

##
#

St
ei

ne
rA

ca
de

m
yH

er
ef

or
d

Sc
ho

ol
Ac

tio
n

4
25

25
50

50
50

25
25

50
0

0
0

0
12

7.
8

12
7.

8
##

#
Th

eH
er

ef
or

dA
ca

de
m

y
Sc

ho
ol

Ac
tio

n
19

5.
3

73
.7

10
0

10
0

10
0

5.
3

5.
3

10
0

10
0

0
0

0
49

4.
8

31
8.

2
##

#
Th

eP
rio

ry
P.

R.
U

.
Sc

ho
ol

Ac
tio

n
3

0
0

0
66

.7
66

.7
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

60
.4

60
.4

##
#

W
eo

bl
ey

Co
m

pr
eh

en
si

ve
Sc

ho
ol

Ac
tio

n
13

0
61

.5
10

0
10

0
10

0
7.

7
7.

7
10

0
46

.2
0

38
.5

38
.5

36
3.

7
28

6.
1

##
#

W
hi

te
cr

os
s

Sc
ho

ol
Ac

tio
n

21
4.

8
81

81
95

.2
10

0
0

0
61

.9
81

0
0

0
33

0.
6

26
4.

9
##

#
W

ig
m

or
eH

ig
h

Sc
ho

ol
Ac

tio
n

2
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

0
0

10
0

10
0

0
0

10
0

43
0.

5
35

9
##

#
A

yl
es

to
ne

Sc
ho

ol
Ac

tio
nP

lu
s

18
0

22
.2

83
.3

94
.4

10
0

0
0

50
33

.3
11

.1
11

.1
11

.1
22

0.
7

20
3.

3
##

#
Bi

sh
op

of
H

er
ef

or
d'

sB
lu

ec
oa

t
Sc

ho
ol

Ac
tio

nP
lu

s
11

9.
1

18
.2

72
.7

10
0

10
0

9.
1

9.
1

72
.7

45
.5

9.
1

9.
1

9.
1

22
4.

5
20

2.
1

##
#

Jo
hn

M
as

ef
ie

ld
H

ig
h

Sc
ho

ol
Ac

tio
nP

lu
s

5
0

20
80

80
80

20
20

80
20

20
20

20
23

2.
8

18
6.

9
##

#
Ki

ng
st

on
eH

ig
h

Sc
ho

ol
Ac

tio
nP

lu
s

2
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

0
0

10
0

0
0

50
50

47
8

31
1

##
#

A
yl

es
to

ne
Sc

ho
ol

Ac
tio

nP
lu

s
18

0
22

.2
83

.3
94

.4
10

0
0

0
50

33
.3

11
.1

11
.1

11
.1

22
0.

7
20

3.
3

##
#

Bi
sh

op
of

H
er

ef
or

d'
sB

lu
ec

oa
t

Sc
ho

ol
Ac

tio
nP

lu
s

11
9.

1
18

.2
72

.7
10

0
10

0
9.

1
9.

1
72

.7
45

.5
9.

1
9.

1
9.

1
22

4.
5

20
2.

1
##

#
Jo

hn
M

as
ef

ie
ld

H
ig

h
Sc

ho
ol

Ac
tio

nP
lu

s
5

0
20

80
80

80
20

20
80

20
20

20
20

23
2.

8
18

6.
9

##
#

Ki
ng

st
on

eH
ig

h
Sc

ho
ol

Ac
tio

nP
lu

s
2

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
0

0
10

0
0

0
50

50
47

8
31

1
##

#
Ro

ss
Jo

hn
Ky

rle
H

ig
h

Sc
ho

ol
Ac

tio
nP

lu
s

13
0

23
.1

69
.2

10
0

10
0

0
0

69
.2

15
.4

0
23

.1
61

.5
23

3
21

5.
1

##
#

St
D

av
id

's
Pu

pi
lR

ef
er

ra
lU

ni
t

Sc
ho

ol
Ac

tio
nP

lu
s

17
0

5.
9

11
.8

41
.2

76
.5

5.
9

5.
9

11
.8

0
0

0
0

57
.2

57
.2

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
of

Pu
pi

ls
A

ch
ie

vi
ng

Q
CA

157



##
#

St
.M

ar
y'

sR
.C

.H
ig

h
Sc

ho
ol

Ac
tio

nP
lu

s
1

0
0

0
10

0
10

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
10

0
11

4
11

4
##

#
St

ei
ne

rA
ca

de
m

yH
er

ef
or

d
Sc

ho
ol

Ac
tio

nP
lu

s
3

33
.3

66
.7

66
.7

10
0

10
0

66
.7

66
.7

66
.7

0
0

0
0

21
2.

7
21

2.
7

##
#

Th
eH

er
ef

or
dA

ca
de

m
y

Sc
ho

ol
Ac

tio
nP

lu
s

33
6.

1
75

.8
93

.9
10

0
10

0
21

.2
24

.2
93

.9
97

0
0

0
46

0.
3

30
7.

8
##

#
Th

eP
rio

ry
P.

R.
U

.
Sc

ho
ol

Ac
tio

nP
lu

s
3

0
0

0
66

.7
10

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

70
.3

70
.3

##
#

W
eo

bl
ey

Co
m

pr
eh

en
si

ve
Sc

ho
ol

Ac
tio

nP
lu

s
6

0
50

10
0

10
0

10
0

16
.7

16
.7

10
0

33
.3

16
.7

50
50

32
9.

7
26

8.
2

##
#

W
hi

te
cr

os
s

Sc
ho

ol
Ac

tio
nP

lu
s

6
0

50
66

.7
10

0
10

0
16

.7
16

.7
50

10
0

16
.7

16
.7

16
.7

28
3.

7
24

1.
9

##
#

W
ig

m
or

eH
ig

h
Sc

ho
ol

Ac
tio

nP
lu

s
6

16
.7

66
.7

83
.3

10
0

10
0

33
.3

33
.3

83
.3

83
.3

16
.7

16
.7

83
.3

35
7.

2
29

7.
8

##
#

A
yl

es
to

ne
St

at
em

en
te

d
1

0
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

0
0

10
0

10
0

0
0

0
25

5.
5

25
5.

5
##

#
Ba

rr
sC

ou
rt

Sc
ho

ol
St

at
em

en
te

d
9

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

##
#

Bi
sh

op
of

H
er

ef
or

d'
sB

lu
ec

oa
t

St
at

em
en

te
d

15
6.

7
0

26
.7

40
10

0
0

0
26

.7
20

0
0

0
12

5.
9

12
3

##
#

Br
oo

kf
ie

ld
Sc

ho
ol

St
at

em
en

te
d

13
0

7.
7

15
.4

61
.5

76
.9

0
7.

7
15

.4
0

0
0

0
13

3.
2

11
4.

2
##

#
Jo

hn
M

as
ef

ie
ld

H
ig

h
St

at
em

en
te

d
3

0
33

.3
33

.3
10

0
10

0
33

.3
33

.3
33

.3
33

.3
0

0
0

19
0.

8
16

2
##

#
Ki

ng
st

on
eH

ig
h

St
at

em
en

te
d

6
0

16
.7

50
66

.7
66

.7
0

0
33

.3
0

0
0

0
14

0
14

0
##

#
A

yl
es

to
ne

St
at

em
en

te
d

1
0

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
0

0
10

0
10

0
0

0
0

25
5.

5
25

5.
5

##
#

Ba
rr

sC
ou

rt
Sc

ho
ol

St
at

em
en

te
d

9
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
##

#
Bi

sh
op

of
H

er
ef

or
d'

sB
lu

ec
oa

t
St

at
em

en
te

d
15

6.
7

0
26

.7
40

10
0

0
0

26
.7

20
0

0
0

12
5.

9
12

3
##

#
Br

oo
kf

ie
ld

Sc
ho

ol
St

at
em

en
te

d
13

0
7.

7
15

.4
61

.5
76

.9
0

7.
7

15
.4

0
0

0
0

13
3.

2
11

4.
2

##
#

Jo
hn

M
as

ef
ie

ld
H

ig
h

St
at

em
en

te
d

3
0

33
.3

33
.3

10
0

10
0

33
.3

33
.3

33
.3

33
.3

0
0

0
19

0.
8

16
2

##
#

Ki
ng

st
on

eH
ig

h
St

at
em

en
te

d
6

0
16

.7
50

66
.7

66
.7

0
0

33
.3

0
0

0
0

14
0

14
0

##
#

Ro
ss

Jo
hn

Ky
rle

H
ig

h
St

at
em

en
te

d
5

0
40

80
80

80
0

0
60

20
20

20
20

22
2

19
9.

6
##

#
St

.M
ar

y'
sR

.C
.H

ig
h

St
at

em
en

te
d

1
0

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
0

0
10

0
0

0
0

10
0

23
7

23
7

##
#

St
ei

ne
rA

ca
de

m
yH

er
ef

or
d

St
at

em
en

te
d

1
0

0
0

10
0

10
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
16

6
16

6
##

#
Th

eH
er

ef
or

dA
ca

de
m

y
St

at
em

en
te

d
3

0
33

.3
10

0
10

0
10

0
0

0
66

.7
10

0
0

0
0

31
8.

8
26

7
##

#
W

eo
bl

ey
Co

m
pr

eh
en

si
ve

St
at

em
en

te
d

3
0

33
.3

66
.7

66
.7

66
.7

0
0

66
.7

0
0

0
0

20
9

18
2.

3
##

#
W

es
tf

ie
ld

Sc
ho

ol
St

at
em

en
te

d
3

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

##
#

W
hi

te
cr

os
s

St
at

em
en

te
d

4
0

75
75

10
0

10
0

25
25

75
50

25
25

25
31

0.
5

24
4

##
#

W
ig

m
or

eH
ig

h
St

at
em

en
te

d
2

0
50

10
0

10
0

10
0

0
0

10
0

10
0

0
0

50
29

4.
3

28
3.

3
19

56
32

.3
79

.8
93

.7
97

.2
98

.4
55

.1
56

.3
92

.6
70

.3
31

.1
47

.9
52

.5
45

3.
9

33
2.

7

158



20
10

N
O

C
3+

A
*-

A
5+

A
*-

C
5A

*-
G

1+
A

*-
G

A
ny

Q
ua

l

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lA

*-
CG

CS
EE

&
M

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lL

vl
2E

&
M

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lL

vl
1E

&
M

2+
A

*-
CS

ci
en

ce
M

FL
Lv

l2
M

FL
Lv

l1
M

FL
A

ny
A

PS
Ca

pp
ed

A
PS

H
er

ef
or

ds
hi

re
N

oS
pe

ci
al

Pr
ov

is
io

n
14

76
40

.4
89

.7
98

.6
99

.7
99

.9
68

.3
69

.6
98

.2
77

.6
38

.6
58

61
.9

49
9.

2
36

0.
6

H
er

ef
or

ds
hi

re
Sc

ho
ol

Ac
tio

n
23

2
12

.1
59

.1
90

.5
97

97
.8

19
.8

20
.7

88
.8

56
.5

10
.3

23
.3

32
.3

37
1.

1
28

4.
6

H
er

ef
or

ds
hi

re
Sc

ho
ol

Ac
tio

nP
lu

s
17

2
3.

5
49

.4
78

.5
91

.9
96

.5
12

.2
12

.8
73

.3
48

.3
7.

6
13

.4
19

.2
30

6.
1

24
1.

7
H

er
ef

or
ds

hi
re

St
at

em
en

te
d

76
1.

3
19

.7
42

.1
60

.5
75

2.
6

3.
9

38
.2

21
.1

2.
6

3.
9

6.
6

16
0.

5
14

4.
6

19
56

32
.3

79
.8

93
.7

97
.2

98
.4

55
.1

56
.3

92
.6

70
.3

31
.1

47
.9

52
.5

45
3.

9
33

2.
7

20
10

N
O

C
3+

A
*-

A
5+

A
*-

C
5A

*-
G

1+
A

*-
G

A
ny

Q
ua

l

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lA

*-
CG

CS
EE

&
M

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lL

vl
2E

&
M

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lL

vl
1E

&
M

2+
A

*-
CS

ci
en

ce
M

FL
Lv

l2
M

FL
Lv

l1
M

FL
A

ny
A

PS
Ca

pp
ed

A
PS

N
CE

R
N

/A
27

0
0

11
.1

63
88

.9
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

78
.7

76
.1

N
CE

R
N

oS
pe

ci
al

Pr
ov

is
io

n
41

50
79

35
.7

84
.9

98
99

.5
99

.7
66

.7
69

.3
97

.6
69

.5
35

.6
51

53
.3

48
4.

3
35

3.
4

N
CE

R
Sc

ho
ol

Ac
tio

n
74

91
9

10
.1

55
.6

93
98

.6
99

26
29

.8
91

42
.4

11
.4

25
.1

29
.6

37
0.

5
28

7.
1

N
CE

R
Sc

ho
ol

Ac
tio

nP
lu

s
42

03
6

6.
4

36
.6

74
.7

92
.6

95
.4

15
.8

18
.5

71
.5

29
.5

6.
5

15
.1

19
.1

27
6.

7
22

5.
2

N
CE

R
St

at
em

en
te

d
21

57
6

3.
1

18
.8

47
.2

68
.4

84
.6

7.
1

8.
2

41
.5

16
.5

2.
8

6.
6

12
.4

18
2.

1
15

4.
7

55
36

37
28

.7
74

.7
93

.6
97

.6
98

.7
55

57
.7

92
.6

60
.8

28
.8

43
45

.9
44

1.
3

32
7

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
of

Pu
pi

ls
A

ch
ie

vi
ng

Q
CA

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
of

Pu
pi

ls
A

ch
ie

vi
ng

Q
CA

159



20
10

N
O

C
3+

A
*-

A
5+

A
*-

C
5A

*-
G

1+
A

*-
G

A
ny

Q
ua

l

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lA

*-
CG

CS
EE

&
M

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lL

vl
2E

&
M

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lL

vl
1E

&
M

2+
A

*-
CS

ci
en

ce
M

FL
Lv

l2
M

FL
Lv

l1
M

FL
A

ny
A

PS
Ca

pp
ed

A
PS

##
#

A
yl

es
to

ne
Pu

pi
ls

Lo
ok

ed
Af

te
rA

tC
en

su
s

2
50

50
50

50
10

0
50

50
50

50
0

50
50

30
8

20
5

##
#

Bi
sh

op
of

H
er

ef
or

d'
sB

lu
ec

oa
t

Pu
pi

ls
Lo

ok
ed

Af
te

rA
tC

en
su

s
3

0
0

66
.7

66
.7

10
0

0
0

66
.7

0
0

33
.3

33
.3

16
1.

3
32

7.
3

##
#

Br
oo

kf
ie

ld
Sc

ho
ol

Pu
pi

ls
Lo

ok
ed

Af
te

rA
tC

en
su

s
5

0
20

20
40

60
0

20
20

0
0

0
0

14
3.

4
0

##
#

La
dy

H
aw

ki
ns

'
Pu

pi
ls

Lo
ok

ed
Af

te
rA

tC
en

su
s

1
0

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
0

0
10

0
10

0
0

0
0

18
3

16
1.

3
##

#
Le

om
in

st
er

,t
he

M
in

st
er

Pu
pi

ls
Lo

ok
ed

Af
te

rA
tC

en
su

s
2

0
50

10
0

10
0

10
0

0
0

10
0

50
50

50
50

38
8.

5
33

3.
2

##
#

Pe
te

rc
hu

rc
hF

ai
rf

ie
ld

H
ig

h
Pu

pi
ls

Lo
ok

ed
Af

te
rA

tC
en

su
s

1
0

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
0

0
10

0
10

0
0

10
0

10
0

40
8.

5
11

2.
5

##
#

Ro
ss

Jo
hn

Ky
rle

H
ig

h
Pu

pi
ls

Lo
ok

ed
Af

te
rA

tC
en

su
s

2
0

50
10

0
10

0
10

0
0

0
10

0
0

0
50

50
32

9.
5

11
5.

3
##

#
St

D
av

id
's

Pu
pi

lR
ef

er
ra

lU
ni

t
Pu

pi
ls

Lo
ok

ed
Af

te
rA

tC
en

su
s

1
0

0
0

10
0

10
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
47

.5
35

5.
4

##
#

St
.M

ar
y'

sR
.C

.H
ig

h
Pu

pi
ls

Lo
ok

ed
Af

te
rA

tC
en

su
s

1
0

0
0

10
0

10
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

10
0

11
4

34
4.

7
##

#
Th

eH
er

ef
or

dA
ca

de
m

y
Pu

pi
ls

Lo
ok

ed
Af

te
rA

tC
en

su
s

5
0

80
10

0
10

0
10

0
60

60
10

0
10

0
0

0
0

35
5.

5
18

3
##

#
Th

eP
rio

ry
P.

R.
U

.
Pu

pi
ls

Lo
ok

ed
Af

te
rA

tC
en

su
s

2
0

0
0

10
0

10
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
75

.5
32

3.
8

##
#

W
eo

bl
ey

Co
m

pr
eh

en
si

ve
Pu

pi
ls

Lo
ok

ed
Af

te
rA

tC
en

su
s

2
0

50
10

0
10

0
10

0
0

0
10

0
0

0
0

0
33

8
32

4.
5

##
#

W
ig

m
or

eH
ig

h
Pu

pi
ls

Lo
ok

ed
Af

te
rA

tC
en

su
s

2
0

50
50

10
0

10
0

50
50

50
50

0
50

50
33

6.
8

34
2.

7
##

#
A

yl
es

to
ne

Pu
pi

ls
N

ot
Lo

ok
ed

Af
te

rA
tC

en
su

s
19

4
28

.9
77

.3
95

.9
10

0
10

0
50

.5
50

.5
91

.8
74

.2
14

.4
23

.7
23

.7
42

7.
1

30
5

##
#

Ba
rr

sC
ou

rt
Sc

ho
ol

Pu
pi

ls
N

ot
Lo

ok
ed

Af
te

rA
tC

en
su

s
9

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
36

3.
9

##
#

Bi
sh

op
of

H
er

ef
or

d'
sB

lu
ec

oa
t

Pu
pi

ls
N

ot
Lo

ok
ed

Af
te

rA
tC

en
su

s
23

2
35

.3
75

.4
92

.2
96

.6
10

0
61

.2
61

.2
91

.8
72

61
.6

69
69

45
0.

6
34

8.
3

##
#

Br
oo

kf
ie

ld
Sc

ho
ol

Pu
pi

ls
N

ot
Lo

ok
ed

Af
te

rA
tC

en
su

s
8

0
0

12
.5

75
87

.5
0

0
12

.5
0

0
0

0
12

6.
8

29
1.

5
##

#
Jo

hn
M

as
ef

ie
ld

H
ig

h
Pu

pi
ls

N
ot

Lo
ok

ed
Af

te
rA

tC
en

su
s

15
1

42
.4

84
.1

97
.4

99
.3

99
.3

63
.6

63
.6

97
.4

63
.6

43
.7

51
51

47
1.

2
33

8
##

#
Ki

ng
st

on
eH

ig
h

Pu
pi

ls
N

ot
Lo

ok
ed

Af
te

rA
tC

en
su

s
13

2
36

.4
81

.1
95

.5
98

.5
98

.5
50

.8
50

.8
94

.7
58

.3
28

83
.3

83
.3

44
5.

7
47

.5
##

#
La

dy
H

aw
ki

ns
'

Pu
pi

ls
N

ot
Lo

ok
ed

Af
te

rA
tC

en
su

s
85

21
.2

68
.2

97
.6

10
0

10
0

47
.1

47
.1

97
.6

55
.3

41
.2

48
.2

48
.2

40
6.

9
49

.9
##

#
Le

om
in

st
er

,t
he

M
in

st
er

Pu
pi

ls
N

ot
Lo

ok
ed

Af
te

rA
tC

en
su

s
12

6
29

.4
88

.9
97

.6
98

.4
98

.4
56

.3
56

.3
96

.8
65

.9
47

.6
50

50
49

2.
3

11
4

##
#

Pe
te

rc
hu

rc
hF

ai
rf

ie
ld

H
ig

h
Pu

pi
ls

N
ot

Lo
ok

ed
Af

te
rA

tC
en

su
s

78
33

.3
93

.6
10

0
10

0
10

0
71

.8
73

.1
98

.7
89

.7
41

64
.1

64
.1

49
6

35
9.

9
##

#
Q

ue
en

El
iz

ab
et

hH
ig

h
Pu

pi
ls

N
ot

Lo
ok

ed
Af

te
rA

tC
en

su
s

55
16

.4
98

.2
10

0
10

0
10

0
34

.5
49

.1
10

0
60

0
7.

3
7.

3
49

6
21

4.
7

##
#

Ro
ss

Jo
hn

Ky
rle

H
ig

h
Pu

pi
ls

N
ot

Lo
ok

ed
Af

te
rA

tC
en

su
s

20
0

37
73

.5
95

.5
99

.5
99

.5
60

60
95

67
.5

40
72

.5
83

.5
48

3
28

6.
5

##
#

St
D

av
id

's
Pu

pi
lR

ef
er

ra
lU

ni
t

Pu
pi

ls
N

ot
Lo

ok
ed

Af
te

rA
tC

en
su

s
19

0
5.

3
10

.5
31

.6
73

.7
5.

3
5.

3
10

.5
0

0
0

0
49

.9
33

9.
1

##
#

St
.M

ar
y'

sR
.C

.H
ig

h
Pu

pi
ls

N
ot

Lo
ok

ed
Af

te
rA

tC
en

su
s

13
3

42
.9

85
97

.7
98

.5
99

.2
71

.4
71

.4
97

69
.9

39
.1

62
.4

96
.2

46
9.

4
75

.5
##

#
St

ei
ne

rA
ca

de
m

yH
er

ef
or

d
Pu

pi
ls

N
ot

Lo
ok

ed
Af

te
rA

tC
en

su
s

21
38

.1
66

.7
81

90
.5

90
.5

66
.7

66
.7

81
0

0
0

0
21

4.
7

60
.3

##
#

Th
eH

er
ef

or
dA

ca
de

m
y

Pu
pi

ls
N

ot
Lo

ok
ed

Af
te

rA
tC

en
su

s
12

8
23

.4
84

.4
97

.7
99

.2
10

0
38

.3
44

.5
96

.9
96

.1
0.

8
0.

8
1.

6
56

1.
3

28
4

##
#

Th
eP

rio
ry

P.
R.

U
.

Pu
pi

ls
N

ot
Lo

ok
ed

Af
te

rA
tC

en
su

s
4

0
0

0
50

75
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

60
.3

33
2.

3
##

#
W

eo
bl

ey
Co

m
pr

eh
en

si
ve

Pu
pi

ls
N

ot
Lo

ok
ed

Af
te

rA
tC

en
su

s
86

22
.1

80
.2

98
.8

98
.8

98
.8

57
57

96
.5

62
.8

30
.2

77
.9

79
.1

47
7.

2
0

##
#

W
es

tf
ie

ld
Sc

ho
ol

Pu
pi

ls
N

ot
Lo

ok
ed

Af
te

rA
tC

en
su

s
3

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
33

4.
5

##
#

W
hi

te
cr

os
s

Pu
pi

ls
N

ot
Lo

ok
ed

Af
te

rA
tC

en
su

s
17

7
28

.8
90

.4
93

.8
99

.4
10

0
53

.7
57

.1
91

88
.7

9.
6

14
.7

14
.7

42
2

25
5

##
#

W
ig

m
or

eH
ig

h
Pu

pi
ls

N
ot

Lo
ok

ed
Af

te
rA

tC
en

su
s

86
59

.3
96

.5
10

0
10

0
10

0
69

.8
69

.8
10

0
10

0
36

66
.3

89
.5

54
8.

6
38

7.
2

19
56

32
.3

79
.8

93
.7

97
.2

98
.4

55
.1

56
.3

92
.6

70
.3

31
.1

47
.9

52
.5

45
3.

9
33

2.
7

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
of

Pu
pi

ls
A

ch
ie

vi
ng

Q
CA

160



20
10

N
O

C
3+

A
*-

A
5+

A
*-

C
5A

*-
G

1+
A

*-
G

A
ny

Q
ua

l

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lA

*-
CG

CS
EE

&
M

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lL

vl
2E

&
M

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lL

vl
1E

&
M

2+
A

*-
CS

ci
en

ce
M

FL
Lv

l2
M

FL
Lv

l1
M

FL
A

ny
A

PS
Ca

pp
ed

A
PS

H
er

ef
or

ds
hi

re
Pu

pi
ls

Lo
ok

ed
Af

te
rA

tC
en

su
s

29
3.

4
34

.5
62

.1
82

.8
93

.1
17

.2
20

.7
62

.1
34

.5
3.

4
20

.7
24

.1
25

1.
2

20
6.

9
H

er
ef

or
ds

hi
re

Pu
pi

ls
N

ot
Lo

ok
ed

Af
te

rA
tC

en
su

s
19

27
32

.7
80

.5
94

.2
97

.4
98

.5
55

.6
56

.8
93

70
.8

31
.6

48
.3

52
.9

45
6.

9
33

4.
6

19
56

32
.3

79
.8

93
.7

97
.2

98
.4

55
.1

56
.3

92
.6

70
.3

31
.1

47
.9

52
.5

45
3.

9
33

2.
7

20
10

N
O

C
3+

A
*-

A
5+

A
*-

C
5A

*-
G

1+
A

*-
G

A
ny

Q
ua

l

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lA

*-
CG

CS
EE

&
M

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lL

vl
2E

&
M

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lL

vl
1E

&
M

2+
A

*-
CS

ci
en

ce
M

FL
Lv

l2
M

FL
Lv

l1
M

FL
A

ny
A

PS
Ca

pp
ed

A
PS

N
CE

R
N

/A
27

0
0

11
.1

63
88

.9
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

78
.7

76
.1

N
CE

R
Pu

pi
ls

Lo
ok

ed
Af

te
rA

tC
en

su
s

52
89

5.
2

31
.7

63
.1

83
.3

89
.6

14
.7

17
59

.7
25

7
15

.4
19

.4
24

5.
1

19
8.

6
N

CE
R

Pu
pi

ls
N

ot
Lo

ok
ed

Af
te

rA
tC

en
su

s
54

83
21

29
75

.1
93

.9
97

.8
98

.7
55

.4
58

.1
92

.9
61

.1
29

43
.3

46
.2

44
3.

2
32

8.
2

55
36

37
28

.7
74

.7
93

.6
97

.6
98

.7
55

57
.7

92
.6

60
.8

28
.8

43
45

.9
44

1.
3

32
7

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
of

Pu
pi

ls
A

ch
ie

vi
ng

Q
CA

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
of

Pu
pi

ls
A

ch
ie

vi
ng

Q
CA

161



20
10

N
O

C
3+

A
*-

A
5+

A
*-

C
5A

*-
G

1+
A

*-
G

A
ny

Q
ua

l

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lA

*-
CG

CS
EE

&
M

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lL

vl
2E

&
M

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lL

vl
1E

&
M

2+
A

*-
CS

ci
en

ce
M

FL
Lv

l2
M

FL
Lv

l1
M

FL
A

ny
A

PS
Ca

pp
ed

A
PS

##
#

A
yl

es
to

ne
Pu

pi
ls

El
ig

ib
le

Fo
rF

SM
20

15
45

85
10

0
10

0
25

25
80

45
5

5
5

31
8.

9
25

5.
8

##
#

Bi
sh

op
of

H
er

ef
or

d'
sB

lu
ec

oa
t

Pu
pi

ls
El

ig
ib

le
Fo

rF
SM

6
0

0
50

66
.7

10
0

0
0

50
16

.7
16

.7
16

.7
16

.7
15

3.
4

14
3.

5
##

#
Br

oo
kf

ie
ld

Sc
ho

ol
Pu

pi
ls

El
ig

ib
le

Fo
rF

SM
6

0
16

.7
16

.7
83

.3
10

0
0

16
.7

16
.7

0
0

0
0

16
6.

3
14

1.
2

##
#

Jo
hn

M
as

ef
ie

ld
H

ig
h

Pu
pi

ls
El

ig
ib

le
Fo

rF
SM

13
15

.4
69

.2
10

0
10

0
10

0
30

.8
30

.8
10

0
53

.8
0

0
0

37
1.

9
30

3.
6

##
#

Ki
ng

st
on

eH
ig

h
Pu

pi
ls

El
ig

ib
le

Fo
rF

SM
12

8.
3

50
83

.3
10

0
10

0
25

25
83

.3
41

.7
16

.7
41

.7
41

.7
33

7.
1

27
8.

9
##

#
La

dy
H

aw
ki

ns
'

Pu
pi

ls
El

ig
ib

le
Fo

rF
SM

7
14

.3
57

.1
10

0
10

0
10

0
14

.3
14

.3
10

0
71

.4
14

.3
28

.6
28

.6
37

8.
1

30
0.

9
##

#
Le

om
in

st
er

,t
he

M
in

st
er

Pu
pi

ls
El

ig
ib

le
Fo

rF
SM

15
33

.3
80

10
0

10
0

10
0

40
40

10
0

53
.3

26
.7

33
.3

33
.3

45
4.

2
33

3.
8

##
#

Pe
te

rc
hu

rc
hF

ai
rf

ie
ld

H
ig

h
Pu

pi
ls

El
ig

ib
le

Fo
rF

SM
4

0
75

10
0

10
0

10
0

75
75

10
0

10
0

50
10

0
10

0
43

1.
8

32
9.

8
##

#
Q

ue
en

El
iz

ab
et

hH
ig

h
Pu

pi
ls

El
ig

ib
le

Fo
rF

SM
9

11
.1

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

11
.1

22
.2

10
0

44
.4

0
0

0
48

3.
3

33
7.

2
##

#
Ro

ss
Jo

hn
Ky

rle
H

ig
h

Pu
pi

ls
El

ig
ib

le
Fo

rF
SM

13
15

.4
38

.5
84

.6
10

0
10

0
23

.1
23

.1
84

.6
46

.2
15

.4
53

.8
76

.9
33

9.
9

27
6.

9
##

#
St

D
av

id
's

Pu
pi

lR
ef

er
ra

lU
ni

t
Pu

pi
ls

El
ig

ib
le

Fo
rF

SM
2

0
0

0
0

50
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

6.
3

6.
3

##
#

St
.M

ar
y'

sR
.C

.H
ig

h
Pu

pi
ls

El
ig

ib
le

Fo
rF

SM
6

66
.7

83
.3

10
0

10
0

10
0

83
.3

83
.3

10
0

66
.7

33
.3

66
.7

10
0

49
5.

4
37

6.
4

##
#

St
ei

ne
rA

ca
de

m
yH

er
ef

or
d

Pu
pi

ls
El

ig
ib

le
Fo

rF
SM

4
0

50
10

0
10

0
10

0
50

50
10

0
0

0
0

0
22

5.
5

22
5.

5
##

#
Th

eH
er

ef
or

dA
ca

de
m

y
Pu

pi
ls

El
ig

ib
le

Fo
rF

SM
16

12
.5

62
.5

93
.8

10
0

10
0

25
31

.3
87

.5
10

0
0

0
0

46
0.

3
30

3.
2

##
#

Th
eP

rio
ry

P.
R.

U
.

Pu
pi

ls
El

ig
ib

le
Fo

rF
SM

1
0

0
0

0
10

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

60
60

##
#

W
eo

bl
ey

Co
m

pr
eh

en
si

ve
Pu

pi
ls

El
ig

ib
le

Fo
rF

SM
9

11
.1

66
.7

10
0

10
0

10
0

33
.3

33
.3

10
0

44
.4

22
.2

33
.3

33
.3

38
8.

7
30

1
##

#
W

hi
te

cr
os

s
Pu

pi
ls

El
ig

ib
le

Fo
rF

SM
14

21
.4

78
.6

78
.6

10
0

10
0

21
.4

21
.4

64
.3

78
.6

7.
1

7.
1

7.
1

34
9.

8
28

3.
1

##
#

W
ig

m
or

eH
ig

h
Pu

pi
ls

El
ig

ib
le

Fo
rF

SM
6

0
66

.7
83

.3
10

0
10

0
33

.3
33

.3
83

.3
83

.3
16

.7
16

.7
33

.3
33

2.
2

29
4.

3
##

#
A

yl
es

to
ne

Pu
pi

ls
N

ot
El

ig
ib

le
Fo

rF
SM

17
6

30
.7

80
.7

96
.6

99
.4

10
0

53
.4

53
.4

92
.6

77
.3

15
.3

26
.1

26
.1

43
8

33
4

##
#

Ba
rr

sC
ou

rt
Sc

ho
ol

Pu
pi

ls
N

ot
El

ig
ib

le
Fo

rF
SM

9
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
##

#
Bi

sh
op

of
H

er
ef

or
d'

sB
lu

ec
oa

t
Pu

pi
ls

N
ot

El
ig

ib
le

Fo
rF

SM
22

9
35

.8
76

.4
93

96
.9

10
0

62
62

92
.6

72
.5

62
69

.9
69

.9
45

4.
6

33
5.

9
##

#
Br

oo
kf

ie
ld

Sc
ho

ol
Pu

pi
ls

N
ot

El
ig

ib
le

Fo
rF

SM
7

0
0

14
.3

42
.9

57
.1

0
0

14
.3

0
0

0
0

10
4.

9
91

.1
##

#
Jo

hn
M

as
ef

ie
ld

H
ig

h
Pu

pi
ls

N
ot

El
ig

ib
le

Fo
rF

SM
13

8
44

.9
85

.5
97

.1
99

.3
99

.3
66

.7
66

.7
97

.1
64

.5
47

.8
55

.8
55

.8
48

0.
6

36
0.

2
##

#
Ki

ng
st

on
eH

ig
h

Pu
pi

ls
N

ot
El

ig
ib

le
Fo

rF
SM

12
0

39
.2

84
.2

96
.7

98
.3

98
.3

53
.3

53
.3

95
.8

60
29

.2
87

.5
87

.5
45

6.
6

35
1.

3
##

#
La

dy
H

aw
ki

ns
'

Pu
pi

ls
N

ot
El

ig
ib

le
Fo

rF
SM

79
21

.5
68

.4
97

.5
10

0
10

0
49

.4
49

.4
97

.5
54

.4
43

49
.4

49
.4

40
6.

6
32

4
##

#
Le

om
in

st
er

,t
he

M
in

st
er

Pu
pi

ls
N

ot
El

ig
ib

le
Fo

rF
SM

11
3

28
.3

89
.4

97
.3

98
.2

98
.2

57
.5

57
.5

96
.5

67
.3

50
.4

52
.2

52
.2

49
5.

5
34

3.
6

##
#

Pe
te

rc
hu

rc
hF

ai
rf

ie
ld

H
ig

h
Pu

pi
ls

N
ot

El
ig

ib
le

Fo
rF

SM
75

34
.7

93
.3

10
0

10
0

10
0

70
.7

72
98

.7
89

.3
40

62
.7

62
.7

49
8.

2
36

5
##

#
Q

ue
en

El
iz

ab
et

hH
ig

h
Pu

pi
ls

N
ot

El
ig

ib
le

Fo
rF

SM
46

17
.4

97
.8

10
0

10
0

10
0

39
.1

54
.3

10
0

63
0

8.
7

8.
7

49
8.

5
35

0.
5

##
#

Ro
ss

Jo
hn

Ky
rle

H
ig

h
Pu

pi
ls

N
ot

El
ig

ib
le

Fo
rF

SM
18

9
38

.1
75

.7
96

.3
99

.5
99

.5
61

.9
61

.9
95

.8
68

.3
41

.3
73

.5
83

.6
49

1.
3

34
1.

8
##

#
St

D
av

id
's

Pu
pi

lR
ef

er
ra

lU
ni

t
Pu

pi
ls

N
ot

El
ig

ib
le

Fo
rF

SM
18

0
5.

6
11

.1
38

.9
77

.8
5.

6
5.

6
11

.1
0

0
0

0
54

.6
54

.6
##

#
St

.M
ar

y'
sR

.C
.H

ig
h

Pu
pi

ls
N

ot
El

ig
ib

le
Fo

rF
SM

12
8

41
.4

84
.4

96
.9

98
.4

99
.2

70
.3

70
.3

96
.1

69
.5

39
.1

61
.7

96
.1

46
5.

4
35

7.
2

##
#

St
ei

ne
rA

ca
de

m
yH

er
ef

or
d

Pu
pi

ls
N

ot
El

ig
ib

le
Fo

rF
SM

17
47

.1
70

.6
76

.5
88

.2
88

.2
70

.6
70

.6
76

.5
0

0
0

0
21

2.
2

21
2.

2
##

#
Th

eH
er

ef
or

dA
ca

de
m

y
Pu

pi
ls

N
ot

El
ig

ib
le

Fo
rF

SM
11

7
23

.9
87

.2
98

.3
99

.1
10

0
41

47
98

.3
95

.7
0.

9
0.

9
1.

7
56

6.
3

34
1.

8
##

#
Th

eP
rio

ry
P.

R.
U

.
Pu

pi
ls

N
ot

El
ig

ib
le

Fo
rF

SM
5

0
0

0
80

80
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

66
.5

66
.5

##
#

W
eo

bl
ey

Co
m

pr
eh

en
si

ve
Pu

pi
ls

N
ot

El
ig

ib
le

Fo
rF

SM
79

22
.8

81
98

.7
98

.7
98

.7
58

.2
58

.2
96

.2
63

.3
30

.4
81

82
.3

48
3.

7
33

4.
6

##
#

W
es

tf
ie

ld
Sc

ho
ol

Pu
pi

ls
N

ot
El

ig
ib

le
Fo

rF
SM

3
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
##

#
W

hi
te

cr
os

s
Pu

pi
ls

N
ot

El
ig

ib
le

Fo
rF

SM
16

3
29

.4
91

.4
95

.1
99

.4
10

0
56

.4
60

.1
93

.3
89

.6
9.

8
15

.3
15

.3
42

8.
2

33
8.

9
##

#
W

ig
m

or
eH

ig
h

Pu
pi

ls
N

ot
El

ig
ib

le
Fo

rF
SM

82
62

.2
97

.6
10

0
10

0
10

0
72

72
10

0
10

0
36

.6
69

.5
92

.7
55

9.
3

39
0.

8
19

56
32

.3
79

.8
93

.7
97

.2
98

.4
55

.1
56

.3
92

.6
70

.3
31

.1
47

.9
52

.5
45

3.
9

33
2.

7

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
of

Pu
pi

ls
A

ch
ie

vi
ng

Q
CA

162



20
10

N
O

C
3+

A
*-

A
5+

A
*-

C
5A

*-
G

1+
A

*-
G

A
ny

Q
ua

l

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lA

*-
CG

CS
EE

&
M

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lL

vl
2E

&
M

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lL

vl
1E

&
M

2+
A

*-
CS

ci
en

ce
M

FL
Lv

l2
M

FL
Lv

l1
M

FL
A

ny
A

PS
Ca

pp
ed

A
PS

H
er

ef
or

ds
hi

re
Pu

pi
ls

El
ig

ib
le

Fo
rF

SM
16

3
15

.3
58

.9
85

.9
96

.3
99

.4
27

.6
29

.4
83

.4
54

.6
11

.7
20

.9
24

.5
36

0.
9

28
0.

4
H

er
ef

or
ds

hi
re

Pu
pi

ls
N

ot
El

ig
ib

le
Fo

rF
SM

17
93

33
.8

81
.7

94
.4

97
.3

98
.3

57
.6

58
.7

93
.4

71
.7

32
.9

50
.3

55
46

2.
3

33
7.

5
19

56
32

.3
79

.8
93

.7
97

.2
98

.4
55

.1
56

.3
92

.6
70

.3
31

.1
47

.9
52

.5
45

3.
9

33
2.

7

20
10

N
O

C
3+

A
*-

A
5+

A
*-

C
5A

*-
G

1+
A

*-
G

A
ny

Q
ua

l

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lA

*-
CG

CS
EE

&
M

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lL

vl
2E

&
M

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lL

vl
1E

&
M

2+
A

*-
CS

ci
en

ce
M

FL
Lv

l2
M

FL
Lv

l1
M

FL
A

ny
A

PS
Ca

pp
ed

A
PS

N
CE

R
N

/A
27

0
0

11
.1

63
88

.9
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

78
.7

76
.1

N
CE

R
Pu

pi
ls

El
ig

ib
le

Fo
rF

SM
71

65
9

12
.7

55
.3

85
94

.4
97

30
.3

33
.5

82
.7

42
.9

13
.9

26
.1

30
.1

35
6.

4
27

3
N

CE
R

Pu
pi

ls
N

ot
El

ig
ib

le
Fo

rF
SM

48
19

51
31

.1
77

.6
94

.9
98

.1
98

.9
58

.6
61

.3
94

63
.4

31
45

.5
48

.3
45

4
33

5
55

36
37

28
.7

74
.7

93
.6

97
.6

98
.7

55
57

.7
92

.6
60

.8
28

.8
43

45
.9

44
1.

3
32

7

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
of

Pu
pi

ls
A

ch
ie

vi
ng

Q
CA

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
of

Pu
pi

ls
A

ch
ie

vi
ng

Q
CA

163



20
10

N
O

C
3+

A
*-

A
5+

A
*-

C
5A

*-
G

1+
A

*-
G

A
ny

Q
ua

l

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lA

*-
CG

CS
EE

&
M

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lL

vl
2E

&
M

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lL

vl
1E

&
M

2+
A

*-
CS

ci
en

ce
M

FL
Lv

l2
M

FL
Lv

l1
M

FL
A

ny
A

PS
Ca

pp
ed

A
PS

##
#

A
yl

es
to

ne
Af

gh
an

is
ta

ni
1

0
0

0
0

10
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
12

12
##

#
Th

eH
er

ef
or

dA
ca

de
m

y
Af

ric
an

1
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
0

0
0

83
4

40
4

##
#

La
dy

H
aw

ki
ns

'
An

yO
th

er
As

ia
nB

ac
kg

ro
un

d
1

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
0

0
10

0
10

0
0

10
0

10
0

33
4

31
7

##
#

Bi
sh

op
of

H
er

ef
or

d'
sB

lu
ec

oa
t

An
yO

th
er

Et
hn

ic
G

ro
up

1
0

0
0

0
10

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

66
66

##
#

St
.M

ar
y'

sR
.C

.H
ig

h
An

yO
th

er
Et

hn
ic

G
ro

up
1

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

60
8.

3
42

2
##

#
W

eo
bl

ey
Co

m
pr

eh
en

si
ve

An
yO

th
er

Et
hn

ic
G

ro
up

2
0

50
10

0
10

0
10

0
50

50
10

0
50

0
50

50
46

7
32

0
##

#
Th

eH
er

ef
or

dA
ca

de
m

y
An

yO
th

er
M

ix
ed

Ba
ck

gr
ou

nd
2

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
0

0
10

0
10

0
0

0
0

51
4

32
6

##
#

W
eo

bl
ey

Co
m

pr
eh

en
si

ve
An

yO
th

er
M

ix
ed

Ba
ck

gr
ou

nd
1

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
0

10
0

10
0

47
8

35
0

##
#

Ba
rr

sC
ou

rt
Sc

ho
ol

An
yO

th
er

W
hi

te
Ba

ck
gr

ou
nd

1
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
##

#
Ki

ng
st

on
eH

ig
h

An
yO

th
er

W
hi

te
Ba

ck
gr

ou
nd

1
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
0

10
0

10
0

41
8

36
2

##
#

La
dy

H
aw

ki
ns

'
An

yO
th

er
W

hi
te

Ba
ck

gr
ou

nd
1

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
0

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
37

4
33

2
##

#
Le

om
in

st
er

,t
he

M
in

st
er

An
yO

th
er

W
hi

te
Ba

ck
gr

ou
nd

3
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

0
0

66
.7

33
.3

10
0

10
0

10
0

42
5

33
5

##
#

St
.M

ar
y'

sR
.C

.H
ig

h
An

yO
th

er
W

hi
te

Ba
ck

gr
ou

nd
5

40
80

10
0

10
0

10
0

60
60

10
0

40
60

80
10

0
46

4.
2

36
2

##
#

Th
eH

er
ef

or
dA

ca
de

m
y

An
yO

th
er

W
hi

te
Ba

ck
gr

ou
nd

3
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

33
.3

33
.3

33
.3

55
0.

8
32

4
##

#
W

eo
bl

ey
Co

m
pr

eh
en

si
ve

An
yO

th
er

W
hi

te
Ba

ck
gr

ou
nd

3
0

33
.3

10
0

10
0

10
0

0
0

66
.7

0
33

.3
33

.3
33

.3
29

4.
7

24
0.

3
##

#
Jo

hn
M

as
ef

ie
ld

H
ig

h
Bl

ac
kA

nd
An

yO
th

er
Et

hn
ic

G
ro

up
1

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
0

0
10

0
10

0
0

0
0

47
4.

3
32

6
##

#
Ro

ss
Jo

hn
Ky

rle
H

ig
h

Ch
in

es
eA

nd
An

yO
th

er
Et

hn
ic

G
ro

up
1

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

75
0

43
4

##
#

A
yl

es
to

ne
En

gl
is

h
18

3
30

.1
78

.7
96

.2
10

0
10

0
51

.9
51

.9
93

.4
75

.4
13

.1
23

.5
23

.5
43

2.
2

33
0.

6
##

#
Jo

hn
M

as
ef

ie
ld

H
ig

h
En

gl
is

h
14

2
43

.7
85

.2
97

.2
99

.3
99

.3
66

.2
66

.2
97

.2
64

.8
45

.1
52

.8
52

.8
47

5.
7

35
7.

9
##

#
Pe

te
rc

hu
rc

hF
ai

rf
ie

ld
H

ig
h

En
gl

is
h

74
31

.1
91

.9
10

0
10

0
10

0
68

.9
70

.3
98

.6
89

.2
39

.2
62

.2
62

.2
49

1.
8

36
1

##
#

Q
ue

en
El

iz
ab

et
hH

ig
h

En
gl

is
h

54
16

.7
98

.1
10

0
10

0
10

0
35

.2
50

10
0

61
.1

0
7.

4
7.

4
49

9.
8

34
9.

3
##

#
Ro

ss
Jo

hn
Ky

rle
H

ig
h

En
gl

is
h

19
3

36
.8

75
.1

96
.4

10
0

10
0

60
.6

60
.6

95
.9

67
.9

40
.4

73
.1

83
.9

48
6.

8
34

0.
8

##
#

St
D

av
id

's
Pu

pi
lR

ef
er

ra
lU

ni
t

En
gl

is
h

19
0

5.
3

10
.5

36
.8

78
.9

5.
3

5.
3

10
.5

0
0

0
0

52
.4

52
.4

##
#

St
ei

ne
rA

ca
de

m
yH

er
ef

or
d

En
gl

is
h

17
23

.5
58

.8
76

.5
88

.2
88

.2
58

.8
58

.8
76

.5
0

0
0

0
20

3.
7

20
3.

7
##

#
Th

eP
rio

ry
P.

R.
U

.
En

gl
is

h
5

0
0

0
80

80
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

66
.5

66
.5

##
#

W
es

tf
ie

ld
Sc

ho
ol

En
gl

is
h

3
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
##

#
W

hi
te

cr
os

s
En

gl
is

h
17

2
29

.7
90

.7
93

.6
99

.4
10

0
53

.5
57

90
.7

89
9.

3
14

.5
14

.5
42

2.
7

33
4.

7
##

#
Br

oo
kf

ie
ld

Sc
ho

ol
G

yp
sy

/r
om

a
3

0
0

0
0

66
.7

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
24

.7
24

.7
##

#
Jo

hn
M

as
ef

ie
ld

H
ig

h
G

yp
sy

/r
om

a
2

0
50

10
0

10
0

10
0

0
0

10
0

50
0

0
0

33
2.

8
25

8.
1

##
#

La
dy

H
aw

ki
ns

'
G

yp
sy

/r
om

a
1

0
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

0
0

10
0

10
0

0
0

0
22

8
22

8
##

#
Le

om
in

st
er

,t
he

M
in

st
er

G
yp

sy
/r

om
a

1
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

0
0

10
0

0
0

0
0

37
0.

3
29

0
##

#
Q

ue
en

El
iz

ab
et

hH
ig

h
G

yp
sy

/r
om

a
1

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
0

0
10

0
0

0
0

0
29

6
29

6
##

#
Ro

ss
Jo

hn
Ky

rle
H

ig
h

G
yp

sy
/r

om
a

1
0

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
0

0
10

0
0

0
10

0
10

0
36

1.
5

27
5

##
#

St
D

av
id

's
Pu

pi
lR

ef
er

ra
lU

ni
t

G
yp

sy
/r

om
a

1
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
##

#
Th

eH
er

ef
or

dA
ca

de
m

y
G

yp
sy

/r
om

a
1

0
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

0
0

10
0

10
0

0
0

0
25

0.
8

25
0.

8
##

#
W

eo
bl

ey
Co

m
pr

eh
en

si
ve

G
yp

sy
/r

om
a

1
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

0
0

10
0

10
0

0
0

0
34

4
30

8
##

#
W

hi
te

cr
os

s
G

yp
sy

/r
om

a
1

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
0

0
0

41
6

36
8

##
#

Bi
sh

op
of

H
er

ef
or

d'
sB

lu
ec

oa
t

In
di

an
1

0
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

0
0

10
0

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
31

1
27

2
##

#
Jo

hn
M

as
ef

ie
ld

H
ig

h
In

fo
rm

at
io

nN
ot

O
bt

ai
ne

d
1

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
0

0
10

0
0

0
0

0
34

8
32

0
##

#
Th

eP
rio

ry
P.

R.
U

.
In

fo
rm

at
io

nN
ot

O
bt

ai
ne

d
1

0
0

0
0

10
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
60

60
##

#
Bi

sh
op

of
H

er
ef

or
d'

sB
lu

ec
oa

t
Ir

is
h

1
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
49

4
37

4

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
of

Pu
pi

ls
A

ch
ie

vi
ng

Q
CA

164



##
#

St
.M

ar
y'

sR
.C

.H
ig

h
Ir

is
h

3
33

.3
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
66

.7
66

.7
10

0
33

.3
0

33
.3

10
0

52
7.

4
36

1
##

#
W

eo
bl

ey
Co

m
pr

eh
en

si
ve

Ir
is

h
1

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
0

10
0

10
0

44
5

34
7

##
#

W
hi

te
cr

os
s

Ir
is

h
1

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
0

0
0

45
0

33
7.

8
##

#
W

ig
m

or
eH

ig
h

Ir
is

h
1

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
0

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
53

9
37

4
##

#
W

hi
te

cr
os

s
O

th
er

Bl
ac

kA
fr

ic
an

1
0

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
0

0
10

0
0

0
0

0
27

1
26

3
##

#
Ro

ss
Jo

hn
Ky

rle
H

ig
h

O
th

er
Et

hn
ic

G
ro

up
1

0
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

0
0

10
0

0
0

10
0

10
0

24
7

23
9

##
#

Jo
hn

M
as

ef
ie

ld
H

ig
h

O
th

er
M

ix
ed

Ba
ck

gr
ou

nd
1

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

54
1

39
8

##
#

A
yl

es
to

ne
O

th
er

W
hi

te
1

0
0

0
10

0
10

0
0

0
0

10
0

0
0

0
11

8
11

8
##

#
Ro

ss
Jo

hn
Ky

rle
H

ig
h

O
th

er
W

hi
te

2
0

0
0

50
50

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
25

25
##

#
St

ei
ne

rA
ca

de
m

yH
er

ef
or

d
O

th
er

W
hi

te
1

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

0
0

0
0

27
8

27
8

##
#

Bi
sh

op
of

H
er

ef
or

d'
sB

lu
ec

oa
t

Po
rt

ug
es

e
1

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

54
0

39
2

##
#

Jo
hn

M
as

ef
ie

ld
H

ig
h

Re
fu

se
d

1
0

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
0

0
10

0
0

0
0

0
29

6.
3

29
0.

8
##

#
La

dy
H

aw
ki

ns
'

Re
fu

se
d

1
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

41
3

35
6

##
#

Pe
te

rc
hu

rc
hF

ai
rf

ie
ld

H
ig

h
Re

fu
se

d
1

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

66
6

46
4

##
#

Ro
ss

Jo
hn

Ky
rle

H
ig

h
Re

fu
se

d
1

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

64
1.

3
42

2
##

#
St

.M
ar

y'
sR

.C
.H

ig
h

Re
fu

se
d

1
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
57

6.
5

42
8

##
#

A
yl

es
to

ne
Se

rb
ia

n
1

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
0

0
10

0
10

0
0

0
0

29
6

27
2

##
#

A
yl

es
to

ne
Tu

rk
is

h
1

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
55

2
39

2
##

#
Ro

ss
Jo

hn
Ky

rle
H

ig
h

W
el

sh
1

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

0
0

0
53

0
41

0
##

#
St

ei
ne

rA
ca

de
m

yH
er

ef
or

d
W

hi
te

An
dA

ny
O

th
er

As
ia

nB
ac

kg
ro

un
d

1
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
0

0
0

0
25

4
25

4
##

#
A

yl
es

to
ne

W
hi

te
An

dA
ny

O
th

er
Et

hn
ic

G
ro

up
4

0
75

10
0

10
0

10
0

25
25

10
0

50
0

0
0

41
1.

5
31

3.
8

##
#

Pe
te

rc
hu

rc
hF

ai
rf

ie
ld

H
ig

h
W

hi
te

An
dA

ny
O

th
er

Et
hn

ic
G

ro
up

1
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
58

3.
8

43
4

##
#

Ro
ss

Jo
hn

Ky
rle

H
ig

h
W

hi
te

An
dA

ny
O

th
er

Et
hn

ic
G

ro
up

2
0

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
0

0
10

0
50

0
50

10
0

36
6.

8
29

6
##

#
Bi

sh
op

of
H

er
ef

or
d'

sB
lu

ec
oa

t
W

hi
te

An
dA

si
an

1
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

60
3

37
4

##
#

La
dy

H
aw

ki
ns

'
W

hi
te

An
dA

si
an

1
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
67

4
48

3
##

#
St

.M
ar

y'
sR

.C
.H

ig
h

W
hi

te
An

dA
si

an
1

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
0

10
0

10
0

59
8

35
6

##
#

A
yl

es
to

ne
W

hi
te

An
dB

la
ck

A
fr

ic
an

1
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
0

0
0

0
61

8
39

5
##

#
Jo

hn
M

as
ef

ie
ld

H
ig

h
W

hi
te

An
dB

la
ck

A
fr

ic
an

1
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
0

0
0

55
1

38
9

##
#

St
.M

ar
y'

sR
.C

.H
ig

h
W

hi
te

An
dB

la
ck

A
fr

ic
an

1
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
85

2.
5

46
4

##
#

Bi
sh

op
of

H
er

ef
or

d'
sB

lu
ec

oa
t

W
hi

te
An

dB
la

ck
Ca

rib
be

an
1

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
54

6
38

0
##

#
Pe

te
rc

hu
rc

hF
ai

rf
ie

ld
H

ig
h

W
hi

te
An

dB
la

ck
Ca

rib
be

an
3

33
.3

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

33
.3

10
0

10
0

48
3.

2
35

8.
5

##
#

St
.M

ar
y'

sR
.C

.H
ig

h
W

hi
te

An
dB

la
ck

Ca
rib

be
an

1
0

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
10

0
23

5.
8

23
5.

8
##

#
St

ei
ne

rA
ca

de
m

yH
er

ef
or

d
W

hi
te

An
dC

hi
ne

se
1

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

0
0

0
0

26
6

26
6

##
#

Ba
rr

sC
ou

rt
Sc

ho
ol

W
hi

te
Br

iti
sh

8
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
##

#
Bi

sh
op

of
H

er
ef

or
d'

sB
lu

ec
oa

t
W

hi
te

Br
iti

sh
22

8
35

.1
75

92
.1

96
.5

10
0

60
.5

60
.5

91
.7

71
.1

60
.1

68
68

44
8.

3
33

2
##

#
Br

oo
kf

ie
ld

Sc
ho

ol
W

hi
te

Br
iti

sh
10

0
10

20
80

80
0

10
20

0
0

0
0

16
5.

8
14

1.
1

##
#

Ki
ng

st
on

eH
ig

h
W

hi
te

Br
iti

sh
12

9
34

.9
80

.6
95

.3
98

.4
98

.4
49

.6
49

.6
94

.6
57

.4
27

.1
82

.9
82

.9
44

3.
7

34
3.

2
##

#
La

dy
H

aw
ki

ns
'

W
hi

te
Br

iti
sh

81
21

66
.7

97
.5

10
0

10
0

46
.9

46
.9

97
.5

53
.1

39
.5

45
.7

45
.7

40
4.

3
32

0.
8

##
#

Le
om

in
st

er
,t

he
M

in
st

er
W

hi
te

Br
iti

sh
12

4
29

.8
87

.9
97

.6
98

.4
98

.4
57

.3
57

.3
97

.6
66

.9
46

.8
49

.2
49

.2
49

3.
2

34
3

##
#

St
.M

ar
y'

sR
.C

.H
ig

h
W

hi
te

Br
iti

sh
12

1
42

.1
84

.3
96

.7
98

.3
99

.2
71

.1
71

.1
96

.7
71

.1
38

61
.2

95
.9

46
0.

9
35

6.
9

##
#

Th
eH

er
ef

or
dA

ca
de

m
y

W
hi

te
Br

iti
sh

12
3

23
.6

85
.4

97
.6

99
.2

10
0

39
45

.5
96

.7
95

.9
0

0
0.

8
56

1.
3

33
9.

4
##

#
W

eo
bl

ey
Co

m
pr

eh
en

si
ve

W
hi

te
Br

iti
sh

80
23

.8
81

.3
98

.8
98

.8
98

.8
57

.5
57

.5
97

.5
62

.5
31

.3
78

.8
80

48
2.

8
33

4.
7

##
#

W
ig

m
or

eH
ig

h
W

hi
te

Br
iti

sh
87

58
.6

95
.4

98
.9

10
0

10
0

70
.1

70
.1

98
.9

98
.9

34
.5

65
.5

88
.5

54
3.

9
38

4.
3

##
#

A
yl

es
to

ne
W

hi
te

Ea
st

er
nE

ur
op

ea
n

4
25

25
10

0
10

0
10

0
25

25
25

50
75

75
75

28
3.

3
24

2.
8

##
#

Bi
sh

op
of

H
er

ef
or

d'
sB

lu
ec

oa
t

W
hi

te
Ea

st
er

nE
ur

op
ea

n
1

0
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

0
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

25
0

24
2

##
#

Jo
hn

M
as

ef
ie

ld
H

ig
h

W
hi

te
Ea

st
er

nE
ur

op
ea

n
2

0
50

10
0

10
0

10
0

0
0

10
0

0
50

50
50

36
1.

6
29

6
##

#
W

hi
te

cr
os

s
W

hi
te

Ea
st

er
nE

ur
op

ea
n

1
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

0
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

34
0

30
8

##
#

St
ei

ne
rA

ca
de

m
yH

er
ef

or
d

W
hi

te
Eu

ro
pe

an
1

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

0
0

0
0

24
8

24
8

165



##
#

Th
eH

er
ef

or
dA

ca
de

m
y

W
hi

te
Eu

ro
pe

an
3

0
33

.3
10

0
10

0
10

0
0

0
10

0
10

0
0

0
0

27
3.

7
27

2.
3

##
#

Ki
ng

st
on

eH
ig

h
W

hi
te

W
es

te
rn

Eu
ro

pe
an

2
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
59

0.
5

43
4

##
#

W
hi

te
cr

os
s

W
hi

te
W

es
te

rn
Eu

ro
pe

an
1

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
0

0
0

51
0

35
6

19
56

32
.3

79
.8

93
.7

97
.2

98
.4

55
.1

56
.3

92
.6

70
.3

31
.1

47
.9

52
.5

45
3.

9
33

2.
7

166



20
10

N
O

C
3+

A
*-

A
5+

A
*-

C
5A

*-
G

1+
A

*-
G

A
ny

Q
ua

l

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lA

*-
CG

CS
EE

&
M

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lL

vl
2E

&
M

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lL

vl
1E

&
M

2+
A

*-
CS

ci
en

ce
M

FL
Lv

l2
M

FL
Lv

l1
M

FL
A

ny
A

PS
Ca

pp
ed

A
PS

H
er

ef
or

ds
hi

re
Af

gh
an

is
ta

ni
1

0
0

0
0

10
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
12

12
H

er
ef

or
ds

hi
re

Af
ric

an
1

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

0
0

0
83

4
40

4
H

er
ef

or
ds

hi
re

An
yO

th
er

As
ia

nB
ac

kg
ro

un
d

1
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

0
0

10
0

10
0

0
10

0
10

0
33

4
31

7
H

er
ef

or
ds

hi
re

An
yO

th
er

Et
hn

ic
G

ro
up

4
25

50
75

75
10

0
50

50
75

50
25

50
50

40
2.

1
28

2
H

er
ef

or
ds

hi
re

An
yO

th
er

M
ix

ed
Ba

ck
gr

ou
nd

3
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

33
.3

33
.3

10
0

10
0

0
33

.3
33

.3
50

2
33

4
H

er
ef

or
ds

hi
re

An
yO

th
er

W
hi

te
Ba

ck
gr

ou
nd

17
17

.6
76

.5
94

.1
94

.1
94

.1
41

.2
41

.2
82

.4
47

.1
52

.9
64

.7
70

.6
40

7.
3

30
6

H
er

ef
or

ds
hi

re
Bl

ac
kA

nd
An

yO
th

er
Et

hn
ic

G
ro

up
1

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
0

0
10

0
10

0
0

0
0

47
4.

3
32

6
H

er
ef

or
ds

hi
re

Ch
in

es
eA

nd
An

yO
th

er
Et

hn
ic

G
ro

up
1

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

75
0

43
4

H
er

ef
or

ds
hi

re
En

gl
is

h
86

2
31

.9
81

93
.3

97
.7

98
.7

55
.6

57
.3

91
.9

71
.1

24
.5

38
.7

41
.2

44
2.

5
33

0.
7

H
er

ef
or

ds
hi

re
G

yp
sy

/r
om

a
13

0
38

.5
69

.2
69

.2
84

.6
7.

7
7.

7
69

.2
38

.5
0

7.
7

7.
7

23
1.

2
20

0.
5

H
er

ef
or

ds
hi

re
In

di
an

1
0

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
0

0
10

0
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

31
1

27
2

H
er

ef
or

ds
hi

re
In

fo
rm

at
io

nN
ot

O
bt

ai
ne

d
2

0
50

50
50

10
0

0
0

50
0

0
0

0
20

4
19

0
H

er
ef

or
ds

hi
re

Ir
is

h
7

28
.6

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

71
.4

71
.4

10
0

71
.4

28
.6

57
.1

85
.7

50
1.

5
35

9.
4

H
er

ef
or

ds
hi

re
O

th
er

Bl
ac

kA
fr

ic
an

1
0

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
0

0
10

0
0

0
0

0
27

1
26

3
H

er
ef

or
ds

hi
re

O
th

er
Et

hn
ic

G
ro

up
1

0
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

0
0

10
0

0
0

10
0

10
0

24
7

23
9

H
er

ef
or

ds
hi

re
O

th
er

M
ix

ed
Ba

ck
gr

ou
nd

1
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
54

1
39

8
H

er
ef

or
ds

hi
re

O
th

er
W

hi
te

4
25

25
25

75
75

25
25

25
25

0
0

0
11

1.
5

11
1.

5
H

er
ef

or
ds

hi
re

Po
rt

ug
es

e
1

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

54
0

39
2

H
er

ef
or

ds
hi

re
Re

fu
se

d
5

60
80

10
0

10
0

10
0

80
80

10
0

80
80

80
80

51
8.

6
39

2.
2

H
er

ef
or

ds
hi

re
Se

rb
ia

n
1

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
0

0
10

0
10

0
0

0
0

29
6

27
2

H
er

ef
or

ds
hi

re
Tu

rk
is

h
1

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
55

2
39

2
H

er
ef

or
ds

hi
re

W
el

sh
1

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

0
0

0
53

0
41

0
H

er
ef

or
ds

hi
re

W
hi

te
An

dA
ny

O
th

er
As

ia
nB

ac
kg

ro
un

d
1

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

0
0

0
0

25
4

25
4

H
er

ef
or

ds
hi

re
W

hi
te

An
dA

ny
O

th
er

Et
hn

ic
G

ro
up

7
14

.3
57

.1
10

0
10

0
10

0
28

.6
28

.6
10

0
57

.1
14

.3
28

.6
42

.9
42

3.
3

32
5.

9
H

er
ef

or
ds

hi
re

W
hi

te
An

dA
si

an
3

33
.3

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

66
.7

10
0

10
0

62
5

40
4.

3
H

er
ef

or
ds

hi
re

W
hi

te
An

dB
la

ck
A

fr
ic

an
3

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

66
.7

33
.3

33
.3

33
.3

67
3.

8
41

6
H

er
ef

or
ds

hi
re

W
hi

te
An

dB
la

ck
Ca

rib
be

an
5

20
80

10
0

10
0

10
0

80
80

80
80

40
80

10
0

44
6.

3
33

8.
3

H
er

ef
or

ds
hi

re
W

hi
te

An
dC

hi
ne

se
1

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

0
0

0
0

26
6

26
6

H
er

ef
or

ds
hi

re
W

hi
te

Br
iti

sh
99

1
33

.2
80

.1
94

.6
97

.4
98

.4
55

.7
56

.6
94

.1
70

.8
36

.6
55

.9
62

.4
47

0
33

8.
1

H
er

ef
or

ds
hi

re
W

hi
te

Ea
st

er
nE

ur
op

ea
n

8
12

.5
37

.5
10

0
10

0
10

0
12

.5
12

.5
62

.5
50

75
75

75
30

5.
8

26
4.

1
H

er
ef

or
ds

hi
re

W
hi

te
Eu

ro
pe

an
4

25
50

10
0

10
0

10
0

25
25

10
0

75
0

0
0

26
7.

3
26

6.
3

H
er

ef
or

ds
hi

re
W

hi
te

W
es

te
rn

Eu
ro

pe
an

3
66

.7
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
10

0
66

.7
66

.7
66

.7
56

3.
7

40
8

19
56

32
.3

79
.8

93
.7

97
.2

98
.4

55
.1

56
.3

92
.6

70
.3

31
.1

47
.9

52
.5

45
3.

9
33

2.
7

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
of

Pu
pi

ls
A

ch
ie

vi
ng

Q
CA

167



20
10

N
O

C
3+

A
*-

A
5+

A
*-

C
5A

*-
G

1+
A

*-
G

A
ny

Q
ua

l

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lA

*-
CG

CS
EE

&
M

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lL

vl
2E

&
M

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lL

vl
1E

&
M

2+
A

*-
CS

ci
en

ce
M

FL
Lv

l2
M

FL
Lv

l1
M

FL
A

ny
A

PS
Ca

pp
ed

A
PS

N
CE

R
Af

gh
an

is
ta

ni
54

0
23

.7
61

.9
83

.1
92

.8
95

.4
35

.9
37

.4
78

.1
51

.5
35

.4
47

48
38

1.
5

28
5.

2
N

CE
R

Af
ric

an
47

60
29

.9
78

.1
95

.6
98

.2
98

.8
55

.4
57

.8
94

.3
62

.9
31

.9
45

.3
46

.8
45

3.
6

33
5.

2
N

CE
R

Af
ric

an
As

ia
n

15
5

35
.5

82
.6

94
.8

96
.8

98
.1

58
.7

61
.3

94
.8

66
.5

47
.1

62
.6

66
.5

47
0.

6
34

4.
1

N
CE

R
Al

ba
ni

an
12

4
21

.8
72

.6
94

.4
98

.4
98

.4
54

55
.6

92
.7

57
.3

29
.8

40
.3

41
.9

42
0.

2
32

0.
4

N
CE

R
An

go
la

n
36

8.
3

47
.2

83
.3

91
.7

97
.2

25
27

.8
80

.6
33

.3
36

.1
47

.2
47

.2
32

4.
2

25
8.

6
N

CE
R

An
yO

th
er

As
ia

nB
ac

kg
ro

un
d

38
07

34
.2

75
.8

92
.9

96
.9

98
.2

55
.2

57
.6

91
.2

65
40

.2
50

.7
52

.1
44

5.
7

33
1.

7
N

CE
R

An
yO

th
er

Bl
ac

kB
ac

kg
ro

un
d

22
07

19
.6

69
.3

92
96

.8
98

.2
45

.1
47

.8
90

.4
53

.1
26

.2
40

.1
42

41
2.

2
31

0
N

CE
R

An
yO

th
er

Et
hn

ic
G

ro
up

19
18

32
73

.4
91

.2
96

.9
97

.8
50

.9
53

.2
89

.5
60

.3
45

.5
56

.4
57

.7
43

8.
6

32
4.

5
N

CE
R

An
yO

th
er

M
ix

ed
Ba

ck
gr

ou
nd

41
86

32
.8

76
.2

92
.9

97
.6

98
.3

57
.7

60
.3

91
.8

60
.8

36
.5

49
.3

51
.2

44
1.

7
33

0.
8

N
CE

R
An

yO
th

er
W

hi
te

Ba
ck

gr
ou

nd
52

69
31

.7
71

.2
91

.6
96

.9
97

.8
49

.8
52

.6
89

.3
58

.4
54

.3
62

.7
63

.7
43

3.
5

32
3.

4
N

CE
R

Ar
ab

35
4

33
.3

74
92

.9
97

.2
98

.9
52

.5
54

.2
91

60
.2

61
70

.1
70

.6
44

5.
7

32
9

N
CE

R
As

ia
nA

nd
An

yO
th

er
Et

hn
ic

G
ro

up
18

6
39

.8
83

.9
93

.5
97

.8
98

.4
62

.4
66

.7
92

.5
67

.7
37

.6
50

.5
52

.7
47

6
34

3.
8

N
CE

R
As

ia
nA

nd
Bl

ac
k

65
21

.5
70

.8
92

.3
93

.8
96

.9
55

.4
58

.5
92

.3
52

.3
23

.1
43

.1
44

.6
41

1.
7

31
5.

3
N

CE
R

As
ia

nA
nd

Ch
in

es
e

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
N

CE
R

Ba
ng

la
de

sh
i

62
38

28
.1

74
.4

94
.7

98
.1

98
.7

53
.3

54
.9

93
.4

58
.3

26
.4

42
.1

46
.1

43
9.

4
32

7.
4

N
CE

R
Bl

ac
kA

nd
An

yO
th

er
Et

hn
ic

G
ro

up
23

2
22

.4
65

.1
86

.6
94

95
.3

41
.4

46
.1

84
.5

49
.6

27
.6

43
.1

46
.6

39
5.

2
29

9.
1

N
CE

R
Bl

ac
kA

nd
Ch

in
es

e
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

N
CE

R
Bl

ac
kC

ar
ib

be
an

71
92

17
.4

67
.9

92
97

98
.5

43
.2

46
90

.6
51

17
.8

32
.7

35
.3

39
9.

7
30

5.
3

N
CE

R
Bl

ac
kE

ur
op

ea
n

10
7

16
.8

64
.5

86
.9

95
.3

98
.1

44
.9

49
.5

85
45

.8
34

.6
49

.5
54

.2
40

1.
1

29
9.

9
N

CE
R

Bl
ac

kN
or

th
Am

er
ic

an
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

N
CE

R
Bo

sn
ia

n-
H

er
ze

go
vi

ni
an

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
N

CE
R

Ch
in

es
e

18
91

60
.1

89
.8

97
.1

99
.2

99
.5

75
.8

77
.5

96
80

.8
69

.6
76

.4
77

.6
54

7.
7

38
3

N
CE

R
Ch

in
es

eA
nd

An
yO

th
er

Et
hn

ic
G

ro
up

86
58

.1
83

.7
93

97
.7

98
.8

66
.3

68
.6

91
.9

74
.4

59
.3

67
.4

69
.8

52
0.

5
36

6.
4

N
CE

R
Co

ng
ol

es
e

17
1

13
.5

59
.6

94
.7

97
.7

98
.8

32
.2

33
.3

90
.6

36
.3

49
.1

60
.8

61
.4

35
9.

1
29

2
N

CE
R

Cr
oa

tio
n

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
N

CE
R

Eg
yp

tia
n

46
58

.7
87

93
.5

95
.7

95
.7

69
.6

69
.6

91
.3

73
.9

56
.5

58
.7

63
50

7.
1

36
2.

4
N

CE
R

En
gl

is
h

62
76

2
29

.1
75

.3
93

.3
97

.5
98

.6
55

57
.6

92
.3

58
.8

26
.9

40
.5

43
.7

44
2.

1
32

6.
5

N
CE

R
Fi

lip
in

o
22

7
30

.4
77

.1
96

.5
99

.6
99

.6
64

.3
65

.6
95

.6
63

.9
38

.3
52

53
.7

46
5.

7
34

1.
9

N
CE

R
G

ha
na

ia
n

69
3

29
.3

75
.8

95
.4

97
.5

98
.6

57
.7

59
.7

94
.4

59
.2

33
.6

49
.8

51
.7

42
5.

9
32

8.
4

N
CE

R
G

re
ek

45
33

.3
77

.8
10

0
10

0
10

0
64

.4
64

.4
10

0
57

.8
42

.2
55

.6
55

.6
47

4.
4

34
9.

9
N

CE
R

G
re

ek
Cy

pr
io

t
21

0
39

.5
84

.8
97

.1
99

99
65

.7
66

.7
96

.2
67

.6
62

.9
70

.5
71

46
7.

2
35

1.
3

N
CE

R
G

re
ek

/G
re

ek
Cy

pr
io

t
10

1
35

.6
80

.2
94

.1
97

98
67

.3
67

.3
94

.1
66

.3
50

.5
61

.4
61

.4
45

1.
9

33
8.

6
N

CE
R

G
yp

sy
/r

om
a

53
8

3
23

.8
53

.5
76

.2
84

.2
8

9.
5

50
.2

17
.7

4.
3

9.
5

13
.6

19
7.

1
16

3.
2

N
CE

R
H

on
gK

on
gC

hi
ne

se
90

71
.1

93
.3

10
0

10
0

10
0

81
.1

81
.1

10
0

88
.9

71
.1

77
.8

78
.9

58
5.

7
40

8
N

CE
R

In
di

an
12

52
5

44
.6

86
.9

97
.8

98
.9

99
.4

71
.8

73
.6

97
.2

74
.4

45
.6

59
.7

61
.4

50
4.

7
36

3.
8

N
CE

R
In

fo
rm

at
io

nN
ot

O
bt

ai
ne

d
29

85
21

61
.9

85
.2

94
.3

95
.7

44
.2

46
.5

83
.7

48
.2

25
.5

40
.7

43
.7

37
2.

8
28

9.
6

N
CE

R
Ir

an
ia

n
21

9
39

.3
86

.8
96

.3
99

.1
99

.1
69

.4
72

.6
95

70
.3

57
.1

66
.7

67
.1

48
1.

4
35

6.
6

N
CE

R
Ir

aq
i

20
0

33
.5

80
94

97
.5

98
.5

63
.5

64
92

68
54

65
.5

66
45

6.
1

34
0.

2
N

CE
R

Ir
is

h
19

75
38

78
.5

93
.2

96
.6

98
.2

63
.6

65
.7

92
.3

65
.6

36
.3

50
.4

52
.5

44
6.

8
33

7.
4

N
CE

R
It

al
ia

n
21

2
36

.8
77

.8
97

.6
99

.1
99

.1
57

.1
59

.9
97

.2
58

67
75

.5
77

.4
47

8.
5

34
6.

7
N

CE
R

Ja
pa

ne
se

23
43

.5
95

.7
95

.7
95

.7
10

0
69

.6
73

.9
95

.7
73

.9
78

.3
78

.3
82

.6
49

8.
6

37
5

N
CE

R
Ka

sh
m

iri
O

th
er

10
6

30
.2

79
.2

98
.1

10
0

10
0

54
.7

54
.7

97
.2

68
.9

29
.2

45
.3

62
.3

50
0.

3
34

1.
5

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
of

Pu
pi

ls
A

ch
ie

vi
ng

Q
CA

168



N
CE

R
Ka

sh
m

iri
Pa

ki
st

an
i

82
9

24
.2

78
.5

95
.8

98
.3

99
51

.1
53

.4
93

.4
61

.6
26

.2
43

.3
50

.2
45

8.
6

32
7.

3
N

CE
R

Ko
re

an
46

56
.5

89
.1

93
.5

97
.8

97
.8

80
.4

82
.6

93
.5

71
.7

56
.5

65
.2

65
.2

46
4.

5
36

6.
1

N
CE

R
Ko

so
va

n
23

9
24

.3
76

.6
96

.2
98

.3
98

.7
51

.9
53

.1
96

.2
55

.2
19

.2
31

34
.7

42
9.

7
32

9.
3

N
CE

R
Ku

rd
is

h
24

9
20

.9
66

.3
89

.6
96

98
38

.2
40

.2
85

.5
46

.6
57

67
.5

68
.7

39
5.

2
30

2.
1

N
CE

R
La

tin
Am

er
ic

an
31

7
26

.8
72

.9
93

.1
97

.8
98

.4
42

.6
47

.6
91

.5
58

.7
82

.3
86

.4
86

.8
42

9.
1

32
5

N
CE

R
Le

ba
ne

se
55

38
.2

76
.4

96
.4

10
0

10
0

56
.4

56
.4

96
.4

58
.2

49
.1

56
.4

58
.2

47
2

34
3.

8
N

CE
R

Li
by

an
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

N
CE

R
M

al
ay

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
N

CE
R

M
al

ay
si

an
Ch

in
es

e
12

50
91

.7
10

0
10

0
10

0
75

75
10

0
58

.3
83

.3
83

.3
83

.3
50

2.
3

38
3.

6
N

CE
R

M
irp

ur
iP

ak
is

ta
ni

95
6

19
.2

71
.1

93
.6

97
.7

98
.8

41
.4

43
.1

92
.6

53
.3

17
.6

41
.7

47
.1

42
0

31
2.

3
N

CE
R

M
or

oc
ca

n
10

0
23

80
93

99
99

51
54

93
55

30
39

42
42

4.
5

32
0.

5
N

CE
R

N
/A

40
17

.5
27

.5
37

.5
72

.5
92

.5
25

25
30

25
17

.5
20

20
22

9.
1

17
2.

9
N

CE
R

N
ep

al
i

21
0

28
.1

77
.6

97
.1

99
99

.5
54

.8
55

.7
96

.2
66

.2
15

.7
25

.2
31

48
1.

6
33

7.
2

N
CE

R
N

ig
er

ia
n

13
76

32
.2

82
.6

97
.1

99
.1

99
.3

67
.7

69
96

.2
66

.6
30

.7
47

.5
50

.2
45

2.
9

34
4.

4
N

CE
R

O
th

er
As

ia
n

13
51

35
.4

76
.4

91
.6

96
.9

98
.1

59
.6

61
.3

89
.9

65
43

.1
55

.7
57

.7
44

8.
5

33
1.

7
N

CE
R

O
th

er
Bl

ac
k

15
9

21
.4

73
.6

94
.3

97
.5

98
.7

49
.7

52
.2

93
.1

57
.2

22
32

.1
33

.3
41

3.
8

31
9.

2
N

CE
R

O
th

er
Bl

ac
kA

fr
ic

an
25

96
22

.2
72

.8
94

.3
97

.1
98

.5
50

.6
52

.6
92

.8
54

.9
28

.7
42

.3
45

.3
42

5.
4

32
0.

9
N

CE
R

O
th

er
Ch

in
es

e
94

63
.8

86
.2

97
.9

98
.9

98
.9

73
.4

75
.5

96
.8

79
.8

74
.5

78
.7

78
.7

55
4.

7
38

7
N

CE
R

O
th

er
Et

hn
ic

G
ro

up
11

80
30

.1
73

.7
92

.4
96

.5
97

.4
53

.6
55

.1
90

.8
59

.6
46

55
.8

56
.9

44
4.

8
32

5.
1

N
CE

R
O

th
er

M
ix

ed
Ba

ck
gr

ou
nd

83
4

30
.8

74
.2

91
.7

96
98

.1
53

.6
55

.6
90

.5
62

31
.1

43
.9

46
.4

43
5.

2
32

3.
5

N
CE

R
O

th
er

Pa
ki

st
an

i
45

44
24

.1
75

.5
93

.6
97

.5
98

.1
49

.1
51

92
.1

60
.6

26
43

.6
49

.1
43

8.
7

32
1.

4
N

CE
R

O
th

er
W

hi
te

56
89

29
.1

75
.6

92
.1

97
.1

98
53

.9
57

.5
90

.5
59

.1
33

47
.1

51
.2

44
4.

6
32

3.
9

N
CE

R
O

th
er

W
hi

te
Br

iti
sh

51
19

26
.7

74
.3

95
.4

98
.5

99
.3

55
.5

58
.2

94
.4

61
.2

24
.3

37
38

.7
45

6.
2

33
0.

4
N

CE
R

Pa
ki

st
an

i
88

89
25

.7
71

.1
94

.4
97

.8
98

.7
49

.7
52

.6
93

.3
55

31
.6

47
.2

50
.3

43
1.

9
32

1.
9

N
CE

R
Po

ly
ne

si
an

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
N

CE
R

Po
rt

ug
es

e
24

9
19

.7
63

.1
86

.3
94

.4
96

32
.9

36
.5

83
.5

41
67

.1
77

.5
77

.9
39

5.
8

29
1

N
CE

R
Re

fu
se

d
41

58
29

.3
75

.1
93

.6
97

.6
98

.4
55

.1
57

.7
92

.7
60

.9
32

45
.7

48
.9

44
0.

6
32

7.
9

N
CE

R
Sc

ot
tis

h
17

6
36

.9
79

.5
94

.3
98

.9
99

.4
63

.1
65

.3
94

.3
64

.2
38

.6
48

.9
52

.8
45

8.
4

34
2.

7
N

CE
R

Se
rb

ia
n

23
13

78
.3

95
.7

95
.7

95
.7

52
.2

60
.9

95
.7

47
.8

17
.4

26
.1

30
.4

41
9.

8
31

7.
1

N
CE

R
Si

er
ra

Le
on

ia
n

67
23

.9
77

.6
97

98
.5

10
0

59
.7

59
.7

95
.5

56
.7

26
.9

44
.8

49
.3

41
5.

7
33

0.
9

N
CE

R
Si

nh
al

es
e

47
51

.1
89

.4
97

.9
10

0
10

0
74

.5
74

.5
97

.9
89

.4
61

.7
70

.2
70

.2
50

3.
8

37
4.

6
N

CE
R

So
m

al
i

21
27

15
.7

64
.5

91
.9

96
.7

98
.3

39
.6

41
89

.6
49

.6
22

.2
38

.3
41

.7
38

4.
3

29
8.

2
N

CE
R

Sr
iL

an
ka

nT
am

il
51

3
54

.4
86

.2
97

.1
98

.8
99

.2
76

.2
76

.6
96

.1
79

.5
61

.4
72

.5
73

.5
49

3
36

9.
9

N
CE

R
Su

da
ne

se
52

38
.5

76
.9

96
.2

96
.2

98
.1

63
.5

63
.5

96
.2

59
.6

42
.3

59
.6

59
.6

46
0.

1
34

7
N

CE
R

Ta
iw

an
es

e
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

<
<

N
CE

R
Th

ai
37

13
.5

43
.2

94
.6

94
.6

97
.3

18
.9

21
.6

91
.9

37
.8

10
.8

29
.7

32
.4

34
3.

5
28

1
N

CE
R

Tr
av

el
le

rO
fIr

is
hH

er
ita

ge
13

2
11

.4
31

.1
56

.1
70

.5
75

.8
18

.2
18

.9
54

.5
28

.8
3

8.
3

10
.6

22
2.

4
17

3.
7

N
CE

R
Tu

rk
is

h
57

0
21

.2
66

.8
91

.1
96

.1
97

.4
38

.8
41

.2
88

.2
45

.4
71

.1
76

.8
77

.4
40

7.
8

30
7.

9
N

CE
R

Tu
rk

is
hC

yp
rio

t
18

6
23

.7
74

.2
92

.5
96

.8
97

.8
43

.5
47

.3
90

.9
53

.8
57

67
.7

69
.4

42
5.

8
31

6.
5

N
CE

R
Tu

rk
is

h/
Tu

rk
is

hC
yp

rio
t

29
0

19
.3

66
.2

94
.1

97
.6

99
46

.6
47

.9
92

.8
54

.8
63

.1
71

.4
73

.4
41

7.
7

31
3

N
CE

R
Vi

et
na

m
es

e
24

8
35

.1
80

.2
91

.9
95

.2
96

68
.5

70
.2

91
.1

65
.7

21
.4

32
.7

33
.9

45
3

33
7.

6
N

CE
R

W
el

sh
15

9
44

79
.9

98
.1

10
0

10
0

67
.3

70
.4

96
.9

65
.4

39
56

.6
60

.4
48

5.
9

35
7.

9
N

CE
R

W
hi

te
An

dA
ny

O
th

er
As

ia
nB

ac
kg

ro
un

d
27

3
42

.9
78

.4
94

.9
96

.7
97

.8
64

.5
67

94
.1

66
.3

42
.1

53
.5

56
.4

46
6.

9
34

5.
5

N
CE

R
W

hi
te

An
dA

ny
O

th
er

Et
hn

ic
G

ro
up

46
6

37
.3

80
93

.1
97

.6
98

.3
60

.9
63

.9
92

.9
67

46
.1

56
.7

58
.8

46
0.

9
33

7.
5

N
CE

R
W

hi
te

An
dA

si
an

29
43

39
.6

81
.4

95
.5

98
.2

98
.8

65
.6

68
.1

94
.7

67
.8

40
53

55
47

3.
9

34
8.

8
N

CE
R

W
hi

te
An

dB
la

ck
A

fr
ic

an
16

11
29

.5
74

91
.4

96
.8

98
.3

54
.7

57
89

.9
56

.4
33

.2
46

.4
49

.1
42

8.
6

32
2.

2
N

CE
R

W
hi

te
An

dB
la

ck
Ca

rib
be

an
60

35
20

.3
68

.1
90

96
.2

97
.5

44
.4

48
.2

88
.6

50
.9

19
.4

33
.3

36
.5

40
0.

6
30

3.
6

N
CE

R
W

hi
te

An
dC

hi
ne

se
46

63
97

.8
10

0
10

0
10

0
87

89
.1

10
0

89
.1

54
.3

63
71

.7
58

1.
5

39
2.

6

169



N
CE

R
W

hi
te

An
dI

nd
ia

n
11

4
57

90
.4

98
.2

98
.2

98
.2

78
.9

79
.8

97
.4

73
.7

56
.1

68
.4

68
.4

49
5.

9
37

0.
7

N
CE

R
W

hi
te

An
dP

ak
is

ta
ni

54
29

.6
72

.2
92

.6
98

.1
98

.1
42

.6
48

.1
87

50
27

.8
38

.9
38

.9
42

5
31

7.
7

N
CE

R
W

hi
te

Br
iti

sh
37

02
12

28
.4

74
.7

93
.8

97
.8

98
.8

55
.3

58
.2

92
.8

61
.4

27
.1

41
.7

44
.7

44
1.

4
32

7.
1

N
CE

R
W

hi
te

Co
rn

is
h

11
64

20
.3

67
.8

93
.7

96
.9

98
50

.6
52

.1
92

.2
51

.5
19

30
.4

31
.9

43
0.

6
31

4.
8

N
CE

R
W

hi
te

Ea
st

er
nE

ur
op

ea
n

18
44

23
.2

64
.1

89
96

.9
97

.8
38

.2
40

.8
85

.2
51

.6
58

.5
65

.7
67

.1
39

6
30

1
N

CE
R

W
hi

te
Eu

ro
pe

an
14

53
31

72
.7

91
97

97
.6

51
.3

53
.8

88
.6

58
.1

54
.3

62
.6

63
.7

43
5.

4
32

3.
6

N
CE

R
W

hi
te

W
es

te
rn

Eu
ro

pe
an

78
5

43
.1

81
.4

95
.5

98
.5

99
62

.8
64

.7
94

.3
67

.1
66

.5
73

.1
74

.5
47

9.
7

35
5

N
CE

R
Ye

m
en

i
19

0
17

.9
66

.8
94

.7
98

.4
99

.5
35

.3
41

.1
92

.1
51

.1
36

.3
52

.6
56

.3
43

6.
1

31
4

55
36

37
28

.7
74

.7
93

.6
97

.6
98

.7
55

57
.7

92
.6

60
.8

28
.8

43
45

.9
44

1.
3

32
7

170



20
10

N
O

C
3+

A
*-

A
5+

A
*-

C
5A

*-
G

1+
A

*-
G

A
ny

Q
ua

l

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lA

*-
CG

CS
EE

&
M

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lL

vl
2E

&
M

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lL

vl
1E

&
M

2+
A

*-
CS

ci
en

ce
M

FL
Lv

l2
M

FL
Lv

l1
M

FL
A

ny
A

PS
Ca

pp
ed

A
PS

##
#

A
yl

es
to

ne
Bo

ys
94

20
.2

70
.2

94
.7

98
.9

10
0

45
.7

45
.7

90
.4

66
6.

4
11

.7
11

.7
39

6.
5

31
1.

4
##

#
Ba

rr
sC

ou
rt

Sc
ho

ol
Bo

ys
7

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

##
#

Bi
sh

op
of

H
er

ef
or

d'
sB

lu
ec

oa
t

Bo
ys

12
2

24
.6

63
.1

88
.5

95
.1

10
0

50
50

88
.5

65
.6

49
.2

59
.8

59
.8

39
7.

6
30

2.
6

##
#

Br
oo

kf
ie

ld
Sc

ho
ol

Bo
ys

13
0

7.
7

15
.4

61
.5

76
.9

0
7.

7
15

.4
0

0
0

0
13

3.
2

11
4.

2
##

#
Jo

hn
M

as
ef

ie
ld

H
ig

h
Bo

ys
73

30
.1

72
.6

94
.5

98
.6

98
.6

60
.3

60
.3

94
.5

49
.3

24
.7

31
.5

31
.5

42
1.

8
32

8.
3

##
#

Ki
ng

st
on

eH
ig

h
Bo

ys
66

25
.8

80
.3

93
.9

97
97

45
.5

45
.5

92
.4

54
.5

21
.2

78
.8

78
.8

42
6.

8
32

7.
9

##
#

La
dy

H
aw

ki
ns

'
Bo

ys
51

23
.5

68
.6

96
.1

10
0

10
0

51
51

96
.1

62
.7

43
.1

47
.1

47
.1

39
4.

9
31

8.
9

##
#

Le
om

in
st

er
,t

he
M

in
st

er
Bo

ys
56

32
.1

89
.3

98
.2

98
.2

98
.2

57
.1

57
.1

98
.2

66
.1

44
.6

44
.6

44
.6

49
9.

3
34

5.
1

##
#

Pe
te

rc
hu

rc
hF

ai
rf

ie
ld

H
ig

h
Bo

ys
43

16
.3

88
.4

10
0

10
0

10
0

58
.1

58
.1

10
0

90
.7

30
.2

58
.1

58
.1

44
6.

3
34

1
##

#
Q

ue
en

El
iz

ab
et

hH
ig

h
Bo

ys
30

16
.7

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

23
.3

46
.7

10
0

66
.7

0
6.

7
6.

7
51

2.
8

34
7.

2
##

#
Ro

ss
Jo

hn
Ky

rle
H

ig
h

Bo
ys

11
6

30
.2

70
.7

94
.8

99
.1

99
.1

53
.4

53
.4

94
62

.9
24

.1
62

.9
75

.9
45

3.
7

32
5.

4
##

#
St

D
av

id
's

Pu
pi

lR
ef

er
ra

lU
ni

t
Bo

ys
13

0
0

0
30

.8
76

.9
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

36
.4

36
.4

##
#

St
.M

ar
y'

sR
.C

.H
ig

h
Bo

ys
51

25
.5

78
.4

96
.1

98
10

0
62

.7
62

.7
94

.1
64

.7
23

.5
47

.1
96

.1
44

1
33

5.
2

##
#

St
ei

ne
rA

ca
de

m
yH

er
ef

or
d

Bo
ys

8
12

.5
62

.5
75

87
.5

87
.5

62
.5

62
.5

75
0

0
0

0
19

8.
5

19
8.

5
##

#
Th

eH
er

ef
or

dA
ca

de
m

y
Bo

ys
54

14
.8

85
.2

98
.1

98
.1

10
0

22
.2

27
.8

98
.1

98
.1

0
0

0
52

4.
8

32
6

##
#

Th
eP

rio
ry

P.
R.

U
.

Bo
ys

4
0

0
0

50
75

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
52

.8
52

.8
##

#
W

eo
bl

ey
Co

m
pr

eh
en

si
ve

Bo
ys

42
14

.3
71

.4
97

.6
97

.6
97

.6
50

50
92

.9
47

.6
16

.7
66

.7
69

43
8.

1
31

2.
4

##
#

W
es

tf
ie

ld
Sc

ho
ol

Bo
ys

1
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
##

#
W

hi
te

cr
os

s
Bo

ys
10

1
22

.8
91

.1
94

.1
10

0
10

0
50

.5
55

.4
90

.1
88

.1
5.

9
11

.9
11

.9
41

2.
4

32
8.

2
##

#
W

ig
m

or
eH

ig
h

Bo
ys

40
35

97
.5

10
0

10
0

10
0

57
.5

57
.5

10
0

10
0

27
.5

55
97

.5
51

4.
5

37
1.

6
##

#
A

yl
es

to
ne

G
irl

s
10

2
37

.3
83

.3
96

.1
10

0
10

0
54

.9
54

.9
92

.2
81

.4
21

.6
35

.3
35

.3
45

2.
9

33
9.

6
##

#
Ba

rr
sC

ou
rt

Sc
ho

ol
G

irl
s

2
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
##

#
Bi

sh
op

of
H

er
ef

or
d'

sB
lu

ec
oa

t
G

irl
s

11
3

46
86

.7
95

.6
97

.3
10

0
71

.7
71

.7
94

.7
77

73
.5

77
.9

77
.9

50
0

36
1.

7
##

#
Jo

hn
M

as
ef

ie
ld

H
ig

h
G

irl
s

78
53

.8
94

.9
10

0
10

0
10

0
66

.7
66

.7
10

0
76

.9
61

.5
69

.2
69

.2
51

7.
5

38
0.

7
##

#
Ki

ng
st

on
eH

ig
h

G
irl

s
66

47
81

.8
97

10
0

10
0

56
.1

56
.1

97
62

.1
34

.8
87

.9
87

.9
46

4.
6

36
1.

5
##

#
La

dy
H

aw
ki

ns
'

G
irl

s
35

17
.1

65
.7

10
0

10
0

10
0

40
40

10
0

45
.7

37
.1

48
.6

48
.6

41
8.

1
32

6.
8

##
#

Le
om

in
st

er
,t

he
M

in
st

er
G

irl
s

72
26

.4
87

.5
97

.2
98

.6
98

.6
54

.2
54

.2
95

.8
65

.3
50

54
.2

54
.2

48
3.

9
34

0.
4

##
#

Pe
te

rc
hu

rc
hF

ai
rf

ie
ld

H
ig

h
G

irl
s

36
52

.8
97

.2
10

0
10

0
10

0
86

.1
88

.9
97

.2
88

.9
52

.8
72

.2
72

.2
55

2.
9

38
9.

7
##

#
Q

ue
en

El
iz

ab
et

hH
ig

h
G

irl
s

25
16

96
10

0
10

0
10

0
48

52
10

0
52

0
8

8
47

6
34

9.
8

##
#

Ro
ss

Jo
hn

Ky
rle

H
ig

h
G

irl
s

86
45

.3
76

.7
96

.5
10

0
10

0
67

.4
67

.4
96

.5
72

.1
60

.5
84

.9
93

51
9.

1
35

4
##

#
St

D
av

id
's

Pu
pi

lR
ef

er
ra

lU
ni

t
G

irl
s

7
0

14
.3

28
.6

42
.9

71
.4

14
.3

14
.3

28
.6

0
0

0
0

74
.6

74
.6

##
#

St
.M

ar
y'

sR
.C

.H
ig

h
G

irl
s

83
53

88
97

.6
98

.8
98

.8
75

.9
75

.9
97

.6
72

.3
48

.2
71

.1
96

.4
48

2.
6

37
2.

1
##

#
St

ei
ne

rA
ca

de
m

yH
er

ef
or

d
G

irl
s

13
53

.8
69

.2
84

.6
92

.3
92

.3
69

.2
69

.2
84

.6
0

0
0

0
22

4.
7

22
4.

7
##

#
Th

eH
er

ef
or

dA
ca

de
m

y
G

irl
s

79
27

.8
83

.5
97

.5
10

0
10

0
50

.6
57

96
.2

94
.9

1.
3

1.
3

2.
5

57
3.

2
34

4.
7

##
#

Th
eP

rio
ry

P.
R.

U
.

G
irl

s
2

0
0

0
10

0
10

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

90
.6

90
.6

##
#

W
eo

bl
ey

Co
m

pr
eh

en
si

ve
G

irl
s

46
28

.3
87

10
0

10
0

10
0

60
.9

60
.9

10
0

73
.9

41
.3

84
.8

84
.8

50
6.

8
34

8.
4

##
#

W
es

tf
ie

ld
Sc

ho
ol

G
irl

s
2

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

##
#

W
hi

te
cr

os
s

G
irl

s
76

36
.8

89
.5

93
.4

98
.7

10
0

57
.9

59
.2

92
.1

89
.5

14
.5

18
.4

18
.4

43
4.

7
34

2.
8

##
#

W
ig

m
or

eH
ig

h
G

irl
s

48
77

.1
93

.8
97

.9
10

0
10

0
79

.2
79

.2
97

.9
97

.9
41

.7
75

81
.3

56
8.

3
39

4.
8

19
56

32
.3

79
.8

93
.7

97
.2

98
.4

55
.1

56
.3

92
.6

70
.3

31
.1

47
.9

52
.5

45
3.

9
33

2.
7

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
of

Pu
pi

ls
A

ch
ie

vi
ng

Q
CA

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
of

Pu
pi

ls
A

ch
ie

vi
ng

Q
CA

171



20
10

N
O

C
3+

A
*-

A
5+

A
*-

C
5A

*-
G

1+
A

*-
G

A
ny

Q
ua

l

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lA

*-
CG

CS
EE

&
M

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lL

vl
2E

&
M

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lL

vl
1E

&
M

2+
A

*-
CS

ci
en

ce
M

FL
Lv

l2
M

FL
Lv

l1
M

FL
A

ny
A

PS
Ca

pp
ed

A
PS

H
er

ef
or

ds
hi

re
Bo

ys
98

5
23

.4
74

.8
91

.5
95

.9
97

.8
48

.1
49

.7
90

.2
66

22
.5

40
45

.9
42

1.
8

31
4.

5
H

er
ef

or
ds

hi
re

G
irl

s
97

1
41

.3
84

.9
96

98
.5

99
.1

62
.1

62
.9

95
.1

74
.7

39
.9

55
.8

59
.1

48
6.

3
35

1.
2

19
56

32
.3

79
.8

93
.7

97
.2

98
.4

55
.1

56
.3

92
.6

70
.3

31
.1

47
.9

52
.5

45
3.

9
33

2.
7

20
10

N
O

C
3+

A
*-

A
5+

A
*-

C
5A

*-
G

1+
A

*-
G

A
ny

Q
ua

l

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lA

*-
CG

CS
EE

&
M

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lL

vl
2E

&
M

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lL

vl
1E

&
M

2+
A

*-
CS

ci
en

ce
M

FL
Lv

l2
M

FL
Lv

l1
M

FL
A

ny
A

PS
Ca

pp
ed

A
PS

N
CE

R
Bo

ys
28

30
32

23
.8

70
.7

92
97

98
.4

51
.1

54
.3

90
.9

58
.8

22
.9

37
.1

40
.3

42
1.

1
31

4.
9

N
CE

R
G

irl
s

27
06

05
33

.9
78

.9
95

.3
98

.3
99

59
61

.3
94

.3
62

.9
35

49
.3

51
.9

46
2.

5
33

9.
6

55
36

37
28

.7
74

.7
93

.6
97

.6
98

.7
55

57
.7

92
.6

60
.8

28
.8

43
45

.9
44

1.
3

32
7

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
of

Pu
pi

ls
A

ch
ie

vi
ng

Q
CA

172



Pr
ov

is
io

na
l d

at
a 

20
10

As
 o

f N
ov

 2
nd

 2
01

0

20
10

N
O

C
3+

A
*-

A
5+

A
*-

C
5A

*-
G

1+
A

*-
G

A
ny

Q
ua

l

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lA

*-
CG

CS
EE

&
M

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lL

vl
2

E&
M

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lL

vl
1

E&
M

2+
A

*-
CS

ci
en

ce
M

FL
Lv

l2
M

FL
Lv

l1
M

FL
A

ny
A

PS
Ca

pp
ed

A
PS

Ay
le

st
on

e
19

6
29

.1
77

95
.4

99
.5

10
0

50
.5

50
.5

91
.3

74
14

.3
24

24
42

5.
9

32
6.

1
40

15
Ba

rr
sC

ou
rt

Sc
ho

ol
9

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

70
03

Bi
sh

op
of

H
er

ef
or

d'
sB

lu
ec

oa
t

23
5

34
.9

74
.5

91
.9

96
.2

10
0

60
.4

60
.4

91
.5

71
.1

60
.9

68
.5

68
.5

44
6.

9
33

1
46

00
Br

oo
kf

ie
ld

Sc
ho

ol
13

0
7.

7
15

.4
61

.5
76

.9
0

7.
7

15
.4

0
0

0
0

13
3.

2
11

4.
2

70
08

Jo
hn

M
as

ef
ie

ld
H

ig
h

15
1

42
.4

84
.1

97
.4

99
.3

99
.3

63
.6

63
.6

97
.4

63
.6

43
.7

51
51

47
1.

2
35

5.
4

40
58

Ki
ng

st
on

eH
ig

h
13

2
36

.4
81

.1
95

.5
98

.5
98

.5
50

.8
50

.8
94

.7
58

.3
28

83
.3

83
.3

44
5.

7
34

4.
7

40
21

La
dy

H
aw

ki
ns

'
86

20
.9

67
.4

97
.7

10
0

10
0

46
.5

46
.5

97
.7

55
.8

40
.7

47
.7

47
.7

40
4.

3
32

2.
1

40
22

Le
om

in
st

er
,t

he
M

in
st

er
12

8
28

.9
88

.3
97

.7
98

.4
98

.4
55

.5
55

.5
96

.9
65

.6
47

.7
50

50
49

0.
7

34
2.

4
40

27
Pe

te
rc

hu
rc

hF
ai

rf
ie

ld
H

ig
h

79
32

.9
92

.4
10

0
10

0
10

0
70

.9
72

.2
98

.7
89

.9
40

.5
64

.6
64

.6
49

4.
8

36
3.

2
40

32
Q

ue
en

El
iz

ab
et

hH
ig

h
55

16
.4

98
.2

10
0

10
0

10
0

34
.5

49
.1

10
0

60
0

7.
3

7.
3

49
6

34
8.

3
40

04
Ro

ss
Jo

hn
Ky

rle
H

ig
h

20
2

36
.6

73
.3

95
.5

99
.5

99
.5

59
.4

59
.4

95
66

.8
39

.6
72

.3
83

.2
48

1.
5

33
7.

6
44

28
St

D
av

id
's

Pu
pi

lR
ef

er
ra

lU
ni

t
20

0
5

10
35

75
5

5
10

0
0

0
0

49
.8

49
.8

11
09

St
.M

ar
y'

sR
.C

.H
ig

h
13

4
42

.5
84

.3
97

98
.5

99
.3

70
.9

70
.9

96
.3

69
.4

38
.8

61
.9

96
.3

46
6.

8
35

8.
1

46
01

St
ei

ne
rA

ca
de

m
yH

er
ef

or
d

21
38

.1
66

.7
81

90
.5

90
.5

66
.7

66
.7

81
0

0
0

0
21

4.
7

21
4.

7
69

06
Th

eH
er

ef
or

dA
ca

de
m

y
13

3
22

.6
84

.2
97

.7
99

.2
10

0
39

.1
45

.1
97

96
.2

0.
8

0.
8

1.
5

55
3.

5
33

7.
2

69
05

Th
eP

rio
ry

P.
R.

U
.

6
0

0
0

66
.7

83
.3

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
65

.4
65

.4
11

08
W

eo
bl

ey
Co

m
pr

eh
en

si
ve

88
21

.6
79

.5
98

.9
98

.9
98

.9
55

.7
55

.7
96

.6
61

.4
29

.5
76

.1
77

.3
47

4
33

1.
2

40
45

W
es

tf
ie

ld
Sc

ho
ol

3
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
70

07
W

hi
te

cr
os

s
17

7
28

.8
90

.4
93

.8
99

.4
10

0
53

.7
57

.1
91

88
.7

9.
6

14
.7

14
.7

42
2

33
4.

5
40

14
W

ig
m

or
eH

ig
h

88
58

95
.5

98
.9

10
0

10
0

69
.3

69
.3

98
.9

98
.9

35
.2

65
.9

88
.6

54
3.

8
38

4.
2

40
46

19
56

32
.3

79
.8

93
.7

97
.2

98
.4

55
.1

56
.3

92
.6

70
.3

31
.1

47
.9

52
.5

45
3.

9
33

2.
7

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
of

Pu
pi

ls
A

ch
ie

vi
ng

Q
CA

A
LL

 P
U

PI
LS

173



Pr
ov

is
io

na
l d

at
a 

20
10

As
 o

f N
ov

 2
nd

 2
01

0

20
10

N
O

C
3+

A
*-

A
5+

A
*-

C
5A

*-
G

1+
A

*-
G

A
ny

Q
ua

l

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lA

*-
CG

CS
EE

&
M

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lL

vl
2

E&
M

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lL

vl
1

E&
M

2+
A

*-
CS

ci
en

ce
M

FL
Lv

l2
M

FL
Lv

l1
M

FL
A

ny
A

PS
Ca

pp
ed

A
PS

H
er

ef
or

ds
hi

re
19

56
32

.3
79

.8
93

.7
97

.2
98

.4
55

.1
56

.3
92

.6
70

.3
31

.1
47

.9
52

.5
45

3.
9

33
2.

7
19

56
32

.3
79

.8
93

.7
97

.2
98

.4
55

.1
56

.3
92

.6
70

.3
31

.1
47

.9
52

.5
45

3.
9

33
2.

7

20
10

N
O

C
3+

A
*-

A
5+

A
*-

C
5A

*-
G

1+
A

*-
G

A
ny

Q
ua

l

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lA

*-
CG

CS
EE

&
M

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lL

vl
2

E&
M

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lL

vl
1

E&
M

2+
A

*-
CS

ci
en

ce
M

FL
Lv

l2
M

FL
Lv

l1
M

FL
A

ny
A

PS
Ca

pp
ed

A
PS

N
CE

R
55

36
37

28
.7

74
.7

93
.6

97
.6

98
.7

55
57

.7
92

.6
60

.8
28

.8
43

45
.9

44
1.

3
32

7
55

36
37

28
.7

74
.7

93
.6

97
.6

98
.7

55
57

.7
92

.6
60

.8
28

.8
43

45
.9

44
1.

3
32

7

Q
CA

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
of

Pu
pi

ls
A

ch
ie

vi
ng

Q
CA

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
of

Pu
pi

ls
A

ch
ie

vi
ng

174



Pr
ov

is
io

na
l d

at
a 

20
10

As
 o

f N
ov

 2
nd

 2
01

0

20
10

N
O

C
3+

A
*-

A
5+

A
*-

C
5A

*-
G

1+
A

*-
G

A
ny

Q
ua

l

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lA

*-
CG

CS
EE

&
M

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lL

vl
2

E&
M

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lL

vl
1

E&
M

2+
A

*-
CS

ci
en

ce
M

FL
Lv

l2
M

FL
Lv

l1
M

FL
A

ny
A

PS
Ca

pp
ed

A
PS

Bo
ys

Ay
le

st
on

e
94

20
.2

70
.2

94
.7

98
.9

10
0

45
.7

45
.7

90
.4

66
6.

4
11

.7
11

.7
39

6.
5

31
1.

4
Bo

ys
Ba

rr
sC

ou
rt

Sc
ho

ol
7

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

Bo
ys

Bi
sh

op
of

H
er

ef
or

d'
sB

lu
ec

oa
t

12
2

24
.6

63
.1

88
.5

95
.1

10
0

50
50

88
.5

65
.6

49
.2

59
.8

59
.8

39
7.

6
30

2.
6

Bo
ys

Br
oo

kf
ie

ld
Sc

ho
ol

13
0

7.
7

15
.4

61
.5

76
.9

0
7.

7
15

.4
0

0
0

0
13

3.
2

11
4.

2
Bo

ys
Jo

hn
M

as
ef

ie
ld

H
ig

h
73

30
.1

72
.6

94
.5

98
.6

98
.6

60
.3

60
.3

94
.5

49
.3

24
.7

31
.5

31
.5

42
1.

8
32

8.
3

Bo
ys

Ki
ng

st
on

eH
ig

h
66

25
.8

80
.3

93
.9

97
97

45
.5

45
.5

92
.4

54
.5

21
.2

78
.8

78
.8

42
6.

8
32

7.
9

Bo
ys

La
dy

H
aw

ki
ns

'
51

23
.5

68
.6

96
.1

10
0

10
0

51
51

96
.1

62
.7

43
.1

47
.1

47
.1

39
4.

9
31

8.
9

Bo
ys

Le
om

in
st

er
,t

he
M

in
st

er
56

32
.1

89
.3

98
.2

98
.2

98
.2

57
.1

57
.1

98
.2

66
.1

44
.6

44
.6

44
.6

49
9.

3
34

5.
1

Bo
ys

Pe
te

rc
hu

rc
hF

ai
rf

ie
ld

H
ig

h
43

16
.3

88
.4

10
0

10
0

10
0

58
.1

58
.1

10
0

90
.7

30
.2

58
.1

58
.1

44
6.

3
34

1
Bo

ys
Q

ue
en

El
iz

ab
et

hH
ig

h
30

16
.7

10
0

10
0

10
0

10
0

23
.3

46
.7

10
0

66
.7

0
6.

7
6.

7
51

2.
8

34
7.

2
Bo

ys
Ro

ss
Jo

hn
Ky

rle
H

ig
h

11
6

30
.2

70
.7

94
.8

99
.1

99
.1

53
.4

53
.4

94
62

.9
24

.1
62

.9
75

.9
45

3.
7

32
5.

4
Bo

ys
St

D
av

id
's

Pu
pi

lR
ef

er
ra

lU
ni

t
13

0
0

0
30

.8
76

.9
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

36
.4

36
.4

Bo
ys

St
.M

ar
y'

sR
.C

.H
ig

h
51

25
.5

78
.4

96
.1

98
10

0
62

.7
62

.7
94

.1
64

.7
23

.5
47

.1
96

.1
44

1
33

5.
2

Bo
ys

St
ei

ne
rA

ca
de

m
yH

er
ef

or
d

8
12

.5
62

.5
75

87
.5

87
.5

62
.5

62
.5

75
0

0
0

0
19

8.
5

19
8.

5
Bo

ys
Th

eH
er

ef
or

dA
ca

de
m

y
54

14
.8

85
.2

98
.1

98
.1

10
0

22
.2

27
.8

98
.1

98
.1

0
0

0
52

4.
8

32
6

Bo
ys

Th
eP

rio
ry

P.
R.

U
.

4
0

0
0

50
75

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
52

.8
52

.8
Bo

ys
W

eo
bl

ey
Co

m
pr

eh
en

si
ve

42
14

.3
71

.4
97

.6
97

.6
97

.6
50

50
92

.9
47

.6
16

.7
66

.7
69

43
8.

1
31

2.
4

Bo
ys

W
es

tf
ie

ld
Sc

ho
ol

1
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
Bo

ys
W

hi
te

cr
os

s
10

1
22

.8
91

.1
94

.1
10

0
10

0
50

.5
55

.4
90

.1
88

.1
5.

9
11

.9
11

.9
41

2.
4

32
8.

2
Bo

ys
W

ig
m

or
eH

ig
h

40
35

97
.5

10
0

10
0

10
0

57
.5

57
.5

10
0

10
0

27
.5

55
97

.5
51

4.
5

37
1.

6

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
of

Pu
pi

ls
A

ch
ie

vi
ng

Q
CA

175



Pr
ov

is
io

na
l d

at
a 

20
10

As
 o

f N
ov

 2
nd

 2
01

0

20
10

N
O

C
3+

A
*-

A
5+

A
*-

C
5A

*-
G

1+
A

*-
G

A
ny

Q
ua

l

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lA

*-
CG

CS
EE

&
M

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lL

vl
2

E&
M

5+
A

*-
Ci

nc
lL

vl
1

E&
M

2+
A

*-
CS

ci
en

ce
M

FL
Lv

l2
M

FL
Lv

l1
M

FL
A

ny
A

PS
Ca

pp
ed

A
PS

Bo
ys

H
er

ef
or

ds
hi

re
98

5
23

.4
74

.8
91

.5
95

.9
97

.8
48

.1
49

.7
90

.2
66

22
.5

40
45

.9
42

1.
8

31
4.

5
Bo

ys
N

CE
R

28
30

32
23

.8
70

.7
92

97
98

.4
51

.1
54

.3
90

.9
58

.8
22

.9
37

.1
40

.3
42

1.
1

31
4.

9

G
irl

s
Ay

le
st

on
e

10
2

37
.3

83
.3

96
.1

10
0

10
0

54
.9

54
.9

92
.2

81
.4

21
.6

35
.3

35
.3

45
2.

9
33

9.
6

G
irl

s
Ba

rr
sC

ou
rt

Sc
ho

ol
2

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

G
irl

s
Bi

sh
op

of
H

er
ef

or
d'

sB
lu

ec
oa

t
11

3
46

86
.7

95
.6

97
.3

10
0

71
.7

71
.7

94
.7

77
73

.5
77

.9
77

.9
50

0
36

1.
7

G
irl

s
Jo

hn
M

as
ef

ie
ld

H
ig

h
78

53
.8

94
.9

10
0

10
0

10
0

66
.7

66
.7

10
0

76
.9

61
.5

69
.2

69
.2

51
7.

5
38

0.
7

G
irl

s
Ki

ng
st

on
eH

ig
h

66
47

81
.8

97
10

0
10

0
56

.1
56

.1
97

62
.1

34
.8

87
.9

87
.9

46
4.

6
36

1.
5

G
irl

s
La

dy
H

aw
ki

ns
'

35
17

.1
65

.7
10

0
10

0
10

0
40

40
10

0
45

.7
37

.1
48

.6
48

.6
41

8.
1

32
6.

8
G

irl
s

Le
om

in
st

er
,t

he
M

in
st

er
72

26
.4

87
.5

97
.2

98
.6

98
.6

54
.2

54
.2

95
.8

65
.3

50
54

.2
54

.2
48

3.
9

34
0.

4
G

irl
s

Pe
te

rc
hu

rc
hF

ai
rf

ie
ld

H
ig

h
36

52
.8

97
.2

10
0

10
0

10
0

86
.1

88
.9

97
.2

88
.9

52
.8

72
.2

72
.2

55
2.

9
38

9.
7

G
irl

s
Q

ue
en

El
iz

ab
et

hH
ig

h
25

16
96

10
0

10
0

10
0

48
52

10
0

52
0

8
8

47
6

34
9.

8
G

irl
s

Ro
ss

Jo
hn

Ky
rle

H
ig

h
86

45
.3

76
.7

96
.5

10
0

10
0

67
.4

67
.4

96
.5

72
.1

60
.5

84
.9

93
51

9.
1

35
4

G
irl

s
St

D
av

id
's

Pu
pi

lR
ef

er
ra

lU
ni

t
7

0
14

.3
28

.6
42

.9
71

.4
14

.3
14

.3
28

.6
0

0
0

0
74

.6
74

.6
G

irl
s

St
.M

ar
y'

sR
.C

.H
ig

h
83

53
88

97
.6

98
.8

98
.8

75
.9

75
.9

97
.6

72
.3

48
.2

71
.1

96
.4

48
2.

6
37

2.
1

G
irl

s
St

ei
ne

rA
ca

de
m

yH
er

ef
or

d
13

53
.8

69
.2

84
.6

92
.3

92
.3

69
.2

69
.2

84
.6

0
0

0
0

22
4.

7
22

4.
7

G
irl

s
Th

eH
er

ef
or

dA
ca

de
m

y
79

27
.8

83
.5

97
.5

10
0

10
0

50
.6

57
96

.2
94

.9
1.

3
1.

3
2.

5
57

3.
2

34
4.

7
G

irl
s

Th
eP

rio
ry

P.
R.

U
.

2
0

0
0

10
0

10
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
90

.6
90

.6
G

irl
s

W
eo

bl
ey

Co
m

pr
eh

en
si

ve
46

28
.3

87
10

0
10

0
10

0
60

.9
60

.9
10

0
73

.9
41

.3
84

.8
84

.8
50

6.
8

34
8.

4
G

irl
s

W
es

tf
ie

ld
Sc

ho
ol

2
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
G

irl
s

W
hi

te
cr

os
s

76
36

.8
89

.5
93

.4
98

.7
10

0
57

.9
59

.2
92

.1
89

.5
14

.5
18

.4
18

.4
43

4.
7

34
2.

8
G

irl
s

W
ig

m
or

eH
ig

h
48

77
.1

93
.8

97
.9

10
0

10
0

79
.2

79
.2

97
.9

97
.9

41
.7

75
81

.3
56

8.
3

39
4.

8
19

56
32

.3
79

.8
93

.7
97

.2
98

.4
55

.1
56

.3
92

.6
70

.3
31

.1
47

.9
52

.5
45

3.
9

33
2.

7

176



1 

Tentative conclusions 
§ Most pupils make progress with 1 to 1 tuition intervention (76%, or 222 out 

of 294  
§ Progress in Maths was greater than in English 
§ Boys made better than average progress in Maths. And girls made better 

than average progress in English 
 

Tentative conclusions 
§ FSM pupils made better than average progress in both Maths and English 
§ EAL pupils made better than average progress in Maths 
§ LAC and GRT pupils made less than average progress in both Maths and English 

 
 

Appendix 3 
 
One to One tuition programme 

Analysis of Secondary progress data 2009/2010 
 

(Incomplete data from 5 schools) 
English 
Average sub level progress            1.16    Sample size 193  
Girls’ average sub level progress  1.21   Sample size 67 
Boys’ average sub level progress  1.13   Sample size 126 
Maths 
Average sub level progress  1.77    Sample size 101  
Girls’ average sub level progress  1.70   Sample size 44 
Boys’ average sub level progress  1.84   Sample size 57 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

FSM 
Average English sub level progress 1.38   Sample size 21 
Average Maths sub level progress 2.50   Sample size 6 
LAC 
Average English sub level progress 0.67   Sample size 3 
Average Maths sub level progress 1.50   Sample size 2 
EAL 
Average English sub level progress 1.00   Sample size 8 
Average Maths sub level progress 3.00   Sample size 1 
GRT 
Average English sub level progress 1.00   Sample size 5 
Average Maths sub level progress 1.33   Sample size 3 

 
 
 
 
 

177



2 

Year 7 Average English sub level progress 0.3 Sample size 30 
  Average Maths sub level progress 0.91 Sample size 11 
Year 8 Average English sub level progress 1.05 Sample size 93 
  Average Maths sub level progress 1.48 Sample size 53 
Year 9 Average English sub level progress 2.13 Sample size 54 
  Average Maths sub level progress 2.42 Sample size 37 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Tentative conclusions 
§ Year 9 pupils made better than average progress in both Maths and 

English 
§ Year 7 pupils made disappointing progress in Maths and English 

178



 

 
Further information on the subject of this report is available from 

Chris Baird, Assistant Director, Planning, Performance and Development, Children and Young People’s 
Directorate cbaird@herefordshire.gov.uk, 01432 260264 

$wk1tjk34.doc  

MEETING: CHILDREN’S SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

DATE: 10 DECEMBER 2010 

TITLE OF REPORT: REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING REPORT 2010/11 

REPORT BY:  ASSISTANT DIRECTOR: PLANNING, 
PERFORMANCE AND DEVELOPMENT 

Wards Affected 

County-wide  

Purpose 

To report on the monitoring of the Children’s Services revenue budget for 2010/11 at the end of 
quarter one.  To provide comparisons to 2009/10 budget and outturn so that Scrutiny Committee 
can assess and comment upon the budget management of Children’s Services. 

Recommendation 

THAT the Committee comments and scrutinises the figures contained herein. 

Key Points Summary 

• The overall forecast shows a net over spend of £1081k. This is almost entirely due to the 
pressures on external placements and placements for children with complex needs. 
These two budget headings comprise £1022k of the total over-spend (£721k and £300k 
respectively). In both cases this is due to additional cases coming through the system with 
further increases in agency placements since the last report to Scrutiny Committee in 
September. (see appendix D for graphical picture of trends) 

• Significant other savings across the directorate have already delivered the target saving 
set at the start of the financial year of £857k as well as the 5% saving included in the local 
authority budget for vacancy management (£493k).  

• The Joint Management team has recently introduced cost savings measures council wide 
to address the current financial issues including a freeze on all discretionary spend, and 
options for staff reducing hours (Reducing the Paybill initiative). The Children’s Services 
directorate is currently working through the implications and it is anticipated that further 
savings will be identified to reduce the deficit, however to completely eliminate the 
projected overspend will be extremely challenging. 

• The consultation period for the Children’s Services restructure ended in October and the 
final agreed structure has been published. Work is currently underway to interview 
affected staff and confirm people in the new posts. This work is expected to be completed 
by December for all internal recruitment. The directorate leadership team has agreed that, 
due to the current financial uncertainties, any posts which cannot be filled by existing staff 
will only be recruited to on an interim basis.  

AGENDA ITEM 11

179



• The directorate management team is working to minimise the effects of the restructure on 
current staff through a number of initiatives including options for more flexible working 
(reduced hours – where appropriate to service delivery) and identifying potential 
alternative roles for those affected. 

• Additional service changes will be made to meet the focus and financial constraints of the 
new government, including the agenda that comes from the Education White Paper due in 
December 2010. 

• Although the CSR 2010 outcomes have been announced in many cases these were 
headline figures and the true impact on Children’s Services is not yet known.  It is clear 
that many of the grants currently targeted to support children, young people and families 
will cease to exist. Some will be absorbed into base budgets, other may be consolidated 
into Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) for example Standards Fund Grants, with others 
moving into a new Early Intervention Grant. The challenge will be that ringfencing is 
removed and in many cases it may not be easy to identify the elements or amounts 
relating to the services for children and young people within the overall allocation to 
Herefordshire. 

Alternative Options 

1 This report is a monitoring report for the committee to scrutinise and comment upon. 

Reasons for Recommendations 

2 To enable Scrutiny Committee to carry out its function in relation to the Children’s 
Services revenue budget for 2009/10. 

Introduction and Background 

3 Appendices A to C provide an overview of the budget sources and areas of expenditure. 
With 2009/10 comparative figures. 

4 For additional information Appendix D shows in a graphical format the changing profile for 
numbers of looked after children and children with complex needs.  

Key Considerations 

5 There have been some budget virements since the last Scrutiny report and the last 
forecast figures have been adjusted where applicable to reflect the reported variance to 
budget, as virements had been taken into account when producing the forecast. 

Local Authority Expenditure 

6 Appendix A shows the budget and forecast expenditure for 2010/11 with 2009/10 
comparisons.  The forecast outturn currently projects an overspend of £1081k.  Details of 
the principal variances between outturn and budget are provided in the following sections: 

7 External agency fostering and residential placement costs continue to rise with an 
expected overspend of £721k. Although additional funds were allocated to reflect the 
pressures the numbers of children have shown a significant increase over the past four 
months with a corresponding increase in costs. At the end of October there were 62 
children in either independent residential or foster care placements compared to 42 at the 
end of March 2010 an increase of almost 50%. Most of these children have been placed 

180



in agency fostering placement.  The Safeguarding team is working to mitigate the costs in 
the medium term through a recruitment drive to increase the number of Herefordshire 
foster carers through a recruitment drive. It should however be noted that there is a 
national decline in the number of foster carers with an ageing population, although 
Herefordshire numbers have fallen from 79 to 76 in the past year there are a number of 
potential new carers currently under consideration. 

8 The Council’s fostering and other looked after children costs budget is now expecting a 
small underspend of £17k. Savings from court costs and post 16 accommodation partially 
offset by increased costs for fostering and kinship carers (£64k). 

9 Family Assessment and Support shows an under spend of £112k relating to savings in 
special guardianship costs of £41k based upon current numbers of children (but offset by 
increased kinship care costs).  Other savings to offset the increase have been identified 
through contract savings and reductions in section 17 budgets spend. 

10 The Children with Disabilities team (non joint agency managed cases) is expecting 
savings of £18k due to staff vacancies of £34k, partly offset by increased cost for direct 
payments (£20k), with the balance of the savings coming from section 17 payments. 

11 The forecast now reflects the costs of redundancies following the restructuring of the 
Safeguarding team which was completed in early September (cost £70k), and also the 
additional costs for the interim social workers. Additional agency social workers have 
been brought in to provide cover for vacancies and also to provide additional experience 
to support the high number of newly qualified social workers. Due to a national shortage 
of social workers hourly rates are increasing and the cost per hour is at least 50% more 
than employing own staff. This has resulted in increased staff costs within the 
Safeguarding area with a predicted overspend of £339k. 

12 As previously reported the Complex Needs Solution budget (formerly known as JAM) has 
historically under spent its budget, although to a diminishing extent year on year. The 
budget for 2010/11 has been set at the same level as for 2009/10 however additional 
numbers of cases are being considered year on year which create commitments for up to 
7-8 years at a very high cost per case (see Appendix D for projections). Current case 
numbers cannot be managed within the existing financial budget and the predicted over-
spend of £300k remains unchanged at the current time for both the local authority and 
DSG funded elements. As this commitment is likely to increase in 2011/12 and beyond 
additional funds will be sought from all three parties (LA/ DSG/PCT) and also all options to 
reduce costs explored.  The Children’s Commissioning Group, made up of 
representatives from the directorate and integrated commissioning have established an 
initial event involving a variety of staff, including school representatives to develop a 
strategy to enhance Herefordshire’s provision and reduce the reliance on independent 
provision. 

13 Savings have been created in the Early Years budget through savings identified within the 
Surestart grant to offset staff costs for the quality and improvement team totalling £42k. 

14 Savings in the Education Welfare service. School Improvement team and the Youth 
Offending team arising from vacancies total £106k. 

15 Other savings within the management section of Improvement and Inclusion relate to 
offsetting costs against available grants £53k which offset the projected overspend of 
£27k relating to the closure of the jointly funded (with Worcestershire) Awards and Grants 
service at the end of the current financial year (National service has been redesigned and 
transferred to single body). 

181



16 The Youth Service is currently expecting to spend to budget but is exploring opportunities 
to generate income from outdoor activities as a way of offsetting the need to make cuts in 
this area. 

17 The PPD staff budget now reflects the transfer of the business support staff for 
Safeguarding into the centralised CYPD business support function. Savings in year are 
due to vacancies being held particularly within the performance team in order to cover the 
costs of the posts previously funded by Contact Point grant (this grant is being withdrawn 
during 2010/11) and the initiative has been stopped. 

18 Home to school transport costs are reflecting savings as a result of the recent route 
reviews with 62 routes being rationalised down to 41. This will generate in year savings of 
approximately £107k with additional savings generated through additional income, largely 
due to increased numbers of young people attending college, and some savings from an 
overestimate of outstanding invoices at year end.  Two less school days in the current 
financial year also contribute to the savings. 

19 The Community Operations budget is expected to make savings of £145k this year due to 
utilising the Think Family and Surestart grants.   

20 Central Management costs show a predicted over spend of £129k, which relates to the 
recruitment costs for a new DCS and incremental costs for the interim DCS. There are 
additional costs related to the staff consultation and the restructure. It should be noted 
that a decision has now been made to continue with an interim DCS for 12-18 months 
which will have budget implications for 2011/12. 

21 The target saving forecast has been reduced as a result of savings identified and reported 
across the directorate. CYPD has now received the additional £300k previously reported 
for locality costs. The balance of the target savings forecast relates to estimated in year 
savings (Q4) following the completion of the restructure as these cannot be identified by 
department at the current time.  Other central costs include additional HR support costs 
(£35k) for the restructure work. 

22 There are a number of initiatives and activities currently underway to identify and deliver 
further savings in order to reduce the deficit. As these are quantified they will be reflected 
in future forecasts. 

Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) 

23 Appendix B provides details of the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG).  Within the central 
element of the DSG an over spend had been previously forecast relating to the 
educational element of complex needs cases, discussed above. The same overspend as 
for LA applies (3/7th total spend) at £300k.  Vacancies within the Additional Needs and 
Travellers Children teams are forecast to release savings of £127k.  Other savings have 
been identified within Early Years of £66k, and on inter-authority re-coupment of £95k 
which have significantly reduced the projected overspend to a net £24k overspend. 

24 It has now been confirmed that Wigmore High and Primary schools have applied for 
academy status (likely to take effect from 1st April 2011) this is in addition to John Kyrle 
which becomes an academy in January. It is currently estimated that the financial effect 
would be £300k in DSG funding and £400k on local authority budgets (from April 2011). 
An early estimate is that potentially up to 50% of the shortfall could be recovered by 
charging for services but that the remainder could not be absorbed by CYPD. However 
the details of which services will be top-sliced has still to be confirmed by the Department 
for Education and the implications worked through in detail with the affected service 

182



areas. 

Grant Funded Expenditure 

25 To provide members with a full overview of the use of grants by the Directorate Appendix 
C sets out the major grant funded activities.  

26 The three principal funding streams for Children’s Services (other than Council and DSG) 
are the Area Based Grant for which there is a budget of £3.957m, Standards Fund 
(DCSF) of £17.773m and Surestart for which the grant is £5.228m for 2010/11. 

27 Area Based Grant has been reduced by 10% for children and young people.  This has 
been delivered through working with the Children’s Trust and Herefordshire Partnership.   
The Department for Education did set out that 25% had been notionally cut from Area 
Based Grant in-year (2010/11) relating to services for children and young people, but it 
was for local decisions to be made on how this was applied.  The Herefordshire 
Partnership has worked across the different partnership groups and as a result the cut 
was 10% rather than 25% on services for children and young people.  This has been 
achieved in year. 

28 As part of the deficit reduction plans all opportunities to maximise grant expenditure are 
being explored and some significant costs have already been attributed to grants within 
the current forecasts and further charges will be identified and actioned in the coming 
months. 

Implications for 2011/12 and beyond 

29 As part of the Comprehensive Spending Review (CSR) the government has announced 
that many grants are being unringfenced and from 2011/12 will either be rolled into the 
formula grant or into the new Early Intervention grant. Details are emerging but the full 
picture is not yet clear in terms of some of the grants, however Surestart grant is to be 
protected in cash terms and DSG remains a ring-fenced grant. 

30 The DfE has announced that non schools spending will fall by 12% in over the next four 
years, but details of where the cuts will be made have not yet been confirmed. 

31 It is clear from information received to date that the savings to be delivered are heavily 
weighted into 2011/12 and 2012/13. This will have additional implications for the overall 
council budget and will require close scrutiny of the priorities for children’s services as for 
all council services.  

32 Children’s Services are actively pursuing options to identify income generation 
opportunities which will support the ongoing delivery of current service levels, to drive out 
efficiencies through contract reviews and re-negotiations, and cost prevention, for 
example through more early intervention to reduce social care costs. 

 Community Impact 

33 The work of the Children and Young People’s Directorate, including schools and early 
years settings have wide ranging community impacts, benefiting children and young 
people and their families across Herefordshire. 

183



Financial Implications 

34 These are contained in the body of the report.  The projected outturn is based upon 
results to the end of October 2010. 

Legal Implications 

35 The use of budgets including grants must comply with the legal requirements associated 
with each funding stream and the conditions of specific grants. 

Risk Management 

36 The risks are set out in the body of the report, in terms of the potential overspend.  The 
report notes the actions planned to address this potential overspend and some of the 
work in terms of the restructure and establishment of a Herefordshire approach to address 
the use of independent placements.  Vacancy management will be closely monitored to 
ensure that the affects on service delivery and staff workloads are carefully assessed and 
regularly reviewed. 

Consultees 

Not applicable 

Appendices 

Appendix A, B, C and D are attached and referred to in the body of the report. 

 

184



Appendix A 
Budget and Projected Local Authority Expenditure for 2010/11 with 2009/10 Comparatives

£'000

Local Authority Net 
Expenditure (excluding 
corporate recharges) Budget Actual

Variance 
to Budget 

*1 Budget*1

Last 
reported 
Projected 
Outturn

Last 
report 
var to 
budget

Current 
Projected 
Outurn

Variance 
to Budget 

*1

Current 
Projected 
Outurn vs 

Last

External Agency Placements 2,827 3,508 (681) 3,335 3,691 (356) 4,056 (721) (365)

Fostering & other Looked After 
Children costs (LAC)

1,920 2,144 (224) 2,158 2,197 (39) 2,141 17 56

Children with Disabilities (non 
JAM cases)

681 632 49 651 632 19 633 18 (1)

Family Assessment and Support 2,062 2,052 10 2,231 2,176 55 2,119 112 57

Safeguarding Staff Costs 
(including social workers)

4,318 4,361 (43) 3,881 3,864 17 4,220 (339) (356)

Sub total Safeguarding 11,808 12,697 (889) 12,256 12,560 (304) 13,169 (913) (609)

Complex Needs Solutions 
(formerly JAM)

825 791 34 878 1,178 (300) 1,178 (300) 0

Early Years (non grant funded) 77 65 12 72 76 (4) 30 42 46

Education Welfare Team 188 203 (15) 217 207 10 212 5 (5)

14-19 Strategy 78 60 18 79 79 0 79 (0) (0)

Improvement & Inclusion Mgmt 362 347 15 376 376 0 350 26 26

Special Educational Needs 810 773 37 941 932 9 941 0 (9)

School Improvement Service 919 970 (51) 944 813 131 848 96 (35)

Traded Services 0 58 (58) (6) (6) 0 (6) (0) (0)

Youth Offending Team 341 321 20 320 320 0 315 5 5

Youth Services 1,123 1,061 62 1,074 1,074 0 1,074 0 0

Sub Total Inclusion & Impr. 4,723 4,649 74 4,895 5,049 (154) 5,021 (126) 28

Children’s Services ICT (49) 49 (98) 53 53 0 53 0 0

Planning, Performance Mgmt 826 701 125 1,285 1,188 97 1,183 102 5

Property / Asset Management 746 730 16 767 767 0 737 30 30

School Admissions & Transport 5,232 4,471 761 4,827 4,659 168 4,472 355 187

Sub Total PP&D 6,755 5,951 804 6,932 6,667 265 6,445 487 222

Community Operations 102 121 (19) 301 105 196 156 145 (51)

Central Management Costs 228 238 (10) 196 278 (82) 325 (129) (47)

Staff Severance Costs 916 927 (11) 766 766 0 770 (4) (4)

Target Saving (160) (95) (65) (557) (100) (457) (50) (507) (50)

Misc Other Central costs (269) (248) (21) (357) (302) (55) (322) (35) 20

Sub Total Central CYPD 715 822 (107) 48 642 (594) 723 (675) (81)

Total Local Authority Net 24,103 24,240 (137) 24,432 25,023 (591) 25,513 (1,081) (490)

*1 Overspend variances shown in brackets ()

2009/10 2010/11

 

185



186



Appendix B
Budget and Projected Dedicated Schools Grant Expenditure for 2010/11 with 2009/10 Comparatives

£'000

Dedicated Schools Grant 
(DSG) Budget Actual

Variance to 
Budget *1 Budget 

Last 
reported 
Projected 
Outturn

Last 
report 
var to 
budget

Current 
Proj. 
Outturn

Variance 
to Budget 

*1

Current 
Projected 
Outurn vs 
Last

Grant Income (84,526) (84,526) 0 (87,346) (87,346) 0 (87,346) 0 (0)

Primary Schools 38,802 38,797 5 40,008 40,008 (0) 40,008 0 0

High Schools 36,162 36,155 7 37,480 37,480 0 37,480 0 (0)

Special Schools 3,777 3,788 (11) 4,006 4,006 0 4,006 0 (0)

Schools Related Expenditure 
(inc Contingency & carry fwd) *2

182 247 (65) 170 170 0 170 0 0

Less LSC Income (2,750) (2,750) 0 (2,884) (2,884) (0) (2,884) 0 0

Sub total Schools Spending 76,173 76,237 (64) 78,780 78,780 (0) 78,780 0 0

Special Needs Banded Funding 534 600 (66) 477 477 0 477 0 0

Complex Needs Solutions 
(formerly JAM)

878 791 87 878 1,178 (300) 1,178 (300) 0

Fees to Independent Schools 
(for Special Educational Needs)

341 289 52 477 477 0 477 0 (0)

Nursery Education Funding 2,888 2,880 8 2,944 2,944 0 2,944 0 (0)

Pupil Referral Units 924 910 14 944 944 (0) 944 0 0

Schools Admissions & Planning 200 204 (4) 166 166 0 182 (16) (16)

Special Educational Needs 
Support Teams

1,563 1,464 99 1,620 1,522 98 1,519 101 3

Travellers Children 139 101 38 128 101 27 101 27 (0)

Early Years Support 536 419 117 479 479 (0) 413 66 66

Inter authority recoupment (5) 165 (170) 95 95 (0) 0 95 95

Other Misc Expenditure 497 608 (111) 359 359 0 355 4 4

Total DSG Central 
Expenditure

8,495 8,431 64 8,566 8,742 (176) 8,590 (24) 152

Total DSG 84,668 84,668 0 87,346 87,522 (176) 87,370 (24) 152

2009/10 2010/11

*1 Overspend variances shown in brackets ()  
 

187



188



Appendix C
Major Grant Funded Activities

£'000

Grant Funded Expenditure
Funding / 
Source Budget Actual Variance Budget 

Last 
reported 
Projected 
Outturn

Last report 
var to 
budget

Current 
Proj. 
Outturn

Variance 
to Budget

Current 
Projected 
Outurn vs 
Last

Common Assessment Framework 
(CAF)

ABG 148 148 0 99 99 0 99 0 0

Other Community Operations Support ABG 114 113 1 337 337 0 287 50 50

Extended Schools Start Up ABG 668 666 2 314 257 57 257 57 (0)

Other Schools Support ABG 918 866 52 688 688 0 615 73 73

Connexions ABG 1,470 1,470 0 1,443 1,443 (0) 1,392 51 51

School Travel ABG 111 111 0 130 130 0 130 0 (0)

Teen Pregnancy ABG 96 94 2 83 83 0 42 41 41

Children & Adolesecent Mental Health ABG 202 202 0 197 197 (0) 197 0 0

Substance Misuse ABG 70 68 2 44 44 0 25 20 19

Other Safeguarding Children ABG 511 502 9 289 289 (0) 264 24 25

LSC ABG 0 0 0 268 268 (0) 219 49 49

Other ABG ABG 211 279 (68) 65 65 0 55 10 10

Total Area Based Grant 4,519 4,519 0 3,957 3,900 57 3,581 376 319

Children's Centres DfE 2,490 2,490 0 2,868 2,868 (0) 2,868 0 0

Other Early Years DfE 1,583 1,583 0 2,360 2,360 (0) 2,314 46 46

Total Surestart Grant 4,073 4,073 0 5,228 5,228 (0) 5,182 46 46

Special & Beacon Schools DfE 1,929 1,929 0 1,819 1,819 0 1,819 0 0

School Development Grant DfE 5,183 5,183 0 5,292 5,292 0 5,292 0 (0)

Other Devolved Schools Stds Fund DfE 2,066 2,066 0 2,870 2,870 (0) 2,870 0 0

Extended Schools DfE 513 513 0 723 722 1 647 76 75

Support to Music Services DfE 220 220 0 220 220 (0) 220 0 0

Disadvantage Subsidy DfE 0 492 492 0 492 0 0

One to one tuition DfE 383 383 0 729 729 0 729 0 (0)

Other non-devolved Stds Funds DfE 1,300 1,300 0 1,365 1,365 0 1,365 0 0

School Standards Grant DfE 4,193 4,193 0 4,264 4,264 (0) 4,264 0 0

Total Standards Fund 15,787 15,787 0 17,773 17,773 0 17,698 76 75

Community Ops (Think Family) 
various

DfE 349 349 0 508 508 0 500 8 8

Training & Development *1 Various 482 482 0 526 526 (0) 526 0 0

YPLA YPLA 0 0 0 8,222 8,222 0 8,222 0 (0)

2009/10 2010/11

*1 included Contact Point 09/10 - grant being withdrawn during 2010/11

From September funds to colleges are paid direct by YPLA
 

189



190



Trends in numbers of Looked After Children (actual to October 2010)

Trends and Projections of Costs / Numbers of Children with Complex Needs

Numbers in Children's Agency Residential and Fostering Placements

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

M
ar
-0
7

Ju
n-
07

Se
p-
07

De
c-
07

M
ar
-0
8

Ju
n-
08

Se
p-
08

De
c-
08

M
ar
-0
9

Ju
n-
09

Se
p-
09

De
c-
09

M
ar
-1
0

Ju
n-
10

Se
p-
10

De
c-
10

M
ar
-1
1

Quarter

P
la
ce
m
en
t 
N
u
m
b
er
s

Residential & Secure

Fostering
Total

Complex Needs 

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

4000

2008/09 actual 2009/10 actual 2010/11
estimate

2011/12
estimate

2012/13
estimate

2013/14
estimate

Cost £k

0

5

10

15

20

25

No. Young people

Total Complex Needs LA Cost Complex Needs Average number YP

 

191



192



 

 
Further information on the subject of this report is available from 

Daniel Crampton, Head of Safeguarding and Review on (01432) 260261 
  

$eah2mz2v.doc 22/02/10 

MEETING: CHILDREN’S SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

DATE: 10 DECEMBER 2010 

TITLE OF REPORT: MOBILE WORKING FOR SOCIAL WORKERS 
WITHIN SAFEGUARDING AND VULNERALBE 
CHILDREN SERVICE 

REPORT BY:  HEAD OF SAFEGUARDING AND REVIEW 

CLASSIFICATION: Open  

Wards Affected 

County-wide  

Purpose 

To inform the Committee of the current position in respect of mobile working for children, social 
workers and support workers within Herefordshire. 

Recommendations 

 THAT:  Scrutiny Committee support the proposal for: 

 (a) ICT technical options to be identified between the Children and Young 
People’s Directorate and ICT Services to find a suitable and cost effective 
way for staff to work in a more mobile way. 

(b) A review to take place on the current ICT equipment used by social 
workers and family support workers and where necessary replacements 
to be costed to enable them to work remotely 

(c) All Herefordshire children’s workplaces, including children’s centres and 
the proposed locality “hubs” have capacity and connectivity for staff to 
connect to the network when in the locality; and  

(d) Further work is undertaken on the financial feasibility of the proposal. 

Key Points Summary 

• Mobile working for social workers and family support workers will be a significant improvement 
in terms of efficiency and ways of working.  A rolling standardisation programme for computers 
is in place within Herefordshire Council and NHS Herefordshire and where equipment over a 
certain age is replaced like for like from an ICT budget, or where a desktop computer is not 
suitable for a member of staff a more suitable technology can be supplied at a small cost to the 
relevant department.  Staff who have a laptop and a crypto card, which is the corporate secure 
remote access solution, can access the network from home, however staff who do not have a 

AGENDA ITEM 12

193



laptop and crypto card currently need to return to the office in order to update Frameworki in 
terms of assessments and case notes. 

• Where staff require laptops and are not due a replacement under standardisation the full cost of 
the device would need to be met from the specific department. 

• Mobile working is a key element of the Frameworki action plan developed following the recent 
Ofsted inspection which will improve the system as well as the way of working for the Service as 
a whole. 

Alternative Options 

1 There are no alternative options. 

Reasons for Recommendations 

2 It is recognised that mobile working has great benefits for social workers, allowing them to 
work more flexibly and keep their records up to date.  Information regarding children can be 
immediately updated and thereby is the most efficient way of using the current electronic 
system to ensure that children are safeguarded.   

3 More mobile ICT provision would significantly reduce travel costs and time that social workers 
spent on the road as they could work from a local base to them or return home to do their 
written work.  It should fit in with any recommendations of the current Munro review that will 
allow social workers to operate in the most efficient and time effective matter, allowing our key 
staff involved with child protection to operate in a professional and safe manner without further 
disadvantage in their operational practice.  

Introduction and Background 

4 Herefordshire introduced the new Integrated Children System, which was heavily driven by the 
Government of the time in October 2008 and Frameworki was introduced at the same time. 
Many of the Council social work staff found it difficult to adapt to a new system as quickly as 
the project plan expected. 

5 Since then, there has been considerable investment in training and infrastructure to the point 
where the majority of managers and social workers within Herefordshire now have remote 
access via crypto cards. This allows them to work flexibly and also at times of extreme 
weather conditions, allows people to operate from their home bases.  

6 The Council’s ICT Services are currently using crypto card as the Council’s remote working 
solution, this works by giving the user a unique login number to securely access the council’s 
network from home.   

7 A number of options for mobile working are either being considered by the Council or are 
being implemented these are listed below and their respective advantages and disadvantages 
detailed: 

3G 
3G is like a mobile phone signal which users can use to access the internet and in turn the 
Councils network using a crypto card.  Research from OLA’s would indicate that the best 
solution for mobile working would be laptops fitted with 3G cards, however within 
Herefordshire coverage of the 3G signal is poor and as it is provided by a national company 
Herefordshire Council are unable to improve this. 

194



A pilot would be required to see whether 3G would be an option for Herefordshire and 
included in this would be to check if frameworki would work efficiently across a potentially 
weak 3G signal.  Another consideration would be the need for wireless cards in existing 
laptops and new equipment going forward, this may also be an overhead for departments. 

Advantages if signal is available are, quicker updates to the frameworki system providing a 
more accurate up to date service.  Duplicate data entry would be reduced which would enable 
staff to work in a more time effective manner. 

Frameworki Offline Files 
This feature of Frameworki allows workers to download set forms on to a laptop before visiting 
patients, from Frameworki for them to be completed “off-line” at the patients home, which can 
then be uploaded back onto Frameworki. 

Offline forms allows specific forms to be filled in away from the office.  Dagenham & Barking 
local authority have found that social workers could complete one additional assessment per 
day using this way of working. 

Disadvantages are that only downloaded forms can be accessed and that other information on 
the framework system is not available off line which includes the updating of case notes. 

Originally, this was due to be piloted with 10 social work staff from both Safeguarding and 
Vulnerable Children and ten from Adult Social Care, starting in April 2010.  The timescales for 
this pilot has now been set for January 2011. 

Digital Pens 
This technology allows staff to use a dedicated pen and paper to complete the assessment 
forms whilst at the homes of patients, once back at the office the pen is connected to the 
network and the completed form is transcribed onto the screen ready for finalising and 
submission into the framework system.  Costs can vary for this solution and changing forms 
can increase stationery costs for redesigning of the digital form. 

Locality Working 
In addition to the Council buildings, the ‘No Wrong Door’ project within the Children and Young 
Peoples Directorate will be going live with 6 locality offices in 2011, staff will be able to call into 
these centres to either connect wirelessly to the network or use a fixed desktop computer to 
access either the Council or PCT network.  These sites could be utilised by the staff as a 
closer venue to update patient records after visits.  In addition to this wireless networks are 
planned to be set up at Blackfriars, Plough Lane, Brockington and Thorn in 2010.   

Wireless-enabled laptops used with crypto cards 
Currently staff who have a laptop and crypto card can access the Council’s network by 
connecting to their home internet using a cable.  Where laptops are wireless enabled the cable 
is not required which allows more flexible working as there is no need for direct cable 
connection to network.  However wireless enabling of laptops is part of a wider project and 
timescales are not yet defined and is not a preferred approach of ICT because of increased 
security risks.   

Security needs to be thorough to ensure protection of information which means access to any 
wireless networks to connect to the Council’s Network is only accessible via a dual 
authentication login using the crypto card.  Again there may be a cost to enable the laptop to 
work wirelessly by installing a wireless network card. 

Printing is not currently possible when using the Council laptop and crypto card at home.   

195



In terms of HR the need for self-regulation around work, leisure time is important as is having 
an appropriate work station for health and safety purposes. 

Crypto cards are available to individuals on a one-off basis at a cost of £50.00 each.  Social 
workers and managers find these cards very helpful, as they can work from home when 
writing reports for conferences and court, and are still able to access Frameworki for 
information. 

8 The electronic recording system was criticised in the recent Ofsted unannounced and 
announced inspections and an action plan is in place to address the issues raised.  A key 
consideration of the action plan is the move to mobile working which would bring 
improvements for the Service in terms of up to date recording but also improve the morale of 
staff who would have quicker access to the system. 

 

Key Considerations 

9 Mobile working is a key element of modernising and improving social work practice and ways 
of working in Herefordshire.  An up to date case recording systems is critical to ensure that 
children and young people are effectively safeguarded.  The geography of the county means 
that mobile working is even more important than in other more urban authorities.  Ofsted will 
be looking at the way in which the authority is improving Frameworki, and access to it, 
following the outcome of their recent inspections.  Improving data quality and speed of 
recording will also have a major impact on accurate performance reporting. 

Community Impact 

9 Effective mobile working will ensure that user views can be recorded swiftly onto the system.  
By implementing it across the Service, it will ensure equality for our client group that are in 
more rural locations as their records will be as swiftly recorded as those within the towns 
where our social workers already operate. 

Financial Implications 

10 The financial implications of the different options will vary from low to significant and on 
acceptance of the recommendations of this report full costs will be detailed for all available 
options. 

Legal Implications 

11 Fully encrypted mobile working will enable that the information is safely stored.  As a result, 
there would be reduced reliance on memory sticks and minimise the amount of copying of 
highly confidential client information to use with families and at meetings as this would all be 
available on the system.  Where memory sticks are used, these will be corporately issued and 
encrypted for security. 

Risk Management 

12 The risks in terms of data security and lone working are the same as for the current 
development of locality team working in the directorate.  Council protocols and procedures 
would operate to mitigate those risks. 

196



Consultees 

Senior managers and staff in Children’s Services. 

ICT Services Division 

Appendices 

None 

Background Papers 

None identified. 
 

197



198



 

 
 Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
 Paul James, Democratic Services Officer, on 01432 260460 

 

MEETING: CHILDREN’S SERVICES SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

DATE: 10 DECEMBER 2010 

TITLE OF REPORT: COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 

REPORT BY:  Democratic Services Officer 

CLASSIFICATION: Open  

Wards Affected 

County-wide. 

Purpose 

To consider the Committee’s work programme. 

Recommendation 

 THAT subject to any comment or issues raised by the Committee the 
Committee work programme be approved and reported to the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee. 

Introduction and Background 

1.  The Overview and Scrutiny Committee is responsible for overseeing, co-ordinating 
and approving the work programmes of the Committee, and is required to periodically 
review the scrutiny committees work programmes to ensure that overview and 
scrutiny is effective, that there is an efficient use of scrutiny resources and that 
potential duplication of effort by scrutiny members is minimised.   

2.  The work programme, set out at appendix 1, may be modified by the Chairman 
following consultation with the Vice-Chairman and the Director in response to 
changing circumstances. 

3.  Should any urgent, prominent or high profile issue arise, the Chairman may consider 
calling an additional meeting to consider that issue. 

4.  Should Members become aware of any issues they consider may be added to the 
scrutiny programme they should contact the Democratic Services Officer to log the 
issue so that it may be taken into consideration when planning future agendas or 
when revising the work programme. 

5. To enable the Committee to track the result of previous recommendations Appendix 2 is 
attached for information only.  Where possible this includes a comment by the 
relevant officer on the current position concerning the issue at the time of going to 
print. 

AGENDA ITEM 13

199



 

Background Papers 

• None identified. 

 

200



Children’s Services Scrutiny Committee - Work Programme - 2010/11 
For consideration by Committee on 10 December 2010 

 
 
 
 

Member Seminar – 7 February 2011 (pm) 
Note: All Councillors will be invited to a seminar based on the Directorate 

Restructure and the Emerging Locality Initiative. 
 

11 March 2011 at 10.00am 

 • Issues for scrutiny raised from the seminar on 7 
February.  

• Directorate Reorganisation –update and indication 
of the activities and responsibilities within the 
directorate. 

• Standards in the Early Years Foundation Stage 
and Standards in the Primary Phase - Update 

• Cabinet Member response to the Pupil 
Achievement in Swimming at Key Stage 2 review.  

• Capital Budget Monitoring. 
• Revenue Budget Monitoring 
• Performance Digest 
• Committee Work Programme. 

Scrutiny Reviews -- 
 
 

11 July 2011 at 10.00am 

 • Capital Budget Monitoring. 
• Revenue Budget Monitoring 
• Performance Digest 
• Committee Work Programme. 

Scrutiny Reviews -- 
 
 

September 2011 at 10.00am 

 • Standards in the Early Years Foundation Stage 
and Standards in the Primary Phase – Full report. 

• Capital Budget Monitoring. 
• Revenue Budget Monitoring 
• Performance Digest 
• Committee Work Programme. 

Scrutiny Reviews -- 
 

December 2011 at 10.00am 

 • Capital Budget Monitoring. 
• Revenue Budget Monitoring 
• Performance Digest 
• Committee Work Programme. 

Scrutiny Reviews -- 
 

201



March 2012 at 10.00am 

 • Capital Budget Monitoring. 
• Revenue Budget Monitoring 
• Performance Digest 
• Committee Work Programme. 

Scrutiny Reviews -- 
 
Possible future items on: 

• Be Healthy’ issues (obesity / alcohol / lifestyle/housing/ CAMHS/ psychology 
service) also consider inviting members from Health Scrutiny. (see minutes  
June 2010) 

• The 14 – 19 Strategy 
• Foundation and Academy Schools 
• Governance arrangements for the Children’s Trust and partnerships. 
• Delivery plans to be submitted to Committee for the Children and Young 

People Plan. 
 
In consultation with the Chairman and Vice-Chairman the Director of Children’s 
Services is working up a programme of open seminars for Members based on 
defined themes. 
 
Suggested themes or Issues identified by the Director for future agendas 
 
Date Subject 
To be confirmed 
 

Economic Well Being: 14-19 Strategy. 

To be confirmed Positive Contribution:  Targeted / Integrated Youth 
Services 

To be confirmed Enjoy and Achieve:  Attendance 
 Herefordshire and its comparators 
 

202



APPENDIX 2 
 
Progress in response to recommendations made and issues requiring action 
raised by the Children’s Services Scrutiny Committee. 
 
Committee date: 19 March 2010 
 

Safeguarding Arrangements….. 

Recommendations Response/Action 

1. The Committee recommends 
that a seminar be arranged in 
the near future to remind all 
members of their duties as 
Corporate Parents; and 

 

An all Member Seminar was held 1 
November 2010 

2. A Member briefing note be 
provided setting out the 
number of pupil transfers 
requested due to bullying. 

 

Data being collated and analysed. 
 
 

 
 
Committee date: 14 June 2010 
 

Performance Digest year end 2009/10 
 
Recommendations 
 

Response/Action 

1. Committee recommends that 
Cabinet Member(s) consider an 
earlier implementation date for 
the 24/7 emergency telephone 
response required to meet 
National Indicator 51; and 

 

Work in progress in terms of adult / 
children’s emergency responses.   

2. Committee recommends that 
closer working arrangements 
be brought about between the 
CAMHs and child psychology 
service. 

 

Work in progress through localities.   

 
 
Committee date: 1 October 2010 
 

Progress made since the establishment to the Herefordshire Traveller 
Achievement Service 

Recommendations Response/Action 

3) The Committee Requests that 
the Cabinet Member(s) bring to the 
attention of all Members of the 
Council their responsibility 
towards GRT Children. 

Agreed.  This was raised at the 
Corporate Parenting Seminar.   

203



 
 

Government Initiatives in Children’s Service 

Recommendations Response/Action 

b) the Committee Recommends 
that the Cabinet Member(s) 
consider whether the Youth 
Service can provide any 
support towards those 
Playbuilder schemes ready to 
proceed so that the impetus at 
community level isn’t lost. 

 

Work in progress. 
 

c) The Committee Recommends 
that the Cabinet Member(s) 
ensure that the services 
offered by Children’s Services 
are attractive thereby ensuring 
that schools continue to 
purchase services from the 
authority 

 

Service Level Agreements are being 
developed and new approaches to 
income generation.   
 

d) The Committee Recommends 
that the Cabinet Member(s) ensure 
that there are clear, fully 
coordinated, joined up links in the 
16-19 area to ensure that young 
people have clear information and 
assistance during their transition 
to adult life. 

Awaiting decisions from the Coalition 
Government.   
 

 
 

Review into Swimming at Key Stage 2 

Recommendations Response/Action 

c) The Cabinet Members response 
to the findings of the review be 
reported to the first available 
meeting after the Cabinet Member 
has approved their response. 

Recommendations arising from the 
Review have been forwarded to the 
Cabinet Member for consideration.  His 
response will be reported back to the 
Committee. 

 
Committee Date: 22 October 2010 
 

Sustainable School Provision for 21st Century 

Recommendations Response/Action 

That the report be noted and the 
Committee suggests to the 
Cabinet Member that school 
clusters that have not yet 
responded be reminded of the 
importance of their comments and 
urge a prompt reply 

Work in progress.   
 

204



 
Standards in Early Years Foundation Stage 

Recommendations Response/Action 

b) an update report be 
presented in approximately 6 
months with a fuller report 
being made in 12 months. 

 

Listed in the Committee work programme 

 
 

Standards in the Primary Phase 

Recommendations Response/Action 

b) an update report be presented 
in approximately 6 months with a 
fuller report being made in 12 
months. 

Listed in the Committee work programme 

 
 

Directorate Reorganisation 

Recommendations Response/Action 

that the oral report by the Director 
of Children’s Services be noted 
and a further update, particularly 
giving greater detail on the various 
services in the Directorate, be 
presented to a future meeting. 

Listed in the Committee work programme 

 

205



206


	Agenda
	
	4 MINUTES
	Minutes 22 October 2010

	6 Call-in of Cabinet's decision that Dilwyn Church of England Primary School be discontinued on 31 August 2011
	2 - 2010 CAB 033 KEY DN Dilwyn School 25Nov10
	3 - report to Cabinet 25 Nov 2010
	4 - Appendix to Cabinet 25 Nov report
	5 - 221110 Joint Statement - Final Signed Version
	6 - 12 July 2010 minutes of Cabinet
	7 - Report to 12 July Cabinet 2010
	8 - 12 July Appendix 1
	9 - 12 July Appendix 2
	10 - 12 July Appendix 3
	11 - 12 July Appendix 4

	7 Performance Digest - Quarter 2   2010-1011
	8 Consultation on Priorities for the Children and Young People's Plan 2011-2014
	7a - Children  Young People Plan - Appendix

	9 Ofsted Inspections of Safeguarding and Looked After Children in Herefordshire - June and September 2010: Outcomes and Action Plan
	8a - Ofsted Inspections - Appendix

	10 Attainment and Achievement in the Secondary Phase
	9a - Attainment  Achievement in Secondary Phase - Appendix 1
	9b - Attainment Achievement in Secondary Phase Appendix 2 - Ks4 from Nov 2010 (3)
	9c - Attainment  Achievement in Secondary Phase - Appendix 3

	11 Revenue Budget Monitoring Report 2010/11
	10a - Revenue Budget Monitoring - Appendix A Dec 2010 v1 0
	10b - Revenue Budget Monitoring - Appendix B Dec 2010 v1 0
	10c - Revenue Budget Monitoring - Appendix C Dec 2010 v1 0
	10d - Revenue Budget Monitoring - Appendix D Dec 2010 v1 0

	12 Mobile Working for Social Workers within Safeguarding and Vulnerable Children Service
	13 Committee Work Programme
	12a - to committee 10 Dec 2010
	4 as at 31 Nov to Dec committee


